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INTERNATIONAL FRAMEWORK FOR ASSURANCE ENGAGEMENTS

Introduction

1. This Framework defines and describes the elements and objectives of an
assurance engagement, and identifies engagements to which International
Standards on Auditing (ISAs), International Standards on Review
Engagements (ISREs) and International Standards on Assurance Engagements
(ISAEs) apply. It provides a frame of reference for:

(a) Professional accountants in public practice (“practitioners”) when
performing assurance engagements. Professional accountants in the
public sector refer to the Public Sector Perspective at the end of the
Framework. Professional accountants who are neither in public
practice nor in the public sector are encouraged to consider the
Framework when performing assurance engagements; '

(b) Others involved with assurance engagements, including the intended
users of an assurance report and the responsible party; and

(c) The International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (IAASB)
in its development of ISAs, ISREs and ISAEs.

2. This Framework does not itself establish standards or provide procedural
requirements for the performance of assurance engagements. ISAs, ISREs and
ISAEs contain basic principles, essential procedures and related guidance,
consistent with the concepts in this Framework, for the performance of
assurance engagements. The relationship between the Framework and the
ISAs, ISREs and ISAEs is illustrated in the “Structure of Pronouncements
Issued by the IAASB” section of the Handbook of International Quality
Control, Auditing, Review, Other Assurance, and Related Services
Pronouncements.

3. The following is an overview of this Framework:

. Introduction: This Framework deals with assurance engagements
performed by practitioners. It provides a frame of reference for
practitioners and others involved with assurance engagements, such as
those engaging a practitioner (the “engaging party”).

. Definition and objective of an assurance engagement: This section
defines assurance engagements and identifies the objectives of the two

If a professional accountant not in public practice, for example an internal auditor, applies this
Framework, and (a) this Framework, the ISAs, ISREs or the ISAEs are referred to in the professional
accountant’s report; and (b) the professional accountant or other members of the assurance team and,
when applicable, the professional accountant’s employer, are not independent of the entity in respect of
which the assurance engagement is being performed, the lack of independence and the nature of the
relationship(s) with the entity are prominently disclosed in the professional accountant’s report. Also,
that report does not include the word “independent” in its title, and the purpose and users of the report
are restricted.

FRAMEWORK 2



INTERNATIONAL FRAMEWORK FOR ASSURANCE ENGAGEMENTS

types of assurance engagement a practitioner is permitted to perform.
This Framework calls these two types reasonable assurance
engagements and limited assurance engagements.”

. Scope of the Framework: This section distinguishes assurance
engagements from other engagements, such as consulting engagements.

. Engagement acceptance: This section sets out characteristics that must
be exhibited before a practitioner can accept an assurance engagement.

. Elements of an assurance engagement: This section identifies and
discusses five elements assurance engagements performed by
practitioners exhibit: a three party relationship, a subject matter, criteria,
evidence and an assurance report. It explains important distinctions
between reasonable assurance engagements and limited assurance
engagements (also outlined in the Appendix). This section also
discusses, for example, the significant variation in the subject matters of
assurance engagements, the required characteristics of suitable criteria,
the role of risk and materiality in assurance engagements, and how
conclusions are expressed in each of the two types of assurance
engagement.

. Inappropriate use of the practitioner’s name: This section discusses
implications of a practitioner’s association with a subject matter.

Ethical Principles and Quality Control Standards

4.

In addition to this Framework and ISAs, ISREs and ISAEs, practitioners who
perform assurance engagements are governed by:

(a) The Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants issued by the
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code),
which establishes fundamental ethical principles for professional
accountants; and

(b) International Standards on Quality Control (ISQCs), which establish
standards and provide guidance on a firm’s system of quality control.

Part A of the IESBA Code sets out the fundamental ethical principles that all
professional accountants are required to observe, including:

(a) Integrity;
(b)  Objectivity;

For assurance engagements regarding historical financial information in particular, reasonable assurance
engagements are called audits, and limited assurance engagements are called reviews.

Additional standards and guidance on quality control procedures for specific types of assurance
engagement are set out in ISAs, ISREs and ISAEs.

3 FRAMEWORK
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INTERNATIONAL FRAMEWORK FOR ASSURANCE ENGAGEMENTS

(©) Professional competence and due care;
(d) Confidentiality; and
(e) Professional behavior.

Part B of the IESBA Code, which applies only to professional accountants in
public practice (“practitioners”), includes a conceptual approach to
independence that takes into account, for each assurance engagement, threats
to independence, accepted safeguards and the public interest. It requires firms
and members of assurance teams to identify and evaluate circumstances and
relationships that create threats to independence and to take appropriate action
to eliminate these threats or to reduce them to an acceptable level by the
application of safeguards.

Definition and Objective of an Assurance Engagement

7.

“Assurance engagement” means an engagement in which a practitioner
expresses a conclusion designed to enhance the degree of confidence of the
intended users other than the responsible party about the outcome of the
evaluation or measurement of a subject matter against criteria.

The outcome of the evaluation or measurement of a subject matter is the
information that results from applying the criteria to the subject matter. For
example:

. The recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure represented
in the financial statements (outcome) result from applying a financial
reporting framework for recognition, measurement, presentation and
disclosure, such as International Financial Reporting Standards,
(criteria) to an entity’s financial position, financial performance and
cash flows (subject matter).

. An assertion about the effectiveness of internal control (outcome)
results from applying a framework for evaluating the effectiveness of
internal control, such as COSO? or CoCo,’ (criteria) to internal control,
a process (subject matter).

In the remainder of this Framework, the term “subject matter information” will
be used to mean the outcome of the evaluation or measurement of a subject
matter. It is the subject matter information about which the practitioner gathers
sufficient appropriate evidence to provide a reasonable basis for expressing a
conclusion in an assurance report.

“Internal Control — Integrated Framework,” The Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission.

“Guidance on Assessing Control — The CoCo Principles,” Criteria of Control Board, The Canadian
Institute of Chartered Accountants.

FRAMEWORK 4
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Subject matter information can fail to be properly expressed in the context of
the subject matter and the criteria, and can therefore be misstated, potentially
to a material extent. This occurs when the subject matter information does not
properly reflect the application of the criteria to the subject matter, for
example, when an entity’s financial statements do not give a true and fair view
of (or present fairly, in all material respects) its financial position, financial
performance and cash flows in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards, or when an entity’s assertion that its internal control is
effective is not fairly stated, in all material respects, based on COSO or CoCo.

In some assurance engagements, the evaluation or measurement of the subject
matter is performed by the responsible party, and the subject matter
information is in the form of an assertion by the responsible party that is made
available to the intended users. These engagements are called “assertion-based
engagements.” In other assurance engagements, the practitioner either directly
performs the evaluation or measurement of the subject matter, or obtains a
representation from the responsible party that has performed the evaluation or
measurement that is not available to the intended users. The subject matter
information is provided to the intended users in the assurance report. These
engagements are called “direct reporting engagements.”

Under this Framework, there are two types of assurance engagement a
practitioner is permitted to perform: a reasonable assurance engagement and a
limited assurance engagement. The objective of a reasonable assurance
engagement is a reduction in assurance engagement risk to an acceptably low
level in the circumstances of the engagement® as the basis for a positive form
of expression of the practitioner’s conclusion. The objective of a limited
assurance engagement is a reduction in assurance engagement risk to a level
that is acceptable in the circumstances of the engagement, but where that risk
is greater than for a reasonable assurance engagement, as the basis for a
negative form of expression of the practitioner’s conclusion.

Scope of the Framework

12.

Not all engagements performed by practitioners are assurance engagements.
Other frequently performed engagements that do not meet the above definition
(and therefore are not covered by this Framework) include:

. Engagements covered by International Standards for Related Services,
such as agreed-upon procedures engagements and compilations of
financial or other information.

Engagement circumstances include the terms of the engagement, including whether it is a reasonable
assurance engagement or a limited assurance engagement, the characteristics of the subject matter, the
criteria to be used, the needs of the intended users, relevant characteristics of the responsible party and
its environment, and other matters, for example events, transactions, conditions and practices, that may
have a significant effect on the engagement.

5 FRAMEWORK
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. The preparation of tax returns where no conclusion conveying
assurance is expressed.

. Consulting (or advisory) engagements,’ such as management and tax
consulting.

An assurance engagement may be part of a larger engagement, for example,
when a business acquisition consulting engagement includes a requirement to
convey assurance regarding historical or prospective financial information. In
such circumstances, this Framework is relevant only to the assurance portion
of the engagement.

The following engagements, which may meet the definition in paragraph 7,
need not be performed in accordance with this Framework:

(a) Engagements to testify in legal proceedings regarding accounting,
auditing, taxation or other matters; and

(b) Engagements that include professional opinions, views or wording from
which a user may derive some assurance, if all of the following apply:

(1)  Those opinions, views or wording are merely incidental to the
overall engagement;

(i)  Any written report issued is expressly restricted for use by only
the intended users specified in the report;

(iii))  Under a written understanding with the specified intended users,
the engagement is not intended to be an assurance engagement;
and

(iv) The engagement is not represented as an assurance engagement
in the professional accountant’s report.

Reports on Non-Assurance Engagements

15.

A practitioner reporting on an engagement that is not an assurance engagement
within the scope of this Framework, clearly distinguishes that report from an
assurance report. So as not to confuse users, a report that is not an assurance
report avoids, for example:

Consulting engagements employ a professional accountant’s technical skills, education, observations,
experiences, and knowledge of the consulting process. The consulting process is an analytical process
that typically involves some combination of activities relating to: objective-setting, fact-finding,
definition of problems or opportunities, evaluation of alternatives, development of recommendations
including actions, communication of results, and sometimes implementation and follow-up. Reports (if
issued) are generally written in a narrative (or “long form”) style. Generally the work performed is only
for the use and benefit of the client. The nature and scope of work is determined by agreement between
the professional accountant and the client. Any service that meets the definition of an assurance
engagement is not a consulting engagement but an assurance engagement.

FRAMEWORK 6
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Implying compliance with this Framework, ISAs, ISREs or ISAEs.

Inappropriately using the words “assurance,

99 <

audit” or “review.”

Including a statement that could reasonably be mistaken for a
conclusion designed to enhance the degree of confidence of intended
users about the outcome of the evaluation or measurement of a subject
matter against criteria.

The practitioner and the responsible party may agree to apply the principles of
this Framework to an engagement when there are no intended users other than
the responsible party but where all other requirements of the ISAs, ISREs or
ISAEs are met. In such cases, the practitioner’s report includes a statement
restricting the use of the report to the responsible party.

Engagement Acceptance

17.

18.

A practitioner accepts an assurance engagement only where the practitioner’s
preliminary knowledge of the engagement circumstances indicates that:

(a)

(b)

Relevant ethical requirements, such as independence and professional
competence will be satisfied; and

The engagement exhibits all of the following characteristics:

(@)
(i)

(iii)

(iv)

™)

The subject matter is appropriate;

The criteria to be used are suitable and are available to the
intended users;

The practitioner has access to sufficient appropriate evidence to
support the practitioner’s conclusion;

The practitioner’s conclusion, in the form appropriate to either a
reasonable assurance engagement or a limited assurance
engagement, is to be contained in a written report; and

The practitioner is satisfied that there is a rational purpose for
the engagement. If there is a significant limitation on the scope
of the practitioner’s work (see paragraph 55), it may be unlikely
that the engagement has a rational purpose. Also, a practitioner
may believe the engaging party intends to associate the
practitioner’s name with the subject matter in an inappropriate
manner (see paragraph 61).

Specific ISAs, ISREs or ISAEs may include additional requirements that need
to be satisfied prior to accepting an engagement.

When a potential engagement cannot be accepted as an assurance engagement
because it does not exhibit all the characteristics in the previous paragraph, the

7 FRAMEWORK
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INTERNATIONAL FRAMEWORK FOR ASSURANCE ENGAGEMENTS

engaging party may be able to identify a different engagement that will meet
the needs of intended users. For example:

(a) If the original criteria were not suitable, an assurance engagement may
still be performed if:

(i)  The engaging party can identify an aspect of the original subject
matter for which those criteria are suitable, and the practitioner
could perform an assurance engagement with respect to that
aspect as a subject matter in its own right. In such cases, the
assurance report makes it clear that it does not relate to the
original subject matter in its entirety; or

(il))  Alternative criteria suitable for the original subject matter can
be selected or developed.

(b) The engaging party may request an engagement that is not an
assurance engagement, such as a consulting or an agreed-upon
procedures engagement.

19. Having accepted an assurance engagement, a practitioner may not change that

engagement to a non-assurance engagement, or from a reasonable assurance
engagement to a limited assurance engagement without reasonable
justification. A change in circumstances that affects the intended users’
requirements, or a misunderstanding concerning the nature of the engagement,
ordinarily will justify a request for a change in the engagement. If such a
change is made, the practitioner does not disregard evidence that was obtained
prior to the change.

Elements of an Assurance Engagement

20. The following elements of an assurance engagement are discussed in this
section:
(a)  Athree party relationship involving a practitioner, a responsible party,
and intended users;
(b) An appropriate subject matter;
(©) Suitable criteria;
(d) Sufficient appropriate evidence; and
(e) A written assurance report in the form appropriate to a reasonable

assurance engagement or a limited assurance engagement.

Three Party Relationship

21. Assurance engagements involve three separate parties: a practitioner, a
responsible party and intended users.

FRAMEWORK
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The responsible party and the intended users may be from different entities or
the same entity. As an example of the latter case, in a two-tier board structure,
the supervisory board may seek assurance about information provided by the
management board of that entity. The relationship between the responsible
party and the intended users needs to be viewed within the context of a specific
engagement and may differ from more traditionally defined lines of
responsibility. For example, an entity’s senior management (an intended user)
may engage a practitioner to perform an assurance engagement on a particular
aspect of the entity’s activities that is the immediate responsibility of a lower
level of management (the responsible party), but for which senior management
is ultimately responsible.

Practitioner

23.

24.

The term “practitioner” as used in this Framework is broader than the term
“auditor” as used in ISAs and ISREs, which relates only to practitioners
performing audit or review engagements with respect to historical financial
information.

A practitioner may be requested to perform assurance engagements on a wide
range of subject matters. Some subject matters may require specialized skills
and knowledge beyond those ordinarily possessed by an individual
practitioner. As noted in paragraph 17 (a), a practitioner does not accept an
engagement if preliminary knowledge of the engagement circumstances
indicates that ethical requirements regarding professional competence will not
be satisfied. In some cases this requirement can be satisfied by the practitioner
using the work of persons from other professional disciplines, referred to as
experts. In such cases, the practitioner is satisfied that those persons carrying
out the engagement collectively possess the requisite skills and knowledge,
and that the practitioner has an adequate level of involvement in the
engagement and understanding of the work for which any expert is used.

Responsible Party

25.

The responsible party is the person (or persons) who:

(a) In a direct reporting engagement, is responsible for the subject matter;
or

(b) In an assertion-based engagement, is responsible for the subject matter
information (the assertion), and may be responsible for the subject
matter. An example of when the responsible party is responsible for both
the subject matter information and the subject matter, is when an entity
engages a practitioner to perform an assurance engagement regarding a
report it has prepared about its own sustainability practices. An example
of when the responsible party is responsible for the subject matter
information but not the subject matter, is when a government
organization engages a practitioner to perform an assurance engagement

9 FRAMEWORK
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regarding a report about a private company’s sustainability practices that
the organization has prepared and is to distribute to intended users.

The responsible party may or may not be the party who engages the
practitioner (the engaging party).

The responsible party ordinarily provides the practitioner with a written
representation that evaluates or measures the subject matter against the
identified criteria, whether or not it is to be made available as an assertion to
the intended users. In a direct reporting engagement, the practitioner may not
be able to obtain such a representation when the engaging party is different
from the responsible party.

Intended Users

27.

28.

29.

30.

The intended users are the person, persons or class of persons for whom the
practitioner prepares the assurance report. The responsible party can be one of
the intended users, but not the only one.

Whenever practical, the assurance report is addressed to all the intended users,
but in some cases there may be other intended users. The practitioner may not
be able to identify all those who will read the assurance report, particularly
where there is a large number of people who have access to it. In such cases,
particularly where possible readers are likely to have a broad range of interests
in the subject matter, intended users may be limited to major stakeholders with
significant and common interests. Intended users may be identified in different
ways, for example, by agreement between the practitioner and the responsible
party or engaging party, or by law.

Whenever practical, intended users or their representatives are involved with
the practitioner and the responsible party (and the engaging party if different)
in determining the requirements of the engagement. Regardless of the
involvement of others however, and unlike an agreed-upon procedures
engagement (which involves reporting findings based upon the procedures,
rather than a conclusion):

(a) The practitioner is responsible for determining the nature, timing and
extent of procedures; and

(b) The practitioner is required to pursue any matter the practitioner
becomes aware of that leads the practitioner to question whether a
material modification should be made to the subject matter
information.

In some cases, intended users (for example, bankers and regulators) impose a
requirement on, or request the responsible party (or the engaging party if
different) to arrange for, an assurance engagement to be performed for a
specific purpose. When engagements are designed for specified intended users

FRAMEWORK 10
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or a specific purpose, the practitioner considers including a restriction in the
assurance report that limits its use to those users or that purpose.

Subject Matter

31.

32.

33.

The subject matter, and subject matter information, of an assurance
engagement can take many forms, such as:

. Financial performance or conditions (for example, historical or
prospective financial position, financial performance and cash flows)
for which the subject matter information may be the recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure represented in financial
statements.

. Non-financial performance or conditions (for example, performance of
an entity) for which the subject matter information may be key
indicators of efficiency and effectiveness.

. Physical characteristics (for example, capacity of a facility) for which
the subject matter information may be a specifications document.

. Systems and processes (for example, an entity’s internal control or IT
system) for which the subject matter information may be an assertion
about effectiveness.

. Behavior (for example, corporate governance, compliance with
regulation, human resource practices) for which the subject matter
information may be a statement of compliance or a statement of
effectiveness.

Subject matters have different characteristics, including the degree to which
information about them is qualitative versus quantitative, objective versus
subjective, historical versus prospective, and relates to a point in time or covers
a period. Such characteristics affect the:

(a)  Precision with which the subject matter can be evaluated or measured
against criteria; and

(b) The persuasiveness of available evidence.

The assurance report notes characteristics of particular relevance to the
intended users.

An appropriate subject matter is:

(a) Identifiable, and capable of consistent evaluation or measurement
against the identified criteria; and

(b) Such that the information about it can be subjected to procedures for
gathering sufficient appropriate evidence to support a reasonable
assurance or limited assurance conclusion, as appropriate.

11 FRAMEWORK
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35.

36.

INTERNATIONAL FRAMEWORK FOR ASSURANCE ENGAGEMENTS

Criteria are the benchmarks used to evaluate or measure the subject matter
including, where relevant, benchmarks for presentation and disclosure. Criteria
can be formal, for example in the preparation of financial statements, the
criteria may be International Financial Reporting Standards or International
Public Sector Accounting Standards; when reporting on internal control, the
criteria may be an established internal control framework or individual control
objectives specifically designed for the engagement; and when reporting on
compliance, the criteria may be the applicable law, regulation or contract.
Examples of less formal criteria are an internally developed code of conduct or
an agreed level of performance (such as the number of times a particular
committee is expected to meet in a year).

Suitable criteria are required for reasonably consistent evaluation or
measurement of a subject matter within the context of professional judgment.
Without the frame of reference provided by suitable criteria, any conclusion is
open to individual interpretation and misunderstanding. Suitable criteria are
context-sensitive, that is, relevant to the engagement circumstances. Even for
the same subject matter there can be different criteria. For example, one
responsible party might select the number of customer complaints resolved to
the acknowledged satisfaction of the customer for the subject matter of
customer satisfaction; another responsible party might select the number of
repeat purchases in the three months following the initial purchase.

Suitable criteria exhibit the following characteristics:

(a) Relevance: relevant criteria contribute to conclusions that assist
decision-making by the intended users.

(b) Completeness: criteria are sufficiently complete when relevant factors
that could affect the conclusions in the context of the engagement
circumstances are not omitted. Complete criteria include, where
relevant, benchmarks for presentation and disclosure.

() Reliability: reliable criteria allow reasonably consistent evaluation or
measurement of the subject matter including, where relevant,
presentation and disclosure, when used in similar circumstances by
similarly qualified practitioners.

(d) Neutrality: neutral criteria contribute to conclusions that are free from
bias.

(e) Understandability: understandable criteria contribute to conclusions
that are clear, comprehensive, and not subject to significantly different
interpretations.

FRAMEWORK 12
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The evaluation or measurement of a subject matter on the basis of the
practitioner’s own expectations, judgments and individual experience would
not constitute suitable criteria.

The practitioner assesses the suitability of criteria for a particular engagement
by considering whether they reflect the above characteristics. The relative
importance of each characteristic to a particular engagement is a matter of
judgment. Criteria can either be established or specifically developed.
Established criteria are those embodied in laws or regulations, or issued by
authorized or recognized bodies of experts that follow a transparent due
process. Specifically developed criteria are those designed for the purpose of
the engagement. Whether criteria are established or specifically developed
affects the work that the practitioner carries out to assess their suitability for a
particular engagement.

Criteria need to be available to the intended users to allow them to understand
how the subject matter has been evaluated or measured. Criteria are made
available to the intended users in one or more of the following ways:

(a)  Publicly.

(b) Through inclusion in a clear manner in the presentation of the subject
matter information.

(©) Through inclusion in a clear manner in the assurance report.

(d) By general understanding, for example the criterion for measuring time
in hours and minutes.

Criteria may also be available only to specific intended users, for example the
terms of a contract, or criteria issued by an industry association that are
available only to those in the industry. When identified criteria are available
only to specific intended users, or are relevant only to a specific purpose, use
of the assurance report is restricted to those users or for that purpose.®

Evidence

39.

The practitioner plans and performs an assurance engagement with an attitude
of professional skepticism to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence about
whether the subject matter information is free of material misstatement. The
practitioner considers materiality, assurance engagement risk, and the quantity
and quality of available evidence when planning and performing the

While an assurance report may be restricted whenever it is intended only for specified intended users or
for a specific purpose, the absence of a restriction regarding a particular reader or purpose, does not itself
indicate that a legal responsibility is owed by the practitioner in relation to that reader or for that
purpose. Whether a legal responsibility is owed will depend on the circumstances of each case and the
relevant jurisdiction.
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engagement, in particular when determining the nature, timing and extent of
evidence-gathering procedures.

Professional Skepticism

40.

41.

The practitioner plans and performs an assurance engagement with an attitude
of professional skepticism recognizing that circumstances may exist that cause
the subject matter information to be materially misstated. An attitude of
professional skepticism means the practitioner makes a critical assessment,
with a questioning mind, of the validity of evidence obtained and is alert to
evidence that contradicts or brings into question the reliability of documents or
representations by the responsible party. For example, an attitude of
professional skepticism is necessary throughout the engagement process for
the practitioner to reduce the risk of overlooking suspicious circumstances, of
over generalizing when drawing conclusions from observations, and of using
faulty assumptions in determining the nature, timing and extent of evidence
gathering procedures and evaluating the results thereof.

An assurance engagement rarely involves the authentication of documentation,
nor is the practitioner trained as or expected to be an expert in such
authentication. However, the practitioner considers the reliability of the
information to be used as evidence, for example photocopies, facsimiles,
filmed, digitized or other electronic documents, including consideration of
controls over their preparation and maintenance where relevant.

Sufficiency and Appropriateness of Evidence

42.

43.

Sufficiency is the measure of the quantity of evidence. Appropriateness is the
measure of the quality of evidence; that is, its relevance and its reliability. The
quantity of evidence needed is affected by the risk of the subject matter
information being materially misstated (the greater the risk, the more evidence
is likely to be required) and also by the quality of such evidence (the higher the
quality, the less may be required). Accordingly, the sufficiency and
appropriateness of evidence are interrelated. However, merely obtaining more
evidence may not compensate for its poor quality.

The reliability of evidence is influenced by its source and by its nature, and is
dependent on the individual circumstances under which it is obtained.
Generalizations about the reliability of various kinds of evidence can be made;
however, such generalizations are subject to important exceptions. Even when
evidence is obtained from sources external to the entity, circumstances may
exist that could affect the reliability of the information obtained. For example,
evidence obtained from an independent external source may not be reliable if
the source is not knowledgeable. While recognizing that exceptions may exist,
the following generalizations about the reliability of evidence may be useful:

. Evidence is more reliable when it is obtained from independent sources
outside the entity.

FRAMEWORK 14
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. Evidence that is generated internally is more reliable when the related
controls are effective.

. Evidence obtained directly by the practitioner (for example, observation
of the application of a control) is more reliable than evidence obtained
indirectly or by inference (for example, inquiry about the application of
a control).

. Evidence is more reliable when it exists in documentary form, whether
paper, electronic, or other media (for example, a contemporaneously
written record of a meeting is more reliable than a subsequent oral
representation of what was discussed).

. Evidence provided by original documents is more reliable than
evidence provided by photocopies or facsimiles.

The practitioner ordinarily obtains more assurance from consistent evidence
obtained from different sources or of a different nature than from items of
evidence considered individually. In addition, obtaining evidence from
different sources or of a different nature may indicate that an individual item of
evidence is not reliable. For example, corroborating information obtained from
a source independent of the entity may increase the assurance the practitioner
obtains from a representation from the responsible party. Conversely, when
evidence obtained from one source is inconsistent with that obtained from
another, the practitioner determines what additional evidence-gathering
procedures are necessary to resolve the inconsistency.

In terms of obtaining sufficient appropriate evidence, it is generally more
difficult to obtain assurance about subject matter information covering a period
than about subject matter information at a point in time. In addition,
conclusions provided on processes ordinarily are limited to the period covered
by the engagement; the practitioner provides no conclusion about whether the
process will continue to function in the specified manner in the future.

The practitioner considers the relationship between the cost of obtaining
evidence and the usefulness of the information obtained. However, the matter
of difficulty or expense involved is not in itself a valid basis for omitting an
evidence-gathering procedure for which there is no alternative. The
practitioner uses professional judgment and exercises professional skepticism
in evaluating the quantity and quality of evidence, and thus its sufficiency and
appropriateness, to support the assurance report.

Materiality

47.

Materiality is relevant when the practitioner determines the nature, timing and
extent of evidence-gathering procedures, and when assessing whether the subject
matter information is free of misstatement. When considering materiality, the
practitioner understands and assesses what factors might influence the decisions of
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the intended users. For example, when the identified criteria allow for variations in
the presentation of the subject matter information, the practitioner considers how
the adopted presentation might influence the decisions of the intended users.
Materiality is considered in the context of quantitative and qualitative factors, such
as relative magnitude, the nature and extent of the effect of these factors on the
evaluation or measurement of the subject matter, and the interests of the intended
users. The assessment of materiality and the relative importance of quantitative and
qualitative factors in a particular engagement are matters for the practitioner’s
judgment.

Assurance Engagement Risk

48.

49.

Assurance engagement risk is the risk that the practitioner expresses an
inappropriate conclusion when the subject matter information is materially
misstated.” In a reasonable assurance engagement, the practitioner reduces
assurance engagement risk to an acceptably low level in the circumstances of
the engagement to obtain reasonable assurance as the basis for a positive form
of expression of the practitioner’s conclusion. The level of assurance
engagement risk is higher in a limited assurance engagement than in a
reasonable assurance engagement because of the different nature, timing or
extent of evidence-gathering procedures. However in a limited assurance
engagement, the combination of the nature, timing and extent of evidence-
gathering procedures is at least sufficient for the practitioner to obtain a
meaningful level of assurance as the basis for a negative form of expression.
To be meaningful, the level of assurance obtained by the practitioner is likely
to enhance the intended users’ confidence about the subject matter information
to a degree that is clearly more than inconsequential.

In general, assurance engagement risk can be represented by the following
components, although not all of these components will necessarily be present
or significant for all assurance engagements:

(a) The risk that the subject matter information is materially misstated,
which in turn consists of:

(i)  Inherent risk: the susceptibility of the subject matter
information to a material misstatement, assuming that there are
no related controls; and

(2)

(b)

This includes the risk, in those direct reporting engagements where the subject matter information
is presented only in the practitioner’s conclusion, that the practitioner inappropriately concludes
that the subject matter does, in all material respects, conform with the criteria, for example: “In our
opinion, internal control is effective, in all material respects, based on XYZ criteria.”

In addition to assurance engagement risk, the practitioner is exposed to the risk of expressing an
inappropriate conclusion when the subject matter information is not materially misstated, and risks
through loss from litigation, adverse publicity, or other events arising in connection with a subject
matter reported on. These risks are not part of assurance engagement risk.
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(ii))  Control risk: the risk that a material misstatement that could
occur will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a
timely basis by related internal controls. When control risk is
relevant to the subject matter, some control risk will always
exist because of the inherent limitations of the design and
operation of internal control; and

(b) Detection risk: the risk that the practitioner will not detect a material
misstatement that exists.

The degree to which the practitioner considers each of these components is
affected by the engagement circumstances, in particular by the nature of the
subject matter and whether a reasonable assurance or a limited assurance
engagement is being performed.

Nature, Timing and Extent of Evidence-gathering Procedures

50.

51.

The exact nature, timing and extent of evidence-gathering procedures will vary
from one engagement to the next. In theory, infinite variations in evidence-
gathering procedures are possible. In practice, however, these are difficult to
communicate clearly and unambiguously. The practitioner attempts to
communicate them clearly and unambiguously and uses the form appropriate
to a reasonable assurance engagement or a limited assurance engagement. '’

“Reasonable assurance” is a concept relating to accumulating evidence
necessary for the practitioner to conclude in relation to the subject matter
information taken as a whole. To be in a position to express a conclusion in the
positive form required in a reasonable assurance engagement, it is necessary
for the practitioner to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence as part of an
iterative, systematic engagement process involving:

(a) Obtaining an understanding of the subject matter and other engagement
circumstances which, depending on the subject matter, includes
obtaining an understanding of internal control;

(b Based on that understanding, assessing the risks that the subject matter
information may be materially misstated;

(c) Responding to assessed risks, including developing overall responses,
and determining the nature, timing and extent of further procedures;

(d) Performing further procedures clearly linked to the identified risks,
using a combination of inspection, observation, confirmation, re-
calculation, re-performance, analytical procedures and inquiry. Such

Where the subject matter information is made up of a number of aspects, separate conclusions may be
provided on each aspect. While not all such conclusions need to relate to the same level of evidence-
gathering procedures, each conclusion is expressed in the form that is appropriate to either a reasonable
assurance or a limited assurance engagement.
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further procedures involve substantive procedures including, where
applicable, obtaining corroborating information from sources
independent of the responsible party, and depending on the nature of
the subject matter, tests of the operating effectiveness of controls; and

(e)  Evaluating the sufficiency and appropriateness of evidence.

52. “Reasonable assurance” is less than absolute assurance. Reducing assurance
engagement risk to zero is very rarely attainable or cost beneficial as a result of
factors such as the following:

. The use of selective testing.
. The inherent limitations of internal control.
. The fact that much of the evidence available to the practitioner is

persuasive rather than conclusive.

. The use of judgment in gathering and evaluating evidence and forming
conclusions based on that evidence.

. In some cases, the characteristics of the subject matter when evaluated
or measured against the identified criteria.

53. Both reasonable assurance and limited assurance engagements require the
application of assurance skills and techniques and the gathering of sufficient
appropriate evidence as part of an iterative, systematic engagement process
that includes obtaining an understanding of the subject matter and other
engagement circumstances. The nature, timing and extent of procedures for
gathering sufficient appropriate evidence in a limited assurance engagement
are, however, deliberately limited relative to a reasonable assurance
engagement. For some subject matters, there may be specific pronouncements
to provide guidance on procedures for gathering sufficient appropriate
evidence for a limited assurance engagement. For example, ISRE 2400,
“Engagements to Review Financial Statements” establishes that sufficient
appropriate evidence for reviews of financial statements is obtained primarily
through analytical procedures and inquiries. In the absence of a relevant
pronouncement, the procedures for gathering sufficient appropriate evidence
will vary with the circumstances of the engagement, in particular, the subject
matter, and the needs of the intended users and the engaging party, including
relevant time and cost constraints. For both reasonable assurance and limited
assurance engagements, if the practitioner becomes aware of a matter that
leads the practitioner to question whether a material modification should be
made to the subject matter information, the practitioner pursues the matter by
performing other procedures sufficient to enable the practitioner to report.
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Quantity and Quality of Available Evidence

54.

55.

The quantity or quality of available evidence is affected by:

(a) The characteristics of the subject matter and subject matter
information. For example, less objective evidence might be expected
when information about the subject matter is future oriented rather than
historical (see paragraph 32); and

(b) Circumstances of the engagement other than the characteristics of the
subject matter, when evidence that could reasonably be expected to
exist is not available because of, for example, the timing of the
practitioner’s appointment, an entity’s document retention policy, or a
restriction imposed by the responsible party.

Ordinarily, available evidence will be persuasive rather than conclusive.

An unqualified conclusion is not appropriate for either type of assurance
engagement in the case of a material limitation on the scope of the
practitioner’s work, that is, when:

(a) Circumstances prevent the practitioner from obtaining evidence
required to reduce assurance engagement risk to the appropriate level;
or

(b) The responsible party or the engaging party imposes a restriction that
prevents the practitioner from obtaining evidence required to reduce
assurance engagement risk to the appropriate level.

Assurance Report

56.

57.

The practitioner provides a written report containing a conclusion that conveys
the assurance obtained about the subject matter information. ISAs, ISREs and
ISAEs establish basic elements for assurance reports. In addition, the practitioner
considers other reporting responsibilities, including communicating with those
charged with governance when it is appropriate to do so.

In an assertion-based engagement, the practitioner’s conclusion can be worded
either:

(a) In terms of the responsible party’s assertion (for example: “In our
opinion the responsible party’s assertion that internal control is
effective, in all material respects, based on XYZ criteria, is fairly
stated”); or

(b) Directly in terms of the subject matter and the criteria (for example:
“In our opinion internal control is effective, in all material respects,
based on XYZ criteria’).

In a direct reporting engagement, the practitioner’s conclusion is worded
directly in terms of the subject matter and the criteria.
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58. In a reasonable assurance engagement, the practitioner expresses the
conclusion in the positive form, for example: “In our opinion internal control is
effective, in all material respects, based on XYZ criteria.” This form of
expression conveys “reasonable assurance.” Having performed evidence-
gathering procedures of a nature, timing and extent that were reasonable given
the characteristics of the subject matter and other relevant engagement
circumstances described in the assurance report, the practitioner has obtained
sufficient appropriate evidence to reduce assurance engagement risk to an
acceptably low level.

59. In a limited assurance engagement, the practitioner expresses the conclusion in
the negative form, for example, “Based on our work described in this report,
nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that internal control
is not effective, in all material respects, based on XYZ criteria.” This form of
expression conveys a level of “limited assurance” that is proportional to the
level of the practitioner’s evidence-gathering procedures given the
characteristics of the subject matter and other engagement circumstances
described in the assurance report.

60. A practitioner does not express an unqualified conclusion for either type of
assurance engagement when the following circumstances exist and, in the
practitioner’s judgment, the effect of the matter is or may be material:

(a)  There is a limitation on the scope of the practitioner’s work (see
paragraph 55). The practitioner expresses a qualified conclusion or a
disclaimer of conclusion depending on how material or pervasive the
limitation is. In some cases the practitioner considers withdrawing
from the engagement.

(b) In those cases where:

(i)  The practitioner’s conclusion is worded in terms of the
responsible party’s assertion, and that assertion is not fairly
stated, in all material respects; or

(i)  The practitioner’s conclusion is worded directly in terms of the
subject matter and the criteria, and the subject matter
information is materially misstated,''

the practitioner expresses a qualified or adverse conclusion depending
on how material or pervasive the matter is.

In those direct reporting engagements where the subject matter information is presented only in the
practitioner’s conclusion, and the practitioner concludes that the subject matter does not, in all material
respects, conform with the criteria, for example: “In our opinion, except for /...J, internal control is
effective, in all material respects, based on XYZ criteria,” such a conclusion would also be considered to
be qualified (or adverse as appropriate).
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(c)  Whenitis discovered after the engagement has been accepted, that the
criteria are unsuitable or the subject matter is not appropriate for an
assurance engagement. The practitioner expresses:

(i) A qualified conclusion or adverse conclusion depending on how
material or pervasive the matter is, when the unsuitable criteria
or inappropriate subject matter is likely to mislead the intended
users; or

(i) A qualified conclusion or a disclaimer of conclusion depending
on how material or pervasive the matter is, in other cases.

In some cases the practitioner considers withdrawing from the
engagement.

Inappropriate Use of the Practitioner’s Name

61.

A practitioner is associated with a subject matter when the practitioner reports
on information about that subject matter or consents to the use of the
practitioner’s name in a professional connection with that subject matter. If the
practitioner is not associated in this manner, third parties can assume no
responsibility of the practitioner. If the practitioner learns that a party is
inappropriately using the practitioner’s name in association with a subject
matter, the practitioner requires the party to cease doing so. The practitioner
also considers what other steps may be needed, such as informing any known
third party users of the inappropriate use of the practitioner’s name or seeking
legal advice.
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Public Sector Perspective

1. This Framework is relevant to all professional accountants in the public sector
who are independent of the entity for which they perform assurance engagements.
Where professional accountants in the public sector are not independent of the
entity for which they perform an assurance engagement, the guidance in footnote
1 should be adopted.
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Appendix

Differences Between Reasonable Assurance Engagements and
Limited Assurance Engagements

This Appendix outlines the differences between a reasonable assurance engagement and
a limited assurance engagement discussed in the Framework (see in particular the
referenced paragraphs).

Type of Objective Evidence-gathelging The assurance
engagement procedures report
Reasonable A reduction in Sufficient appropriate Description of
assurance assurance evidence is obtained as | the engagement
engagement engagement risk part of a systematic circumstances,
to an acceptably engagement process and a positive
low level in the that includes: form of

circumstances of
the engagement,
as the basis for a
positive form of
expression of the
practitioner’s
conclusion
(Paragraph 11)

*  Obtaining an
understanding of
the engagement
circumstances;

*  Assessing risks;

*  Responding to
assessed risks;

e Performing further
procedures using a
combination of
inspection,
observation,
confirmation, re-
calculation, re-
performance,
analytical
procedures and
inquiry. Such
further procedures
involve
substantive

expression of
the conclusion
(Paragraph 58)

12

subject matters.

A detailed discussion of evidence-gathering requirements is only possible within ISAEs for specific
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Type of
engagement

Objective

Evidence-gathering
procedures 12

The assurance
report

procedures,
including , where
applicable,
obtaining
corroborating
information, and
depending on the
nature of the
subject matter,
tests of the
operating
effectiveness of
controls; and

*  Evaluating the
evidence obtained
(Paragraphs 51
and 52)

Limited
assurance
engagement

A reduction in
assurance
engagement risk
to a level that is
acceptable in the
circumstances of
the engagement
but where that risk
is greater than for
a reasonable
assurance
engagement, as
the basis for a
negative form of
expression of the
practitioner’s
conclusion
(Paragraph 11)

Sufficient appropriate
evidence is obtained as
part of a systematic
engagement process
that includes obtaining
an understanding of the
subject matter and
other engagement
circumstances, but in
which procedures are
deliberately limited
relative to a reasonable
assurance engagement
(Paragraph 53)

Description of
the engagement
circumstances,
and a negative
form of
expression of
the conclusion
(Paragraph 59)
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(Previously ISA 910)
ENGAGEMENTS TO REVIEW FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Effective for reviews of financial statements for periods
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International Standard on Review Engagements (ISRE) 2400, Engagements to
Review Financial Statements, should be read in the context of the Preface to the
International Standards on Quality Control, Auditing, Review, Other Assurance and
Related Services, which sets out the application and authority of ISREs.
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Introduction

1.

The purpose of this International Standard on Review Engagements (ISRE) is
to establish standards and provide guidance on the practitioner’s professional
responsibilities when a practitioner, who is not the auditor of an entity,
undertakes an engagement to review financial statements and on the form and
content of the report that the practitioner issues in connection with such a
review. A practitioner, who is the auditor of the entity, engaged to perform a
review of interim financial information performs such a review in accordance
with ISRE 2410, Review of Interim Financial Information Performed by the
Independent Auditor of the Entity.

This ISRE is directed towards the review of financial statements. However, it is
to be applied, adapted as necessary in the circumstances, to engagements to
review other historical financial information. Guidance in the International
Standard on Auditing (ISAs) may be useful to the practitioner in applying this
ISRE.”

Objective of a Review Engagement

3.

The objective of a review of financial statements is to enable a practitioner
to state whether, on the basis of procedures which do not provide all the
evidence that would be required in an audit, anything has come to the
practitioner’s attention that causes the practitioner to believe that the
financial statements are not prepared, in all material respects, in
accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework (negative
assurance).

General Principles of a Review Engagement

4.

The practitioner should comply with the Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants issued by the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants IESBA Code). Ethical principles governing the practitioner’s
professional responsibilities are:

(a) Independence;

(b) Integrity;

(©) Objectivity;

(d) Professional competence and due care;
(e) Confidentiality;

® Professional behavior; and

(2) Technical standards.

Paragraph 2 of this ISRE was amended in December 2007 to clarify the application of the ISRE.
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The practitioner should conduct a review in accordance with this ISRE.

The practitioner should plan and perform the review with an attitude of
professional skepticism recognizing that circumstances may exist which
cause the financial statements to be materially misstated.

For the purpose of expressing negative assurance in the review report, the
practitioner should obtain sufficient appropriate evidence primarily
through inquiry and analytical procedures to be able to draw conclusions.

Scope of a Review

8.

The term “scope of a review” refers to the review procedures deemed necessary in
the circumstances to achieve the objective of the review. The procedures required
to conduct a review of financial statements should be determined by the
practitioner having regard to the requirements of this ISRE, relevant
professional bodies, legislation, regulation and, where appropriate, the terms
of the review engagement and reporting requirements.

Moderate Assurance

9.

A review engagement provides a moderate level of assurance that the
information subject to review is free of material misstatement, this is expressed
in the form of negative assurance.

Terms of Engagement

10.

11.

12.

The practitioner and the client should agree on the terms of the
engagement. The agreed terms would be recorded in an engagement letter or
other suitable form such as a contract.

An engagement letter will be of assistance in planning the review work. It is in
the interests of both the practitioner and the client that the practitioner sends an
engagement letter documenting the key terms of the appointment. An
engagement letter confirms the practitioner’s acceptance of the appointment
and helps avoid misunderstanding regarding such matters as the objectives and
scope of the engagement, the extent of the practitioner’s responsibilities and the
form of reports to be issued.

Matters that would be included in the engagement letter include the following:

. The objective of the service being performed.
. Management’s responsibility for the financial statements.
. The scope of the review, including reference to this ISRE (or relevant

national standards or practices).

. Unrestricted access to whatever records, documentation and other
information requested in connection with the review.
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. A sample of the report expected to be rendered.

. The fact that the engagement cannot be relied upon to disclose errors,
illegal acts or other irregularities, for example, fraud or defalcations that
may exist.

. A statement that an audit is not being performed and that an audit opinion

will not be expressed. To emphasize this point and to avoid confusion, the
practitioner may also consider pointing out that a review engagement will
not satisfy any statutory or third party requirements for an audit.

An example of an engagement letter for a review of financial statements
appears in Appendix 1 to this ISRE.

Planning

13.  The practitioner should plan the work so that an effective engagement will
be performed.

14.  Inplanning a review of financial statements, the practitioner should obtain
or update the knowledge of the business including consideration of the
entity’s organization, accounting systems, operating characteristics and
the nature of its assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.

15.  The practitioner needs to possess an understanding of such matters and other
matters relevant to the financial statements, for example, a knowledge of the
entity’s production and distribution methods, product lines, operating locations
and related parties. The practitioner requires this understanding to be able to
make relevant inquiries and to design appropriate procedures, as well as to
assess the responses and other information obtained.

Work Performed by Others

16. When using work performed by another practitioner or an expert, the
practitioner should be satisfied that such work is adequate for the
purposes of the review.

Documentation

17. The practitioner should document matters which are important in
providing evidence to support the review report, and evidence that the
review was carried out in accordance with this ISRE.

Procedures and Evidence

18.  The practitioner should apply judgment in determining the specific
nature, timing and extent of review procedures. The practitioner will be
guided by such matters as the following:
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Any knowledge acquired by carrying out audits or reviews of the
financial statements for prior periods.

The practitioner’s knowledge of the business including knowledge of the
accounting principles and practices of the industry in which the entity
operates.

The entity’s accounting systems.
The extent to which a particular item is affected by management judgment.

The materiality of transactions and account balances.

The practitioner should apply the same materiality considerations as would be
applied if an audit opinion on the financial statements were being given.
Although there is a greater risk that misstatements will not be detected in a review
than in an audit, the judgment as to what is material is made by reference to the
information on which the practitioner is reporting and the needs of those relying on
that information, not to the level of assurance provided.

Procedures for the review of financial statements will ordinarily include the
following:

Obtaining an understanding of the entity’s business and the industry in
which it operates.

Inquiries concerning the entity’s accounting principles and practices.

Inquiries concerning the entity’s procedures for recording, classifying
and summarizing transactions, accumulating information for disclosure
in the financial statements and preparing financial statements.

Inquiries concerning all material assertions in the financial statements.

Analytical procedures designed to identify relationships and individual
items that appear unusual. Such procedures would include:

o Comparison of the financial statements with statements for prior
periods.
o Comparison of the financial statements with anticipated results

and financial position.

o Study of the relationships of the elements of the financial
statements that would be expected to conform to a predictable
pattern based on the entity’s experience or industry norm.

In applying these procedures, the practitioner would consider the types
of matters that required accounting adjustments in prior periods.

Inquiries concerning actions taken at meetings of shareholders, the
board of directors, committees of the board of directors and other
meetings that may affect the financial statements.
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. Reading the financial statements to consider, on the basis of
information coming to the practitioner’s attention, whether the financial
statements appear to conform with the basis of accounting indicated.

. Obtaining reports from other practitioners, if any and if considered
necessary, who have been engaged to audit or review the financial
statements of components of the entity.

. Inquiries of persons having responsibility for financial and accounting
matters concerning, for example:

o Whether all transactions have been recorded.

o Whether the financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with the basis of accounting indicated.

o Changes in the entity’s business activities and accounting principles
and practices.
o Matters as to which questions have arisen in the course of applying

the foregoing procedures.

o Obtaining written representations from management when
considered appropriate.

Appendix 2 to this ISRE provides an illustrative list of procedures which are
often used. The list is not exhaustive, nor is it intended that all the procedures
suggested apply to every review engagement.

The practitioner should inquire about events subsequent to the date of the
financial statements that may require adjustment of or disclosure in the
financial statements. The practitioner does not have any responsibility to
perform procedures to identify events occurring after the date of the review
report.

If the practitioner has reason to believe that the information subject to
review may be materially misstated, the practitioner should carry out
additional or more extensive procedures as are necessary to be able to
express negative assurance or to confirm that a modified report is
required.

Conclusions and Reporting

23.

24.

The review report should contain a clear written expression of negative
assurance. The practitioner should review and assess the conclusions
drawn from the evidence obtained as the basis for the expression of
negative assurance.

Based on the work performed, the practitioner should assess whether any
information obtained during the review indicates that the financial
statements do not give a true and fair view (or are not presented fairly, in
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all material respects) in accordance with the applicable financial reporting
framework.

The report on a review of financial statements describes the scope of the

engagement to enable the reader to understand the nature of the work
performed and make it clear that an audit was not performed and, therefore,
that an audit opinion is not expressed.

The report on a review of financial statements should contain the following

basic elements, ordinarily in the following layout:

(a)
(b)
(©

(d)

(e)
®
(2
(h)

Title; 2
Addressee;
Opening or introductory paragraph including:

(i)  Identification of the financial statements on which the
review has been performed; and

(ii)) A statement of the responsibility of the entity’s management
and the responsibility of the practitioner;

Scope paragraph, describing the nature of a review, including:

(i)  Areference to this ISRE applicable to review engagements,
or to relevant national standards or practices;

(ii)) A statement that a review is limited primarily to inquiries
and analytical procedures; and

(iii) A statement that an audit has not been performed, that the
procedures undertaken provide less assurance than an audit
and that an audit opinion is not expressed;

Statement of negative assurance;
Date of the report;
Practitioner’s address; and

Practitioner’s signature.

Appendices 3 and 4 to this ISRE contain illustrations of review reports.

The review report should:

(a)

State that nothing has come to the practitioner’s attention based
on the review that causes the practitioner to believe the financial
statements do not give a true and fair view (or are not presented

It may be appropriate to use the term “independent” in the title to distinguish the practitioner’s report
from reports that might be issued by others, such as officers of the entity, or from the reports of other
practitioners who may not have to abide by the same ethical requirements as an independent practitioner.
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fairly, in all material respects) in accordance with the applicable
financial reporting framework (negative assurance); or

If matters have come to the practitioner’s attention, describe those
matters that impair a true and fair view (or a fair presentation, in all
material respects) in accordance with the applicable financial
reporting framework, including, wunless impracticable, a
quantification of the possible effect(s) on the financial statements, and
either:

(1) Express a qualification of the negative assurance provided; or

(i)  When the effect of the matter is so material and pervasive to
the financial statements that the practitioner concludes that a
qualification is not adequate to disclose the misleading or
incomplete nature of the financial statements, give an adverse
statement that the financial statements do not give a true and
fair view (or are not presented fairly, in all material respects)
in accordance with the applicable financial reporting
framework; or

If there has been a material scope limitation, describe the limitation
and either:

(i) Express a qualification of the negative assurance provided
regarding the possible adjustments to the financial statements
that might have been determined to be necessary had the
limitation not existed; or

(iv)  When the possible effect of the limitation is so significant and
pervasive that the practitioner concludes that no level of
assurance can be provided, not provide any assurance.

28.  The practitioner should date the review report as of the date the review is
completed, which includes performing procedures relating to events
occurring up to the date of the report. However, since the practitioner’s
responsibility is to report on the financial statements as prepared and
presented by management, the practitioner should not date the review
report earlier than the date on which the financial statements were
approved by management.
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Appendix 1

Example of an Engagement Letter for a Review of Financial
Statements

The following letter is for use as a guide in conjunction with the consideration outlined
in paragraph 10 of this ISRE and will need to be varied according to individual
requirements and circumstances.

To the Board of Directors (or the appropriate representative of senior management):

This letter is to confirm our understanding of the terms and objectives of our
engagement and the nature and limitations of the services we will provide.

We will perform the following services:

We will review the balance sheet of ABC Company as of December 31, 19XX, and the
related statements of income and cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance with
the International Standard on Review Engagements (ISRE) 2400 (or refer to relevant
national standards or practices applicable to reviews). We will not perform an audit of
such financial statements and, accordingly, we will not express an audit opinion on
them. Accordingly, we expect to report on the financial statements as follows:

(see Appendix 3 to this ISRE)

Responsibility for the financial statements, including adequate disclosure, is that of the
management of the company. This includes the maintenance of adequate accounting
records and internal controls and the selection and application of accounting policies.
(As part of our review process, we will request written representations from
management concerning assertions made in connection with the review.!)

This letter will be effective for future years unless it is terminated, amended or
superseded (if applicable).

Our engagement cannot be relied upon to disclose whether fraud or errors, or illegal acts
exist. However, we will inform you of any material matters that come to our attention.

Please sign and return the attached copy of this letter to indicate that it is in accordance
with your understanding of the arrangements for our review of the financial statements.

XYZ & Co

Acknowledged on behalf of ABC Company by
(‘'signed )

Name and Title
Date

This sentence should be used at the discretion of the practitioner.
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Appendix 2

Ilustrative Detailed Procedures that may be Performed in an
Engagement to Review Financial Statements

1.

The inquiry and analytical review procedures carried out in a review of
financial statements are determined by the practitioner’s judgment. The
procedures listed below are for illustrative purposes only. It is not intended that
all the procedures suggested apply to every review engagement. This Appendix
is not intended to serve as a program or checklist in the conduct of a review.

General

2.

10.

Discuss terms and scope of the engagement with the client and the engagement
team.

Prepare an engagement letter setting forth the terms and scope of the
engagement.

Obtain an understanding of the entity’s business activities and the system for
recording financial information and preparing financial statements.

Inquire whether all financial information is recorded:
(a)  Completely;

(b)  Promptly; and

(c)  After the necessary authorization.

Obtain the trial balance and determine whether it agrees with the general ledger
and the financial statements.

Consider the results of previous audits and review engagements, including
accounting adjustments required.

Inquire whether there have been any significant changes in the entity from the
previous year (e.g., changes in ownership or changes in capital structure).

Inquire about the accounting policies and consider whether:
(a) They comply with local or international standards;
(b) They have been applied appropriately; and

(c) They have been applied consistently and, if not, consider whether
disclosure has been made of any changes in the accounting policies.

Read the minutes of meetings of shareholders, the board of directors and other
appropriate committees in order to identify matters that could be important to
the review.
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11.  Inquire if actions taken at shareholder, board of directors or comparable
meetings that affect the financial statements have been appropriately reflected
therein.

12.  Inquire about the existence of transactions with related parties, how such
transactions have been accounted for and whether related parties have been
properly disclosed.

13.  Inquire about contingencies and commitments.

14.  Inquire about plans to dispose of major assets or business segments.

15.  Obtain the financial statements and discuss them with management.

16.  Consider the adequacy of disclosure in the financial statements and their
suitability as to classification and presentation.

17.  Compare the results shown in the current period financial statements with those
shown in financial statements for comparable prior periods and, if available,
with budgets and forecasts.

18.  Obtain explanations from management for any unusual fluctuations or
inconsistencies in the financial statements.

19.  Consider the effect of any unadjusted errors — individually and in aggregate.
Bring the errors to the attention of management and determine how the
unadjusted errors will influence the report on the review.

20.  Consider obtaining a representation letter from management.

Cash

21.  Obtain the bank reconciliations. Inquire about any old or unusual reconciling
items with client personnel.

22.  Inquire about transfers between cash accounts for the period before and after
the review date.

23.  Inquire whether there are any restrictions on cash accounts.

Receivables

24.  Inquire about the accounting policies for initially recording trade receivables
and determine whether any allowances are given on such transactions.

25.  Obtain a schedule of receivables and determine whether the total agrees with
the trial balance.

26.  Obtain and consider explanations of significant variations in account balances

from previous periods or from those anticipated.
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27.  Obtain an aged analysis of the trade receivables. Inquire about the reason for
unusually large accounts, credit balances on accounts or any other unusual
balances and inquire about the collectibility of receivables.

28. Discuss with management the classification of receivables, including
noncurrent balances, net credit balances and amounts due from shareholders,
directors and other related parties in the financial statements.

29.  Inquire about the method for identifying “slow payment” accounts and setting
allowances for doubtful accounts and consider it for reasonableness.

30. Inquire whether receivables have been pledged, factored or discounted.

31.  Inquire about procedures applied to ensure that a proper cutoff of sales
transactions and sales returns has been achieved.

32.  Inquire whether accounts represent goods shipped on consignment and, if so,
whether adjustments have been made to reverse these transactions and include
the goods in inventory.

33.  Inquire whether any large credits relating to revenue recorded have been issued
after the balance sheet date and whether provision has been made for such
amounts.

Inventories

34.  Obtain the inventory list and determine whether:

(a)  The total agrees with the balance in the trial balance; and
(b)  The list is based on a physical count of inventory.

35.  Inquire about the method for counting inventory.

36. Where a physical count was not carried out on the balance sheet date, inquire
whether:

(a)  Aperpetual inventory system is used and whether periodic comparisons
are made with actual quantities on hand; and

(b)  An integrated cost system is used and whether it has produced reliable
information in the past.

37.  Discuss adjustments made resulting from the last physical inventory count.

38. Inquire about procedures applied to control cutoff and any inventory
movements.

39.  Inquire about the basis used in valuing each category of the inventory and, in

particular, regarding the elimination of inter-branch profits. Inquire whether
inventory is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value.
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Consider the consistency with which inventory valuation methods have been
applied, including factors such as material, labor and overhead.

Compare amounts of major inventory categories with those of prior periods and
with those anticipated for the current period. Inquire about major fluctuations
and differences.

Compare inventory turnover with that in previous periods.

Inquire about the method used for identifying slow moving and obsolete
inventory and whether such inventory has been accounted for at net realizable
value.

Inquire whether any of the inventory has been consigned to the entity and, if so,
whether adjustments have been made to exclude such goods from inventory.

Inquire whether any inventory is pledged, stored at other locations or on
consignment to others and consider whether such transactions have been
accounted for appropriately.

Investments (Including Associated Companies and Marketable Securities)

46.

47.
48.

49.

50.

Obtain a schedule of the investments at the balance sheet date and determine
whether it agrees with the trial balance.

Inquire about the accounting policy applied to investments.

Inquire from management about the carrying values of investments. Consider
whether there are any realization problems.

Consider whether there has been proper accounting for gains and losses and
investment income.

Inquire about the classification of long-term and short-term investments.

Property and Depreciation

51.

52.

53.

54.

55.

Obtain a schedule of the property indicating the cost and accumulated
depreciation and determine whether it agrees with the trial balance.

Inquire about the accounting policy applied regarding the provision for
depreciation and distinguishing between capital and maintenance items.
Consider whether the property has suffered a material, permanent impairment
in value.

Discuss with management the additions and deletions to property accounts and
accounting for gains and losses on sales or retirements. Inquire whether all
such transactions have been accounted for.

Inquire about the consistency with which the depreciation method and rates
have been applied and compare depreciation provisions with prior years.

Inquire whether there are any liens on the property.
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Discuss whether lease agreements have been properly reflected in the financial
statements in conformity with current accounting pronouncements.

Prepaid Expenses, Intangibles and Other Assets

57.  Obtain schedules identifying the nature of these accounts and discuss with
management the recoverability thereof.

58.  Inquire about the basis for recording these accounts and the amortization
methods used.

59.  Compare balances of related expense accounts with those of prior periods and
discuss significant variations with management.

60. Discuss the classification between long-term and short-term accounts with
management.

Loans Payable

61.  Obtain from management a schedule of loans payable and determine whether
the total agrees with the trial balance.

62.  Inquire whether there are any loans where management has not complied with
the provisions of the loan agreement and, if so, inquire as to management’s
actions and whether appropriate adjustments have been made in the financial
statements.

63.  Consider the reasonableness of interest expense in relation to loan balances.

64.  Inquire whether loans payable are secured.

65.  Inquire whether loans payable have been classified between noncurrent and
current.

Trade Payables

66.  Inquire about the accounting policies for initially recording trade payables and
whether the entity is entitled to any allowances given on such transactions.

67.  Obtain and consider explanations of significant variations in account balances
from previous periods or from those anticipated.

68.  Obtain a schedule of trade payables and determine whether the total agrees
with the trial balance.

69. Inquire whether balances are reconciled with the creditors’ statements and
compare with prior period balances. Compare turnover with prior periods.

70.  Consider whether there could be material unrecorded liabilities.

71.  Inquire whether payables to shareholders, directors and other related parties are

separately disclosed.
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Accrued and Contingent Liabilities

72.

73.

74.

75.
76.

77.

Income

78.

79.
80.

Obtain a schedule of the accrued liabilities and determine whether the total
agrees with the trial balance.

Compare major balances of related expense accounts with similar accounts for
prior periods.

Inquire about approvals for such accruals, terms of payment, compliance with
terms, collateral and classification.

Inquire about the method for determining accrued liabilities.

Inquire as to the nature of amounts included in contingent liabilities and
commitments.

Inquire whether any actual or contingent liabilities exist which have not been
recorded in the accounts. If so, discuss with management whether provisions
need to be made in the accounts or whether disclosure should be made in the
notes to the financial statements.

and Other Taxes

Inquire from management if there were any events, including disputes with
taxation authorities, which could have a significant effect on the taxes payable
by the entity.

Consider the tax expense in relation to the entity’s income for the period.

Inquire from management as to the adequacy of the recorded deferred and
current tax liabilities including provisions in respect of prior periods.

Subsequent Events

81.

82.

Obtain from management the latest interim financial statements and compare
them with the financial statements being reviewed or with those for comparable
periods from the preceding year.

Inquire about events after the balance sheet date that would have a material
effect on the financial statements under review and, in particular, inquire
whether:

(a)  Any substantial commitments or uncertainties have arisen subsequent to
the balance sheet date;

(b)  Any significant changes in the share capital, long-term debt or working
capital have occurred up to the date of inquiry; and

(¢)  Any unusual adjustments have been made during the period between
the balance sheet date and the date of inquiry.

Consider the need for adjustments or disclosure in the financial statements.
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83.  Obtain and read the minutes of meetings of shareholders, directors and
appropriate committees subsequent to the balance sheet date.
Litigation
84.  Inquire from management whether the entity is the subject of any legal actions-
threatened, pending or in process. Consider the effect thereof on the financial
statements.
Equity
85.  Obtain and consider a schedule of the transactions in the equity accounts,
including new issues, retirements and dividends.
86.  Inquire whether there are any restrictions on retained earnings or other equity
accounts.
Operations
87.  Compare results with those of prior periods and those expected for the current
period. Discuss significant variations with management.
88.  Discuss whether the recognition of major sales and expenses have taken place
in the appropriate periods.
89.  Consider extraordinary and unusual items.
90. Consider and discuss with management the relationship between related items

in the revenue account and assess the reasonableness thereof in the context of
similar relationships for prior periods and other information available to the
practitioner.
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Appendix 3

Form of Unqualified Review Report
REVIEW REPORT TO ...

We have reviewed the accompanying balance sheet of ABC Company at December 31,
19XX, and the income statement, statement of changes in equity and cash flow
statement for the year then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of
the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to issue a report on these financial
statements based on our review.

We conducted our review in accordance with the International Standard on Review
Engagements 2400 (or refer to relevant national standards or practices applicable to
review engagements). This Standard requires that we plan and perform the review to
obtain moderate assurance as to whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. A review is limited primarily to inquiries of company personnel and
analytical procedures applied to financial data and thus provides less assurance than an
audit. We have not performed an audit and, accordingly, we do not express an audit
opinion.

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the
accompanying financial statements do not give a true and fair view (or are not presented
fairly, in all material respects) in accordance with International Accounting Standards. !

PRACTITIONER

Date
Address

Or indicate the relevant national accounting standards

41 ISRE 2400 APPENDIX 3

REVIEW



ENGAGEMENTS TO REVIEW FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Appendix 4

Examples of Review Reports Other than Unqualified

Qualification for a Departure from International Accounting Standards
REVIEW REPORT TO ...

We have reviewed the accompanying balance sheet of ABC Company at December 31,
19XX, and the income statement, statement of changes in equity and cash flow
statement for the year then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of
the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to issue a report on these financial
statements based on our review.

We conducted our review in accordance with the International Standard on Review
Engagements 2400 (or refer to relevant national standards or practices applicable to
review engagements). This Standard requires that we plan and perform the review to
obtain moderate assurance as to whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. A review is limited primarily to inquiries of company personnel and
analytical procedures applied to financial data and thus provides less assurance than an
audit. We have not performed an audit, and, accordingly, we do not express an audit
opinion.

Management has informed us that inventory has been stated at its cost which is in excess
of'its net realizable value. Management’s computation, which we have reviewed, shows
that inventory, if valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value as required by
International Accounting Standards,! would have been decreased by $X, and net income
and shareholders’ equity would have been decreased by §Y.

Based on our review, except for the effects of the overstatement of inventory described
in the previous paragraph, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe
that the accompanying financial statements do not give a true and fair view (or are not
presented fairly, in all material respects) in accordance with International Accounting
Standards.'

PRACTITIONER

Date
Address

1 Or indicate the relevant national accounting standards
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Adverse Report for a Departure from International Accounting Standards
REVIEW REPORT TO ...

We have reviewed the balance sheet of ABC Company at December 31, 19XX, and the
income statement, statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement for the year
then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to issue a report on these financial statements based
on our review.

We conducted our review in accordance with the International Standard on Review
Engagements 2400 (or refer to relevant national standards or practices applicable to
review engagements). This Standard requires that we plan and perform the review to
obtain moderate assurance as to whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. A review is limited primarily to inquiries of company personnel and
analytical procedures applied to financial data and thus provides less assurance than an
audit. We have not performed an audit and, accordingly, we do not express an audit
opinion.

Asnoted in footnote X, these financial statements do not reflect the consolidation of the
financial statements of subsidiary companies, the investment in which is accounted for
on a cost basis. Under International Accounting Standards,? the financial statements of
the subsidiaries are required to be consolidated.

Based on our review, because of the pervasive effect on the financial statements of the
matter discussed in the preceding paragraph, the accompanying financial statements do
not give a true and fair view (or are not presented fairly, in all material respects) in
accordance with International Accounting Standards.’

PRACTITIONER

Date
Address

Or indicate the relevant national accounting standards
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Appendix 6: Examples of Review Reports with a Qualified Conclusion for a
Limitation on Scope Not Imposed by Management

Appendix 7: Examples of Review Reports with an Adverse Conclusion for a
Departure from the Applicable Financial Reporting Framework

International Standard on Review Engagements (ISRE) 2410, Review of Interim Financial
Information Performed by the Independent Auditor of the Entity, should be read in the
context of the Preface to the International Standards on Quality Control, Auditing,
Review, Other Assurance and Related Services, which sets out the application and
authority of ISREs.

45 ISRE 2410

REVIEW



REVIEW OF INTERIM FINANCIAL INFORMATION PERFORMED
BY THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR OF THE ENTITY

Introduction

1.

3a.

The purpose of this International Standard on Review Engagements (ISRE) is to
establish standards and provide guidance on the auditor’s professional
responsibilities when the auditor undertakes an engagement to review interim
financial information of an audit client, and on the form and content of the report.
The term “auditor” is used throughout this ISRE, not because the auditor is
performing an audit function but because the scope of this ISRE is limited to a
review of interim financial information performed by the independent auditor of
the financial statements of the entity.

For purposes of this ISRE, interim financial information is financial information
that is prepared and presented in accordance with an applicable financial
reporting framework' and comprises either a complete or a condensed set of
financial statements for a period that is shorter than the entity’s financial year.

The auditor who is engaged to perform a review of interim financial
information should perform the review in accordance with this ISRE. Through
performing the audit of the annual financial statements, the auditor obtains an
understanding of the entity and its environment, including its internal control.
When the auditor is engaged to review the interim financial information, this
understanding is updated through inquiries made in the course of the review, and
assists the auditor in focusing the inquiries to be made and the analytical and other
review procedures to be applied. A practitioner who is engaged to perform a review
of interim financial information, and who is not the auditor of the entity, performs
the review in accordance with ISRE 2400, Engagements to Review Financial
Statements. As the practitioner does not ordinarily have the same understanding of
the entity and its environment, including its internal control, as the auditor of the
entity, the practitioner needs to carry out different inquiries and procedures to meet
the objective of the review.

This ISRE is directed towards a review of interim financial information by an
entity’s auditor. However, it is to be applied, adapted as necessary in the
circumstances, when an entity’s auditor undertakes an engagement to review
historical financial information other than interim financial information of an
audit client.”

For example, International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board

Paragraph 3a and footnote 4 were inserted in this ISRE in December 2007 to clarify the application of
the ISRE.
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General Principles of a Review of Interim Financial Information

4.

The auditor should comply with the ethical requirements relevant to the
audit of the annual financial statements of the entity. These ethical
requirements govern the auditor’s professional responsibilities in the following
areas: independence, integrity, objectivity, professional competence and due
care, confidentiality, professional behavior, and technical standards.

The auditor should implement quality control procedures that are applicable
to the individual engagement. The elements of quality control that are relevant to
an individual engagement include leadership responsibilities for quality on the
engagement, ethical requirements, acceptance and continuance of client
relationships and specific engagements, assignment of engagement teams,
engagement performance, and monitoring.

The auditor should plan and perform the review with an attitude of
professional skepticism, recognizing that circumstances may exist that cause
the interim financial information to require a material adjustment for it to be
prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the applicable financial
reporting framework. An attitude of professional skepticism means that the
auditor makes a critical assessment, with a questioning mind, of the validity of
evidence obtained and is alert to evidence that contradicts or brings into question
the reliability of documents or representations by management of the entity.

Objective of an Engagement to Review Interim Financial
Information

7.

The objective of an engagement to review interim financial information is to
enable the auditor to express a conclusion whether, on the basis of the review,
anything has come to the auditor’s attention that causes the auditor to believe
that the interim financial information is not prepared, in all material respects, in
accordance with an applicable financial reporting framework. The auditor
makes inquiries, and performs analytical and other review procedures in order
to reduce to a moderate level the risk of expressing an inappropriate conclusion
when the interim financial information is materially misstated.

The objective of a review of interim financial information differs significantly
from that of an audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing (ISAs). A review of interim financial information does not provide a
basis for expressing an opinion whether the financial information gives a true
and fair view, or is presented fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with
an applicable financial reporting framework.

A review, in contrast to an audit, is not designed to obtain reasonable assurance
that the interim financial information is free from material misstatement. A
review consists of making inquiries, primarily of persons responsible for
financial and accounting matters, and applying analytical and other review
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procedures. A review may bring significant matters affecting the interim
financial information to the auditor’s attention, but it does not provide all of the
evidence that would be required in an audit.

Agreeing the Terms of the Engagement

10.
11.

The auditor and the client should agree on the terms of the engagement.

The agreed terms of the engagement are ordinarily recorded in an engagement
letter. Such a communication helps to avoid misunderstandings regarding the
nature of the engagement and, in particular, the objective and scope of the review,
management’s responsibilities, the extent of the auditor’s responsibilities, the
assurance obtained, and the nature and form of the report. The communication
ordinarily covers the following matters:

. The objective of a review of interim financial information.

. The scope of the review.

. Management’s responsibility for the interim financial information.

. Management’s responsibility for establishing and maintaining effective

internal control relevant to the preparation of interim financial information.

. Management’s responsibility for making all financial records and related
information available to the auditor.

. Management’s agreement to provide written representations to the auditor
to confirm representations made orally during the review, as well as
representations that are implicit in the entity’s records.

. The anticipated form and content of the report to be issued, including the
identity of the addressee of the report.

. Management’s agreement that where any document containing interim
financial information indicates that the interim financial information has
been reviewed by the entity’s auditor, the review report will also be
included in the document.

An illustrative engagement letter is set out in Appendix 1 to this ISRE. The terms
of engagement to review interim financial information can also be combined with
the terms of engagement to audit the annual financial statements.

Procedures for a Review of Interim Financial Information

Understanding the Entity and its Environment, Including its Internal Control

12.

The auditor should have an understanding of the entity and its environment,
including its internal control, as it relates to the preparation of both annual
and interim financial information, sufficient to plan and conduct the
engagement so as to be able to:
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14.

15.
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(a)  Identify the types of potential material misstatement and consider
the likelihood of their occurrence; and

(b)  Select the inquiries, analytical and other review procedures that will
provide the auditor with a basis for reporting whether anything has
come to the auditor’s attention that causes the auditor to believe that
the interim financial information is not prepared, in all material
respects, in accordance with the applicable financial reporting
framework.

As required by ISA 315, Understanding the Entity and its Environment and
Assessing the Risks of Material Misstatement, the auditor who has audited the
entity’s financial statements for one or more annual periods has obtained an
understanding of the entity and its environment, including its internal control, as it
relates to the preparation of annual financial information that was sufficient to
conduct the audit. In planning a review of interim financial information, the auditor
updates this understanding. The auditor also obtains a sufficient understanding of
internal control as it relates to the preparation of interim financial information as it
may differ from internal control as it relates to annual financial information.

The auditor uses the understanding of the entity and its environment, including its
internal control, to determine the inquiries to be made and the analytical and other
review procedures to be applied, and to identify the particular events, transactions
or assertions to which inquiries may be directed or analytical or other review
procedures applied.

The procedures performed by the auditor to update the understanding of the entity
and its environment, including its internal control, ordinarily include the following:

. Reading the documentation, to the extent necessary, of the preceding year’s
audit and reviews of prior interim period(s) of the current year and
corresponding interim period(s) of the prior year, to enable the auditor to
identify matters that may affect the current-period interim financial
information.

. Considering any significant risks, including the risk of management
override of controls, that were identified in the audit of the prior year’s
financial statements.

. Reading the most recent annual and comparable prior period interim
financial information.

. Considering materiality with reference to the applicable financial reporting
framework as it relates to interim financial information to assist in
determining the nature and extent of the procedures to be performed and
evaluating the effect of misstatements.
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. Considering the nature of any corrected material misstatements and any
identified uncorrected immaterial misstatements in the prior year’s financial
statements.

. Considering significant financial accounting and reporting matters that may
be of continuing significance such as significant deficiencies in internal
control.

. Considering the results of any audit procedures performed with respect to
the current year’s financial statements.

. Considering the results of any internal audit performed and the subsequent
actions taken by management.

. Inquiring of management about the results of management’s assessment of
the risk that the interim financial information may be materially misstated
as a result of fraud.

. Inquiring of management about the effect of changes in the entity’s
business activities.

. Inquiring of management about any significant changes in internal control
and the potential effect of any such changes on the preparation of interim
financial information.

. Inquiring of management of the process by which the interim financial
information has been prepared and the reliability of the underlying
accounting records to which the interim financial information is agreed or
reconciled.

16.  The auditor determines the nature of the review procedures, if any, to be performed
for components and, where applicable, communicates these matters to other
auditors involved in the review. Factors to be considered include the materiality of,
and risk of misstatement in, the interim financial information of components, and
the auditor’s understanding of the extent to which internal control over the
preparation of such information is centralized or decentralized.

17.  In order to plan and conduct a review of interim financial information, a
recently appointed auditor, who has not yet performed an audit of the annual
financial statements in accordance with ISAs, should obtain an understanding
of the entity and its environment, including its internal control, as it relates to
the preparation of both annual and interim financial information.

18.  This understanding enables the auditor to focus the inquiries made, and the
analytical and other review procedures applied in performing a review of interim
financial information in accordance with this ISRE. As part of obtaining this
understanding, the auditor ordinarily makes inquiries of the predecessor auditor
and, where practicable, reviews the predecessor auditor’s documentation for the
preceding annual audit, and for any prior interim periods in the current year that

ISRE 2410 50



REVIEW OF INTERIM FINANCIAL INFORMATION PERFORMED
BY THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR OF THE ENTITY

have been reviewed by the predecessor auditor. In doing so, the auditor considers
the nature of any corrected misstatements, and any uncorrected misstatements
aggregated by the predecessor auditor, any significant risks, including the risk of
management override of controls, and significant accounting and any reporting
matters that may be of continuing significance, such as significant deficiencies in
internal control.

Inquiries, Analytical and Other Review Procedures

19.

20.

21.

The auditor should make inquiries, primarily of persons responsible for
financial and accounting matters, and perform analytical and other review
procedures to enable the auditor to conclude whether, on the basis of the
procedures performed, anything has come to the auditor’s attention that
causes the auditor to believe that the interim financial information is not
prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the applicable
financial reporting framework.

A review ordinarily does not require tests of the accounting records through
inspection, observation or confirmation. Procedures for performing a review of
interim financial information are ordinarily limited to making inquiries,
primarily of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters, and
applying analytical and other review procedures, rather than corroborating
information obtained concerning significant accounting matters relating to the
interim financial information. The auditor’s understanding of the entity and its
environment, including its internal control, the results of the risk assessments
relating to the preceding audit and the auditor’s consideration of materiality as
it relates to the interim financial information, affects the nature and extent of
the inquiries made, and analytical and other review procedures applied.

The auditor ordinarily performs the following procedures:

. Reading the minutes of the meetings of shareholders, those charged with
governance, and other appropriate committees to identify matters that may
affect the interim financial information, and inquiring about matters dealt
with at meetings for which minutes are not available that may affect the
interim financial information.

. Considering the effect, if any, of matters giving rise to a modification of the
audit or review report, accounting adjustments or unadjusted misstatements,
at the time of the previous audit or reviews.

. Communicating, where appropriate, with other auditors who are
performing a review of the interim financial information of the reporting
entity’s significant components.

. Inquiring of members of management responsible for financial and
accounting matters, and others as appropriate about the following:
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Whether the interim financial information has been prepared and
presented in accordance with the applicable financial reporting
framework.

Whether there have been any changes in accounting principles or
in the methods of applying them.

Whether any new transactions have necessitated the application
of a new accounting principle.

Whether the interim financial information contains any known
uncorrected misstatements.

Unusual or complex situations that may have affected the interim
financial information, such as a business combination or disposal
of a segment of the business.

Significant assumptions that are relevant to the fair value
measurement or disclosures and management’s intention and ability
to carry out specific courses of action on behalf of the entity.

Whether related party transactions have been appropriately
accounted for and disclosed in the interim financial information.

Significant changes in commitments and contractual obligations.

Significant changes in contingent liabilities including litigation or
claims.

Compliance with debt covenants.

Matters about which questions have arisen in the course of
applying the review procedures.

Significant transactions occurring in the last several days of the
interim period or the first several days of the next interim period.

Knowledge of any fraud or suspected fraud affecting the entity
involving:

- Management;

- Employees who have significant roles in internal control;
or

- Others where the fraud could have a material effect on the
interim financial information.

Knowledge of any allegations of fraud, or suspected fraud, affecting
the entity’s interim financial information communicated by
employees, former employees, analysts, regulators, or others.
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o Knowledge of any actual or possible noncompliance with laws and
regulations that could have a material effect on the interim financial
information.

. Applying analytical procedures to the interim financial information

designed to identify relationships and individual items that appear to be
unusual and that may reflect a material misstatement in the interim
financial information. Analytical procedures may include ratio analysis
and statistical techniques such as trend analysis or regression analysis
and may be performed manually or with the use of computer-assisted
techniques. Appendix 2 to this ISRE contains examples of analytical
procedures the auditor may consider when performing a review of
interim financial information.

. Reading the interim financial information, and considering whether
anything has come to the auditor’s attention that causes the auditor to
believe that the interim financial information is not prepared, in all material
respects, in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework.

The auditor may perform many of the review procedures before or simultaneously
with the entity’s preparation of the interim financial information. For example, it
may be practicable to update the understanding of the entity and its environment,
including its internal control, and begin reading applicable minutes before the end
of the interim period. Performing some of the review procedures earlier in the
interim period also permits early identification and consideration of significant
accounting matters affecting the interim financial information.

The auditor performing the review of interim financial information is also
engaged to perform an audit of the annual financial statements of the entity. For
convenience and efficiency, the auditor may decide to perform certain audit
procedures concurrently with the review of interim financial information. For
example, information gained from reading the minutes of meetings of the board
of directors in connection with the review of the interim financial information
also may be used for the annual audit. The auditor may also decide to perform,
at the time of the interim review, auditing procedures that would need to be
performed for the purpose of the audit of the annual financial statements, for
example, performing audit procedures on significant or unusual transactions
that occurred during the period, such as business combinations, restructurings,
or significant revenue transactions.

A review of interim financial information ordinarily does not require corroborating
the inquiries about litigation or claims. It is, therefore, ordinarily not necessary to
send an inquiry letter to the entity’s lawyer. Direct communication with the entity’s
lawyer with respect to litigation or claims may, however, be appropriate if a matter
comes to the auditor’s attention that causes the auditor to question whether the
interim financial information is not prepared, in all material respects, in accordance
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with the applicable financial reporting framework, and the auditor believes the
entity’s lawyer may have pertinent information.

25.  Theauditor should obtain evidence that the interim financial information agrees or
reconciles with the underlying accounting records. The auditor may obtain
evidence that the interim financial information agrees or reconciles with the
underlying accounting records by tracing the interim financial information to:

(a)  The accounting records, such as the general ledger, or a consolidating
schedule that agrees or reconciles with the accounting records; and

(b)  Other supporting data in the entity’s records as necessary.

26.  The auditor should inquire whether management has identified all events up
to the date of the review report that may require adjustment to or disclosure
in the interim financial information. It is not necessary for the auditor to perform
other procedures to identify events occurring after the date of the review report.

27.  The auditor should inquire whether management has changed its assessment
of the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. When, as a result of this
inquiry or other review procedures, the auditor becomes aware of events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability to continue as
a going concern, the auditor should:

(a) Inquire of management as to its plans for future actions based on its
going concern assessment, the feasibility of these plans, and whether
management believes that the outcome of these plans will improve the
situation; and

(b)  Consider the adequacy of the disclosure about such matters in the
interim financial information.

28.  Events or conditions which may cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability to
continue as a going concern may have existed at the date of the annual financial
statements or may be identified as a result of inquiries of management or in the
course of performing other review procedures. When such events or conditions
come to the auditor’s attention, the auditor inquires of management as to its plans
for future action, such as its plans to liquidate assets, borrow money or restructure
debt, reduce or delay expenditures, or increase capital. The auditor also inquires as
to the feasibility of management’s plans and whether management believes that the
outcome of these plans will improve the situation. However, it is not ordinarily
necessary for the auditor to corroborate the feasibility of management’s plans and
whether the outcome of these plans will improve the situation.

29.  When a matter comes to the auditor’s attention that leads the auditor to
question whether a material adjustment should be made for the interim
financial information to be prepared, in all material respects, in accordance
with the applicable financial reporting framework, the auditor should make
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additional inquiries or perform other procedures to enable the auditor to
express a conclusion in the review report. For example, if the auditor’s review
procedures lead the auditor to question whether a significant sales transaction is
recorded in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework, the
auditor performs additional procedures sufficient to resolve the auditor’s questions,
such as discussing the terms of the transaction with senior marketing and
accounting personnel, or reading the sales contract.

Evaluation of Misstatements

30.

31

32.

33.

The auditor should evaluate, individually and in the aggregate, whether
uncorrected misstatements that have come to the auditor’s attention are
material to the interim financial information.

A review of interim financial information, in contrast to an audit engagement, is not
designed to obtain reasonable assurance that the interim financial information is
free from material misstatement. However, misstatements which come to the
auditor’s attention, including inadequate disclosures, are evaluated individually and
in the aggregate to determine whether a material adjustment is required to be made
to the interim financial information for it to be prepared, in all material respects, in
accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework.

The auditor exercises professional judgment in evaluating the materiality of any
misstatements that the entity has not corrected. The auditor considers matters such
as the nature, cause and amount of the misstatements, whether the misstatements
originated in the preceding year or interim period of the current year, and the
potential effect of the misstatements on future interim or annual periods.

The auditor may designate an amount below which misstatements need not be
aggregated, because the auditor expects that the aggregation of such amounts
clearly would not have a material effect on the interim financial information. In so
doing, the auditor considers the fact that the determination of materiality involves
quantitative as well as qualitative considerations, and that misstatements of a
relatively small amount could nevertheless have a material effect on the interim
financial information.

Management Representations

34.

The auditor should obtain written representation from management that:

(a)  Itacknowledges its responsibility for the design and implementation
of internal control to prevent and detect fraud and error;

(b)  The interim financial information is prepared and presented in
accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework;

(c)  Itbelieves the effect of those uncorrected misstatements aggregated by
the auditor during the review are immaterial, both individually and in
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the aggregate, to the interim financial information taken as a whole. A
summary of such items is included in or attached to the written
representations;

(d)  Ithasdisclosed to the auditor all significant facts relating to any frauds
or suspected frauds known to management that may have affected the
entity;

(e) It has disclosed to the auditor the results of its assessment of the risks
that the interim financial information may be materially misstated as a
result of fraud;2

§i)] It has disclosed to the auditor all known actual or possible
noncompliance with laws and regulations whose effects are to be
considered when preparing the interim financial information; and

(g)  Ithasdisclosed to the auditor all significant events that have occurred
subsequent to the balance sheet date and through to the date of the
review report that may require adjustment to or disclosure in the
interim financial information.

35.  The auditor obtains additional representations as are appropriate related to
matters specific to the entity’s business or industry. An illustrative management
representation letter is set out in Appendix 3 to this ISRE.

Auditor’s Responsibility for Accompanying Information

36. The auditor should read the other information that accompanies the
interim financial information to consider whether any such information is
materially inconsistent with the interim financial information. If the auditor
identifies a material inconsistency, the auditor considers whether the interim
financial information or the other information needs to be amended. If an
amendment is necessary in the interim financial information and management
refuses to make the amendment, the auditor considers the implications for the
review report. If an amendment is necessary in the other information and
management refuses to make the amendment, the auditor considers including in
the review report an additional paragraph describing the material inconsistency,
or taking other actions, such as withholding the issuance of the review report or
withdrawing from the engagement. For example, management may present
alternative measures of earnings that more positively portray financial

Paragraph 35 of ISA 240, The Auditor s Responsibility to Consider Fraud in an Audit of Financial
Statements, explains that the nature, extent and frequency of such an assessment vary from entity to
entity and that management may make a detailed assessment on an annual basis or as part of continuous
monitoring. Accordingly, this representation, insofar as it relates to the interim financial information, is
tailored to the entity’s specific circumstances.
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performance than the interim financial information, and such alternative
measures are given excessive prominence, are not clearly defined, or not
clearly reconciled to the interim financial information such that they are
confusing and potentially misleading.

If a matter comes to the auditor’s attention that causes the auditor to
believe that the other information appears to include a material
misstatement of fact, the auditor should discuss the matter with the
entity’s management. While reading the other information for the purpose of
identifying material inconsistencies, an apparent material misstatement of fact
may come to the auditor’s attention (i.e., information, not related to matters
appearing in the interim financial information, that is incorrectly stated or
presented). When discussing the matter with the entity’s management, the
auditor considers the validity of the other information and management’s
responses to the auditor’s inquiries, whether valid differences of judgment or
opinion exist and whether to request management to consult with a qualified
third party to resolve the apparent misstatement of fact. If an amendment is
necessary to correct a material misstatement of fact and management refuses to
make the amendment, the auditor considers taking further action as appropriate,
such as notifying those charged with governance and obtaining legal advice.

Communication

38.

39.

40.

When, as a result of performing the review of interim financial information, a
matter comes to the auditor’s attention that causes the auditor to believe that
it is necessary to make a material adjustment to the interim financial
information for it to be prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with
the applicable financial reporting framework, the auditor should
communicate this matter as soon as practicable to the appropriate level of
management.

When, in the auditor’s judgment, management does not respond
appropriately within a reasonable period of time, the auditor should inform
those charged with governance. The communication is made as soon as
practicable, either orally or in writing. The auditor’s decision whether to
communicate orally or in writing is affected by factors such as the nature,
sensitivity and significance of the matter to be communicated and the timing of
such communications. If the information is communicated orally, the auditor
documents the communication.

When, in the auditor’s judgment, those charged with governance do not
respond appropriately within a reasonable period of time, the auditor
should consider:

(a)  Whether to modify the report; or

(b)  The possibility of withdrawing from the engagement; and
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(c)  The possibility of resigning from the appointment to audit the
annual financial statements.

When, as a result of performing the review of interim financial information, a
matter comes to the auditor’s attention that causes the auditor to believe in the
existence of fraud or noncompliance by the entity with laws and regulations the
auditor should communicate the matter as soon as practicable to the
appropriate level of management. The determination of which level of
management is the appropriate one is affected by the likelihood of collusion or the
involvement of a member of management. The auditor also considers the need to
report such matters to those charged with governance and considers the implication
for the review.

The auditor should communicate relevant matters of governance interest
arising from the review of interim financial information to those charged with
governance. As a result of performing the review of the interim financial
information, the auditor may become aware of matters that in the opinion of the
auditor are both important and relevant to those charged with governance in
overseeing the financial reporting and disclosure process. The auditor communicates
such matters to those charged with governance.

Reporting the Nature, Extent and Results of the Review of Interim
Financial Information

43.

The auditor should issue a written report that contains the following:
(a)  An appropriate title.
(b)  Anaddressee, as required by the circumstances of the engagement.

(c)  Identification of the interim financial information reviewed, including
identification of the title of each of the statements contained in the
complete or condensed set of financial statements and the date and
period covered by the interim financial information.

(d)  Iftheinterim financial information comprises a complete set of general
purpose financial statements prepared in accordance with a financial
reporting framework designed to achieve fair presentation, a statement
that management is responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of the interim financial information in accordance with
the applicable financial reporting framework.

(e)  Inother circumstances, a statement that management is responsible for
the preparation and presentation of the interim financial information
in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework.

® A statement that the auditor is responsible for expressing a
conclusion on the interim financial information based on the review.
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A statement that the review of the interim financial information was
conducted in accordance with International Standard on Review
Engagements (ISRE) 2410, Review of Interim Financial Information
Performed by the Independent Auditor of the Entity, and a statement
that that such a review consists of making inquiries, primarily of
persons responsible for financial and accounting matters, and applying
analytical and other review procedures.

A statement that a review is substantially less in scope than an audit
conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing and
consequently does not enable the auditor to obtain assurance that the
auditor would become aware of all significant matters that might be
identified in an audit and that accordingly no audit opinion is
expressed.

If the interim financial information comprises a complete set of general
purpose financial statements prepared in accordance with a financial
reporting framework designed to achieve fair presentation, a
conclusion as to whether anything has come to the auditor’s attention
that causes the auditor to believe that the interim financial information
does not give a true and fair view, or does not present fairly, in all
material respects, in accordance with the applicable financial reporting
framework (including a reference to the jurisdiction or country of
origin of the financial reporting framework when the financial
reporting framework used is not International Financial Reporting
Standards).

In other circumstances, a conclusion as to whether anything has come
to the auditor’s attention that causes the auditor to believe that the
interim financial information is not prepared, in all material respects,
in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework
(including a reference to the jurisdiction or country of origin of the
financial reporting framework when the financial reporting
framework used is not International Financial Reporting Standards).

The date of the report.

The location in the country or jurisdiction where the auditor
practices.

The auditor’s signature.

Ilustrative review reports are set out in Appendix 4 to this ISRE.

In some jurisdictions, law or regulation governing the review of interim financial
information may prescribe wording for the auditor’s conclusion that is different
from the wording described in paragraph 43(i) or (j). Although the auditor may be
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obliged to use the prescribed wording, the auditor’s responsibilities as described in
this ISRE for coming to the conclusion remain the same.

Departure from the Applicable Financial Reporting Framework

45.

46.

47.

The auditor should express a qualified or adverse conclusion when a matter
has come to the auditor’s attention that causes the auditor to believe that a
material adjustment should be made to the interim financial information for it
to be prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the applicable
financial reporting framework.

If matters have come to the auditor’s attention that cause the auditor to believe that
the interim financial information is or may be materially affected by a departure
from the applicable financial reporting framework, and management does not
correct the interim financial information, the auditor modifies the review report.
The modification describes the nature of the departure and, if practicable, states the
effects on the interim financial information. If the information that the auditor
believes is necessary for adequate disclosure is not included in the interim financial
information, the auditor modifies the review report and, if practicable, includes the
necessary information in the review report. The modification to the review report is
ordinarily accomplished by adding an explanatory paragraph to the review report,
and qualifying the conclusion. Illustrative review reports with a qualified
conclusion are set out in Appendix 5 to this ISRE.

When the effect of the departure is so material and pervasive to the interim
financial information that the auditor concludes a qualified conclusion is not
adequate to disclose the misleading or incomplete nature of the interim financial
information, the auditor expresses an adverse conclusion. [llustrative review reports
with an adverse conclusion are set out in Appendix 7 to this ISRE.

Limitation on Scope

48.
49.

A limitation on scope ordinarily prevents the auditor from completing the review.

When the auditor is unable to complete the review, the auditor should
communicate, in writing, to the appropriate level of management and to
those charged with governance the reason why the review cannot be
completed, and consider whether it is appropriate to issue a report.

Limitation on Scope Imposed by Management

50.

The auditor does not accept an engagement to review the interim financial
information if the auditor’s preliminary knowledge of the engagement
circumstances indicates that the auditor would be unable to complete the review
because there will be a limitation on the scope of the auditor’s review imposed by
management of the entity.
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If, after accepting the engagement, management imposes a limitation on the scope
of the review, the auditor requests the removal of that limitation. If management
refuses to do so, the auditor is unable to complete the review and express a
conclusion. In such cases, the auditor communicates, in writing, to the appropriate
level of management and those charged with governance the reason why the review
cannot be completed. Nevertheless, if a matter comes to the auditor’s attention that
causes the auditor to believe that a material adjustment to the interim financial
information is necessary for it to be prepared, in all material respects, in accordance
with the applicable financial reporting framework, the auditor communicates such
matters in accordance with the guidance in paragraphs 38—40.

The auditor also considers the legal and regulatory responsibilities, including
whether there is a requirement for the auditor to issue a report. If there is such a
requirement, the auditor disclaims a conclusion, and provides in the review report
the reason why the review cannot be completed. However, if a matter comes to the
auditor’s attention that causes the auditor to believe that a material adjustment to
the interim financial information is necessary for it to be prepared, in all material
respects, in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework, the
auditor also communicates such a matter in the report.

Other Limitations on Scope

53.

54.

A limitation on scope may occur due to circumstances other than a limitation on
scope imposed by management. In such circumstances, the auditor is ordinarily
unable to complete the review and express a conclusion and is guided by
paragraphs 51-52. There may be, however, some rare circumstances where the
limitation on the scope of the auditor’s work is clearly confined to one or more
specific matters that, while material, are not in the auditor’s judgment pervasive to
the interim financial information. In such circumstances, the auditor modifies the
review report by indicating that, except for the matter which is described in an
explanatory paragraph to the review report, the review was conducted in
accordance with this ISRE, and by qualifying the conclusion. Illustrative review
reports with a qualified conclusion are set out in Appendix 6 to this ISRE.

The auditor may have expressed a qualified opinion on the audit of the latest
annual financial statements because of a limitation on the scope of that audit.
The auditor considers whether that limitation on scope still exists and, if so, the
implications for the review report.

Going Concern and Significant Uncertainties

55.

In certain circumstances, an emphasis of matter paragraph may be added to a
review report, without affecting the auditor’s conclusion, to highlight a matter
that is included in a note to the interim financial information that more
extensively discusses the matter. The paragraph would preferably be included
after the conclusion paragraph and ordinarily refers to the fact that the
conclusion is not qualified in this respect.
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If adequate disclosure is made in the interim financial information, the
auditor should add an emphasis of matter paragraph to the review report to
highlight a material uncertainty relating to an event or condition that may
cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The auditor may have modified a prior audit or review report by adding an
emphasis of matter paragraph to highlight a material uncertainty relating to an
event or condition that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If the material uncertainty still exists and adequate
disclosure is made in the interim financial information, the auditor modifies the
review report on the current interim financial information by adding a
paragraph to highlight the continued material uncertainty.

If, as a result of inquiries or other review procedures, a material uncertainty
relating to an event or condition comes to the auditor’s attention that may cast
significant doubt on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, and
adequate disclosure is made in the interim financial information the auditor
modifies the review report by adding an emphasis of matter paragraph.

If a material uncertainty that casts significant doubt about the entity’s
ability to continue as a going concern is not adequately disclosed in the
interim financial information, the auditor should express a qualified or
adverse conclusion, as appropriate. The report should include specific
reference to the fact that there is such a material uncertainty.

The auditor should consider modifying the review report by adding a
paragraph to highlight a significant uncertainty (other than a going
concern problem) that came to the auditor’s attention, the resolution of
which is dependent upon future events and which may affect the interim
financial information.

Other Considerations

61.

62.

The terms of the engagement include management’s agreement that where any
document containing interim financial information indicates that such
information has been reviewed by the entity’s auditor, the review report will
also be included in the document. If management has not included the review
report in the document, the auditor considers seeking legal advice to assist in
determining the appropriate course of action in the circumstances.

If the auditor has issued a modified review report and management issues the
interim financial information without including the modified review report in
the document containing the interim financial information, the auditor
considers seeking legal advice to assist in determining the appropriate course of
action in the circumstances, and the possibility of resigning from the
appointment to audit the annual financial statements.

ISRE 2410 62



63.

REVIEW OF INTERIM FINANCIAL INFORMATION PERFORMED
BY THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR OF THE ENTITY

Interim financial information consisting of a condensed set of financial statements
does not necessarily include all the information that would be included in a
complete set of financial statements, but may rather present an explanation of the
events and changes that are significant to an understanding of the changes in the
financial position and performance of the entity since the annual reporting date.
This is because it is presumed that the users of the interim financial information
will have access to the latest audited financial statements, such as is the case with
listed entities. In other circumstances, the auditor discusses with management the
need for such interim financial information to include a statement that it is to be
read in conjunction with the latest audited financial statements. In the absence of
such a statement, the auditor considers whether, without a reference to the latest
audited financial statements, the interim financial information is misleading in the
circumstances, and the implications for the review report.

Documentation

64.

The auditor should prepare review documentation that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for the auditor’s conclusion and to provide
evidence that the review was performed in accordance with this ISRE and
applicable legal and regulatory requirements. The documentation enables an
experienced auditor having no previous connection with the engagement to
understand the nature, timing and extent of the inquiries made, and analytical
and other review procedures applied, information obtained, and any significant
matters considered during the performance of the review, including the
disposition of such matters.

Effective Date

65.

This ISRE is effective for reviews of interim financial information for periods
beginning on or after December 15, 2006. Earlier adoption of the ISRE is
permissible.

Public Sector Perspective

1.

Paragraph 10 requires that the auditor and the client agree on the terms of
engagement. Paragraph 11 explains that an engagement letter helps to avoid
misunderstandings regarding the nature of the engagement and, in particular,
the objective and scope of the review, management s responsibilities, the extent
of the auditor’s responsibilities, the assurance obtained, and the nature and
form of the report. Law or regulation governing review engagements in the
public sector ordinarily mandates the appointment of the auditor.
Consequently, engagement letters may not be a widespread practice in the
public sector. Nevertheless, an engagement letter setting out the matters
referred to in paragraph 11 may be useful to both the public sector auditor and
the client. Public sector auditors, therefore, consider agreeing with the client
the terms of a review engagement by way of an engagement letter.
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In the public sector, the auditor’s statutory audit obligation may extend to
other work, such as a review of interim financial information. Where this is the
case, the public sector auditor cannot avoid such an obligation and,
consequently, may not be in a position not to accept (see paragraph 50) or to
withdraw from a review engagement (see paragraphs 36 and 40(b)). The public
sector auditor also may not be in the position to resign from the appointment to
audit the annual financial statements (see paragraphs 40(c)) and 62).

Paragraph 41 discusses the auditor’s responsibility when a matter comes to the
auditor’s attention that causes the auditor to believe in the existence of fraud
or noncompliance by the entity with laws and regulations. In the public sector,
the auditor may be subject to statutory or other regulatory requirements to
report such a matter to regulatory or other public authorities.
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Appendix 1

Example of an Engagement Letter for a Review of Interim
Financial Information

The following letter is to be used as a guide in conjunction with the consideration
outlined in paragraph 10 of this ISRE and will need to be adapted according to
individual requirements and circumstances.

To the Board of Directors (or the appropriate representative of senior management)

We are providing this letter to confirm our understanding of the terms and objectives of
our engagement to review the entity’s interim balance sheet as at June 30, 20X1 and the
related statements of income, changes in equity and cash flows for the six-month period
then ended.

Our review will be conducted in accordance with International Standard on Review
Engagements 2410, Review of Interim Financial Information Performed by the
Independent Auditor of the Entity, issued by the International Auditing and Assurance
Standards Board with the objective of providing us with a basis for reporting whether
anything has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the interim financial
information is not prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the [indicate
applicable financial reporting framework, including a reference to the jurisdiction or
country of origin of the financial reporting when the financial reporting framework used
is not International Financial Reporting Standards]. Such a review consists of making
inquiries, primarily of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters, and
applying analytical and other review procedures and does not, ordinarily, require
corroboration of the information obtained. The scope of a review of interim financial
information is substantially less than the scope of an audit conducted in accordance with
International Standards on Auditing whose objective is the expression of an opinion
regarding the financial statements and, accordingly, we shall express no such opinion.

We expect to report on the interim financial information as follows:
[Include text of sample report.]

Responsibility for the interim financial information, including adequate disclosure, is
that of management of the entity. This includes designing, implementing and
maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and presentation of interim
financial information that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting
estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. As part of our review, we will
request written representations from management concerning assertions made in
connection with the review. We will also request that where any document containing
interim financial information indicates that the interim financial information has been
reviewed, our report will also be included in the document.
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A review of interim financial information does not provide assurance that we will
become aware of all significant matters that might be identified in an audit. Further, our
engagement cannot be relied upon to disclose whether fraud or errors, or illegal acts
exist. However, we will inform you of any material matters that come to our attention.

We look forward to full cooperation with your staff and we trust that they will make
available to us whatever records, documentation and other information are requested in
connection with our review.

[Insert additional information here regarding fee arrangements and billings, as
appropriate. |

This letter will be effective for future years unless it is terminated, amended or
superseded (if applicable).

Please sign and return the attached copy of this letter to indicate that it is in accordance
with your understanding of the arrangements for our review of the financial statements.

Acknowledged on behalf of ABC Entity by
(signed)

Name and Title

Date
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Appendix 2

Analytical Procedures the Auditor May Consider When
Performing a Review of Interim Financial Information

Examples of analytical procedures the auditor may consider when performing a review
of interim financial information include the following:

Comparing the interim financial information with the interim financial
information of the immediately preceding interim period, with the interim
financial information of the corresponding interim period of the preceding
financial year, with the interim financial information that was expected by
management for the current period, and with the most recent audited annual
financial statements.

Comparing current interim financial information with anticipated results, such as
budgets or forecasts (for example, comparing tax balances and the relationship
between the provision for income taxes to pretax income in the current interim
financial information with corresponding information in (a) budgets, using
expected rates, and (b) financial information for prior periods).

Comparing current interim financial information with relevant non-financial
information.

Comparing the recorded amounts, or ratios developed from recorded amounts, to
expectations developed by the auditor. The auditor develops such expectations by
identifying and applying relationships that are reasonably expected to exist based
on the auditor’s understanding of the entity and of the industry in which the
entity operates.

Comparing ratios and indicators for the current interim period with those of
entities in the same industry.

Comparing relationships among elements in the current interim financial
information with corresponding relationships in the interim financial information
of prior periods, for example, expense by type as a percentage of sales, assets by
type as a percentage of total assets, and percentage of change in sales to
percentage of change in receivables.

Comparing disaggregated data. The following are examples of how data may be
disaggregated:

o By period, for example, revenue or expense items disaggregated into
quarterly, monthly, or weekly amounts.

o By product line or source of revenue.

o By location, for example, by component.
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o By attributes of the transaction, for example, revenue generated by
designers, architects, or craftsmen.

o By several attributes of the transaction, for example, sales by product and
month.
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Appendix 3

Example of a Management Representation Letter

The following letter is not intended to be a standard letter. Representations by
management will vary from entity to entity and from one interim period to the next.

(Entity Letterhead)
(To Auditor) (Date)

Opening paragraphs if interim financial information comprises condensed financial
statements:

This representation letter is provided in connection with your review of the condensed
balance sheet of ABC Entity as of March 31, 20X1 and the related condensed statements of
income, changes in equity and cash flows for the three-month period then ended for the
purposes of expressing a conclusion whether anything has come to your attention that causes
you to believe that the interim financial information is not prepared, in all material respects,
in accordance with [indicate applicable financial reporting framework, including a reference
to the jurisdiction or country of origin of the financial reporting framework when the
financial reporting framework used is not International Financial Reporting Standards].

We acknowledge our responsibility for the preparation and presentation of the interim
financial information in accordance with [indicate applicable financial reporting framework].

Opening paragraphs if interim financial information comprises a complete set of general
purpose financial statements prepared in accordance with a financial reporting
framework designed to achieve fair presentation:

This representation letter is provided in connection with your review of the balance
sheet of ABC Entity as of March 31, 20X1 and the related statements of income,
changes in equity and cash flows for the three-month period then ended and a summary
of the significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes for the purposes of
expressing a conclusion whether anything has come to your attention that causes you to
believe that the interim financial information does not give a true and fair view of (or
“does not present fairly, in all material respects, ”) the financial position of ABC Entity
as at March 31, 20X1, and of its financial performance and its cash flows in accordance
with [indicate applicable financial reporting framework, including a reference to the
jurisdiction or country of origin of the financial reporting framework when the financial
reporting framework used is not International Financial Reporting Standards].

We acknowledge our responsibility for the fair presentation of the interim financial
information in accordance with [indicate applicable financial reporting framework].

We confirm, to the best of our knowledge and belief, the following representations:
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The interim financial information referred to above has been prepared and presented
in accordance with [indicate applicable financial reporting framework].

We have made available to you all books of account and supporting documentation,
and all minutes of meetings of shareholders and the board of directors (namely those
held on [insert applicable dates]).

There are no material transactions that have not been properly recorded in the
accounting records underlying the interim financial information.

There has been no known actual or possible noncompliance with laws and
regulations that could have a material effect on the interim financial information in
the event of noncompliance.

We acknowledge responsibility for the design and implementation of internal control
to prevent and detect fraud and error.

We have disclosed to you all significant facts relating to any known frauds or
suspected frauds that may have affected the entity.

We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the interim
financial information may be materially misstated as the result of fraud.

We believe the effects of uncorrected misstatements summarized in the
accompanying schedule are immaterial, both individually and in the aggregate, to the
interim financial information taken as a whole.

We confirm the completeness of the information provided to you regarding the
identification of related parties.

The following have been properly recorded and, when appropriate, adequately
disclosed in the interim financial information:

o Related party transactions, including sales, purchases, loans, transfers, leasing
arrangements and guarantees, and amounts receivable from or payable to
related parties;

o Guarantees, whether written or oral, under which the entity is contingently
liable; and

o Agreements and options to buy back assets previously sold.

The presentation and disclosure of the fair value measurements of assets and
liabilities are in accordance with [indicate applicable financial reporting framework].
The assumptions used reflect our intent and ability to carry specific courses of action
on behalf of the entity, where relevant to the fair value measurements or disclosure.

We have no plans or intentions that may materially affect the carrying value or
classification of assets and liabilities reflected in the interim financial information.

We have no plans to abandon lines of product or other plans or intentions that will
result in any excess or obsolete inventory, and no inventory is stated at an amount in
excess of realizable value.
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. The entity has satisfactory title to all assets and there are no liens or encumbrances on
the entity’s assets.

. We have recorded or disclosed, as appropriate, all liabilities, both actual and
contingent.

. [Add any additional representations related to new accounting standards that are

being implemented for the first time and consider any additional representations
required by a new International Standard on Auditing that are relevant to interim
financial information.]

To the best of our knowledge and belief, no events have occurred subsequent to the
balance sheet date and through the date of this letter that may require adjustment to or
disclosure in the aforementioned interim financial information.

(Senior Executive Officer)

(Senior Financial Officer)
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Appendix 4

Examples of Review Reports on Interim Financial Information

Complete Set of General Purpose Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance
with a Financial Reporting Framework Designed to Achieve Fair Presentation (see
paragraph 43(i))

Report on Review of Interim Financial Information

(Appropriate addressee)

Introduction

We have reviewed the accompanying balance sheet of ABC Entity as of March 31,
20X1 and the related statements of income, changes in equity and cash flows for the
three-month period then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory notes.' Management is responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of this interim financial information in accordance with [indicate applicable
financial reporting framework]. Our responsibility is to express a conclusion on this
interim financial information based on our review.

Scope of Review

We conducted our review in accordance with International Standard on Review
Engagements 2410, Review of Interim Financial Information Performed by the
Independent Auditor of the Entity.> A review of interim financial information consists of
making inquiries, primarily of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters,
and applying analytical and other review procedures. A review is substantially less in
scope than an audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing
and consequently does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of
all significant matters that might be identified in an audit. Accordingly, we do not
express an audit opinion.

Conclusion

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the
accompanying interim financial information does not give a true and fair view of (or

The auditor may wish to specify the regulatory authority or equivalent with whom the interim financial
information is filed.

In the case of a review of historical financial information other than interim financial information, this
sentence should read as follows: “We conducted our review in accordance with International Standard on
Review Engagements 2410, which applies to a review of historical financial information performed by
the independent auditor of the entity.” The remainder of the report should be adapted as necessary in the
circumstances.
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“does not present fairly, in all material respects, ”’) the financial position of the entity as
at March 31, 20X1, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the three-
month period then ended in accordance with [applicable financial reporting framework,
including a reference to the jurisdiction or country of origin of the financial reporting
framework when the financial reporting framework used is not International Financial
Reporting Standards].

AUDITOR

Date
Address
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Other Interim Financial Information (see paragraph 43(j))
Report on Review of Interim Financial Information

(Appropriate addressee)

Introduction

We have reviewed the accompanying [condensed] balance sheet of ABC Entity as of
March 31, 20X1 and the related [condensed] statements of income, changes in equity
and cash flows for the three-month period then ended.’ Management is responsible for
the preparation and presentation of this interim financial information in accordance with
[indicate applicable financial reporting framework]. Our responsibility is to express a
conclusion on this interim financial information based on our review.

Scope of Review

We conducted our review in accordance with International Standard on Review
Engagements 2410, Review of Interim Financial Information Performed by the
Independent Auditor of the Entity.* A review of interim financial information consists of
making inquiries, primarily of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters,
and applying analytical and other review procedures. A review is substantially less in
scope than an audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing
and consequently does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of
all significant matters that might be identified in an audit. Accordingly, we do not
express an audit opinion.

Conclusion

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the
accompanying interim financial information is not prepared, in all material respects, in
accordance with [applicable financial reporting framework, including a reference to the
jurisdiction or country of origin of the financial reporting framework when the financial
reporting framework used is not International Financial Reporting Standards].

AUDITOR
Date

Address

See footnote 1.

See footnote 2.
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Appendix 5

Examples of Review Reports with a Qualified Conclusion for a
Departure from the Applicable Financial Reporting Framework

Complete Set of General Purpose Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance
with a Financial Reporting Framework Designed to Achieve Fair Presentation (see
paragraph 43(i))

Report on Review of Interim Financial Information

(Appropriate addressee)

Introduction

We have reviewed the accompanying balance sheet of ABC Entity as of March 31,
20X1 and the related statements of income, changes in equity and cash flows for the
three-month period then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory notes." Management is responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of this interim financial information in accordance with [indicate applicable
financial reporting framework]. Our responsibility is to express a conclusion on this
interim financial information based on our review.

Scope of Review

We conducted our review in accordance with International Standard on Review
Engagements 2410, Review of Interim Financial Information Performed by the
Independent Auditor of the Entity.” A review of interim financial information consists of
making inquiries, primarily of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters,
and applying analytical and other review procedures. A review is substantially less in
scope than an audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing
and consequently does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of
all significant matters that might be identified in an audit. Accordingly, we do not
express an audit opinion.

Basis for Qualified Conclusion

Based on information provided to us by management, ABC Entity has excluded from
property and long-term debt certain lease obligations that we believe should be
capitalized to conform with [indicate applicable financial reporting framework]. This
information indicates that if these lease obligations were capitalized at March 31, 20X1,

See footnote 1 of Appendix 4.
See footnote 2 of Appendix 4.
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property would be increased by $ , long-term debt by $ , and net income
and earnings per share would be increased (decreased) by $ , $ ,
$ ,and $ , respectively for the three-month period then ended.
Qualified Conclusion

Based on our review, with the exception of the matter described in the preceding
paragraph, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the
accompanying interim financial information does not give a true and fair view of (or
“does not present fairly, in all material respects, ”) the financial position of the entity as
at March 31, 20X1, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the three-
month period then ended in accordance with [indicate applicable financial reporting
framework, including the reference to the jurisdiction or country of origin of the
financial reporting framework when the financial reporting framework used is not
International Financial Reporting Standards].

AUDITOR

Date
Address
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Other Interim Financial Information (see paragraph 43(j))
Report on Review of Interim Financial Information

(Appropriate addressee)

Introduction

We have reviewed the accompanying [condensed] balance sheet of ABC Entity as of
March 31, 20X1 and the related [condensed] statements of income, changes in equity
and cash flows for the three-month period then ended.’ Management is responsible for
the preparation and presentation of this interim financial information in accordance with
[indicate applicable financial reporting framework]. Our responsibility is to express a
conclusion on this interim financial information based on our review.

Scope of Review

We conducted our review in accordance with International Standard on Review
Engagements 2410, Review of Interim Financial Information Performed by the
Independent Auditor of the Entity.* A review of interim financial information consists of
making inquiries, primarily of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters,
and applying analytical and other review procedures. A review is substantially less in
scope than an audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing
and consequently does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of
all significant matters that might be identified in an audit. Accordingly, we do not
express an audit opinion.

Basis for Qualified Conclusion

Based on information provided to us by management, ABC Entity has excluded from
property and long-term debt certain lease obligations that we believe should be
capitalized to conform with [indicate applicable financial reporting framework]. This
information indicates that if these lease obligations were capitalized at March 31, 20X1,

property would be increased by $ , long-term debt by $ , and net income
and earnings per share would be increased (decreased) by $ ,$ ,
$ ,and $ , respectively for the three-month period then ended.

Qualified Conclusion

Based on our review, with the exception of the matter described in the preceding
paragraph, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the
accompanying interim financial information is not prepared, in all material respects, in
accordance with [indicate applicable financial reporting framework, including a

See footnote 1 of Appendix 4.
See footnote 2 of Appendix 4.
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reference to the jurisdiction or country of origin of the financial reporting framework
when the financial reporting framework used is not International Financial Reporting
Standards].

AUDITOR
Date

Address
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Appendix 6

Examples of Review Reports with a Qualified Conclusion for a
Limitation on Scope Not Imposed By Management

Complete Set of General Purpose Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance
with a Financial Reporting Framework Designed to Achieve Fair Presentation (see
paragraph 43(i))

Report on Review of Interim Financial Information

(Appropriate addressee)

Introduction

We have reviewed the accompanying balance sheet of ABC Entity as of March 31,
20X1 and the related statements of income, changes in equity and cash flows for the
three-month period then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory notes." Management is responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of this interim financial information in accordance with [indicate applicable
financial reporting framework]. Our responsibility is to express a conclusion on this
interim financial information based on our review.

Scope of Review

Except as explained in the following paragraph, we conducted our review in accordance
with International Standard on Review Engagements 2410, Review of Interim Financial
Information Performed by the Independent Auditor of the Entity.* A review of interim
financial information consists of making inquiries, primarily of persons responsible for
financial and accounting matters, and applying analytical and other review procedures.
A review is substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with
International Standards on Auditing and consequently does not enable us to obtain
assurance that we would become aware of all significant matters that might be identified
in an audit. Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion.

Basis for Qualified Conclusion

Asaresult of a fire in a branch office on (date) that destroyed its accounts receivable records,
we were unable to complete our review of accounts receivable totaling $ included
in the interim financial information. The entity is in the process of reconstructing these
records and is uncertain as to whether these records will support the amount shown above

See footnote 1 of Appendix 4.
See footnote 2 of Appendix 4.
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and the related allowance for uncollectible accounts. Had we been able to complete our
review of accounts receivable, matters might have come to our attention indicating that
adjustments might be necessary to the interim financial information.

Qualified Conclusion

Except for the adjustments to the interim financial information that we might have
become aware of had it not been for the situation described above, based on our review,
nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the accompanying
interim financial information does not give a true and fair view of (or “does not present
fairly, in all material respects,”) the financial position of the entity as at March 31,
20X1, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the three-month period
then ended in accordance with [indicate applicable financial reporting framework,
including a reference to the jurisdiction or country of origin of the financial reporting
framework when the financial reporting framework used is not International Financial
Reporting Standards].

AUDITOR
Date
Address
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Other Interim Financial Information (see paragraph 43(j))
Report on Review of Interim Financial Information

(Appropriate addressee)

Introduction

We have reviewed the accompanying [condensed] balance sheet of ABC Entity as of
March 31, 20X1 and the related [condensed] statements of income, changes in equity
and cash flows for the three-month period then ended.’ Management is responsible for
the preparation and presentation of this interim financial information in accordance with
[indicate applicable financial reporting framework]. Our responsibility is to express a
conclusion on this interim financial information based on our review.

Scope of Review

Except as explained in the following paragraph, we conducted our review in accordance
with International Standards on Review Engagements 2410, Review of Interim Financial
Information Performed by the Auditor of the Entity.* A review of interim financial
information consists of making inquiries, primarily of persons responsible for financial
and accounting matters, and applying analytical and other review procedures. A review
is substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing and consequently does not enable us to obtain assurance that we
would become aware of all significant matters that might be identified in an audit.
Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion.

Basis for Qualified Conclusion

As aresult of a fire in a branch office on (date) that destroyed its accounts receivable records,
we were unable to complete our review of accounts receivable totaling $ included
in the interim financial information. The entity is in the process of reconstructing these
records and is uncertain as to whether these records will support the amount shown above
and the related allowance for uncollectible accounts. Had we been able to complete our
review of accounts receivable, matters might have come to our attention indicating that
adjustments might be necessary to the interim financial information.

Qualified Conclusion

Except for the adjustments to the interim financial information that we might have
become aware of had it not been for the situation described above, based on our review,
nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the accompanying
interim financial information is not prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with

See footnote 1 of Appendix 4.
See footnote 2 of Appendix 4.
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[indicate applicable financial reporting framework, including a reference to the
jurisdiction or country of origin of the financial reporting framework when the financial
reporting framework used is not International Financial Reporting Standards].

AUDITOR
Date

Address
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Appendix 7

Examples of Review Reports with an Adverse Conclusion for a
Departure from the Applicable Financial Reporting Framework

Complete Set of General Purpose Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance
with a Financial Reporting Framework Designed to Achieve Fair Presentation (see
paragraph 43(i))

Report on Review of Interim Financial Information

(Appropriate addressee)

Introduction

We have reviewed the accompanying balance sheet of ABC Entity as of March 31,
20X1 and the related statements of income, changes in equity and cash flows for the
three-month period then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory notes." Management is responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of this interim financial information in accordance with [indicate applicable
financial reporting framework]. Our responsibility is to express a conclusion on this
interim financial information based on our review.

Scope of Review

We conducted our review in accordance with International Standard on Review
Engagements 2410, Review of Interim Financial Information Performed by the Auditor
of the Entity.* A review of interim financial information consists of making inquiries,
primarily of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters, and applying
analytical and other review procedures. A review is substantially less in scope than an
audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing and
consequently does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all
significant matters that might be identified in an audit. Accordingly, we do not express
an audit opinion.

Basis for Adverse Conclusion

Commencing this period, management of the entity ceased to consolidate the financial
statements of its subsidiary companies since management considers consolidation to be
inappropriate because of the existence of new substantial non-controlling interests. This
is not in accordance with [indicate applicable financial reporting framework, including a

See footnote 1 of Appendix 4.
See footnote 2 of Appendix 4.
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reference to the jurisdiction or country of origin of the financial reporting framework
when the financial reporting framework used is not International Financial Reporting
Standards]. Had consolidated financial statements been prepared, virtually every
account in the interim financial information would have been materially different.

Adverse Conclusion

Our review indicates that, because the entity’s investment in subsidiary companies is not
accounted for on a consolidated basis, as described in the preceding paragraph, this
interim financial information does not give a true and fair view of (or “does not present
fairly, in all material respects,”) the financial position of the entity as at March 31,
20X1, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the three-month period
then ended in accordance with [indicate applicable financial reporting framework,
including a reference to the jurisdiction or country of origin of the financial reporting
framework when the financial reporting framework used is not International Financial
Reporting Standards].

AUDITOR

Date
Address
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REVIEW OF INTERIM FINANCIAL INFORMATION PERFORMED
BY THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR OF THE ENTITY

Other Interim Financial Information (see paragraph 43(j))
Report on Review of Interim Financial Information

(Appropriate addressee)

Introduction

We have reviewed the accompanying [condensed] balance sheet of ABC Entity as of
March 31, 20X1 and the related [condensed] statements of income, changes in equity
and cash flows for the three-month period then ended.’ Management is responsible for
the preparation and presentation of this interim financial information in accordance with
[indicate applicable financial reporting framework]. Our responsibility is to express a
conclusion on this interim financial information based on our review.

Scope of Review

We conducted our review in accordance with International Standard on Review
Engagements 2410, Review of Interim Financial Information Performed by the
Independence Auditor of the Entity.* A review of interim financial information consists
of making inquiries, primarily of persons responsible for financial and accounting
matters, and applying analytical and other review procedures. A review is substantially
less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing and consequently does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would
become aware of all significant matters that might be identified in an audit.
Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion.

Basis for Adverse Conclusion

Commencing this period, management of the entity ceased to consolidate the financial
statements of its subsidiary companies since management considers consolidation to be
inappropriate because of the existence of new substantial non-controlling interests. This
is not in accordance with [indicate applicable financial reporting framework, including
the reference to the jurisdiction or country of origin of the financial reporting framework
when the financial reporting framework used is not International Financial Reporting
Standards]. Had consolidated financial statements been prepared, virtually every
account in the interim financial information would have been materially different.

Adverse Conclusion

Our review indicates that, because the entity’s investment in subsidiary companies is not
accounted for on a consolidated basis, as described in the preceding paragraph, this
interim financial information is not prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with

See footnote 1 of Appendix 4.
See footnote 2 of Appendix 4.
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REVIEW OF INTERIM FINANCIAL INFORMATION PERFORMED
BY THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR OF THE ENTITY

[indicate applicable financial reporting framework, including a reference to the
jurisdiction or country of origin of the financial reporting framework when the financial
reporting framework used is not International Financial Reporting Standards].

AUDITOR
Date

Address
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International Standard on Assurance Engagements (ISAE) 3000, Assurance
Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information,
should be read in the context of the Preface to the International Standards on Quality
Control, Auditing, Review, Other Assurance and Related Services, which sets out the
application and authority of ISAEs.
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Introduction

1.

The purpose of this International Standard on Assurance Engagements (ISAE)
is to establish basic principles and essential procedures for, and to provide
guidance to, professional accountants in public practice (for purposes of this
ISAE referred to as “practitioners”) for the performance of assurance
engagements other than audits or reviews of historical financial information
covered by International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) or International
Standards on Review Engagements (ISREs).

This ISAE uses the terms “reasonable assurance engagement” and “limited
assurance engagement” to distinguish between the two types of assurance
engagement a practitioner is permitted to perform. The objective of a
reasonable assurance engagement is a reduction in assurance engagement risk
to an acceptably low level in the circumstances of the engagement' as the basis
for a positive form of expression of the practitioner’s conclusion. The objective
of a limited assurance engagement is a reduction in assurance engagement risk
to a level that is acceptable in the circumstances of the engagement, but where
that risk is greater than for a reasonable assurance engagement, as the basis for
a negative form of expression of the practitioner’s conclusion.

Relationship with the Assurance Framework, Other ISAEs, ISAs and ISREs

3.

The practitioner should comply with this ISAE and other relevant ISAEs
when performing an assurance engagement other than an audit or review
of historical financial information covered by ISAs or ISREs. This ISAE is
to be read in the context of the International Framework for Assurance
Engagements (the Assurance Framework), which defines and describes the
elements and objectives of an assurance engagement, and identifies those
engagements to which ISAEs apply. This ISAE has been written for general
application to assurance engagements other than audits or reviews of historical
financial information covered by ISAs or ISREs. Other ISAEs may relate to
topics that apply to all subject matters or be subject matter specific. Although
ISAs and ISREs do not apply to engagements covered by ISAEs, they may
nevertheless provide guidance to practitioners.

Ethical Requirements

4.

The practitioner should comply with the requirements of Parts A and B of
the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, issued by the
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code).

Engagement circumstances include the terms of the engagement, including whether it is a reasonable
assurance engagement or a limited assurance engagement, the characteristics of the subject matter, the
criteria to be used, the needs of the intended users, relevant characteristics of the responsible party and
its environment, and other matters, for example events, transactions, conditions and practices, that may
have a significant effect on the engagement.

ISAE 3000
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The IESBA Code provides a framework of principles that members of assurance
teams, firms and network firms use to identify threats to independence,” evaluate
the significance of those threats and, if the threats are other than clearly
insignificant, identify and apply safeguards to eliminate the threats or reduce them
to an acceptable level, such that independence of mind and independence in
appearance are not compromised.

Quality Control

6.

The practitioner should implement quality control procedures that are
applicable to the individual engagement. Under International Standard on
Quality Control (ISQC) 1, Quality Control for Firms that Perform Audits and
Reviews of Historical Financial Information, and Other Assurance and Related
Services Engagements,” a firm of professional accountants has an obligation to
establish a system of quality control designed to provide it with reasonable
assurance that the firm and its personnel comply with professional standards and
regulatory and legal requirements, and that the assurance reports issued by the
firm or engagement partners are appropriate in the circumstances. In addition,
elements of quality control that are relevant to an individual engagement include
leadership responsibilities for quality on the engagement, ethical requirements,
acceptance and continuance of client relationships and specific engagements,
assignment of engagement teams, engagement performance, and monitoring.

Engagement Acceptance and Continuance

7.

The practitioner should accept (or continue where applicable) an
assurance engagement only if the subject matter is the responsibility of a
party other than the intended users or the practitioner. As indicated in
paragraph 27 of the Assurance Framework, the responsible party can be one of
the intended users, but not the only one. Acknowledgement by the responsible
party provides evidence that the appropriate relationship exists, and also
establishes a basis for a common understanding of the responsibility of each
party. A written acknowledgement is the most appropriate form of
documenting the responsible party’s understanding. In the absence of an
acknowledgement of responsibility, the practitioner considers:

If a professional accountant not in public practice, for example an internal auditor, applies ISAEs, and
(a) the Assurance Framework or ISAEs are referred to in the professional accountant’s report; and (b) the
professional accountant or other members of the assurance team and, when applicable, the professional
accountant’s employer, are not independent of the entity in respect of which the assurance engagement is
being performed, the lack of independence and the nature of the relationship(s) with the assurance client
are prominently disclosed in the professional accountant’s report. Also, that report does not include the
word “independent” in its title, and the purpose and users of the report are restricted.

ISQC 1, Quality Control for Firms that Perform Audits and Reviews of Historical Financial
Information, and Other Assurance and Related Services Engagements, was issued in February 2004.
Systems of quality control in compliance with ISQC 1 are required to be established by June 15, 2005.
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(a) Whether it is appropriate to accept the engagement. Accepting it may
be appropriate when, for example, other sources, such as legislation or
a contract, indicate responsibility; and

(b) Ifthe engagement is accepted, whether to disclose these circumstances
in the assurance report.

The practitioner should accept (or continue where applicable) an
assurance engagement only if, on the basis of a preliminary knowledge of
the engagement circumstances, nothing comes to the attention of the
practitioner to indicate that the requirements of the IESBA Code or of the
ISAEs will not be satisfied. The practitioner considers the matters in
paragraph 17 of the Assurance Framework and does not accept the engagement
unless it exhibits all the characteristics required in that paragraph. Also, if the
party engaging the practitioner (the “engaging party”) is not the responsible
party, the practitioner considers the effect of this on access to records,
documentation and other information the practitioner may require to complete
the engagement.

The practitioner should accept (or continue where applicable) an
assurance engagement only if the practitioner is satisfied that those
persons who are to perform the engagement collectively possess the
necessary professional competencies. A practitioner may be requested to
perform assurance engagements on a wide range of subject matters. Some
subject matters may require specialized skills and knowledge beyond those
ordinarily possessed by an individual practitioner (see paragraphs 26-32).

Agreeing on the Terms of the Engagement

10.

11.

The practitioner should agree on the terms of the engagement with the
engaging party. To avoid misunderstandings, the agreed terms are recorded in
an engagement letter or other suitable form of contract. If the engaging party is
not the responsible party, the nature and content of an engagement letter or
contract may vary. The existence of a legislative mandate may satisfy the
requirement to agree on the terms of the engagement. Even in those situations an
engagement letter may be useful for both the practitioner and engaging party.

A practitioner should consider the appropriateness of a request, made
before the completion of an assurance engagement, to change the
engagement to a non-assurance engagement or from a reasonable
assurance engagement to a limited assurance engagement, and should not
agree to a change without reasonable justification. A change in
circumstances that affects the intended wusers’ requirements, or a
misunderstanding concerning the nature of the engagement, ordinarily will
justify a request for a change in the engagement. If such a change is made, the
practitioner does not disregard evidence that was obtained prior to the change.
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Planning and Performing the Engagement

12.

13.

14.

The practitioner should plan the engagement so that it will be performed
effectively. Planning involves developing an overall strategy for the scope,
emphasis, timing and conduct of the engagement, and an engagement plan,
consisting of a detailed approach for the nature, timing and extent of evidence-
gathering procedures to be performed and the reasons for selecting them. Adequate
planning helps to devote appropriate attention to important areas of the
engagement, identify potential problems on a timely basis and properly organize
and manage the engagement in order for it to be performed in an effective and
efficient manner. Adequate planning also assists the practitioner to properly assign
work to engagement team members, and facilitates their direction and supervision
and the review of their work. Further, it assists, where applicable, the coordination
of work done by other practitioners and experts. The nature and extent of planning
activities will vary with the engagement circumstances, for example the size and
complexity of the entity and the practitioner’s previous experience with it.
Examples of the main matters to be considered include:

. The terms of the engagement.

. The characteristics of the subject matter and the identified criteria.

. The engagement process and possible sources of evidence.

. The practitioner’s understanding of the entity and its environment,
including the risks that the subject matter information may be materially
misstated.

. Identification of intended users and their needs, and consideration of

materiality and the components of assurance engagement risk.

. Personnel and expertise requirements, including the nature and extent of
experts’ involvement.

Planning is not a discrete phase, but rather a continual and iterative process
throughout the engagement. As a result of unexpected events, changes in
conditions, or the evidence obtained from the results of evidence-gathering
procedures, the practitioner may need to revise the overall strategy and engagement
plan, and thereby the resulting planned nature, timing and extent of further
procedures.

The practitioner should plan and perform an engagement with an attitude
of professional skepticism recognizing that circumstances may exist that
cause the subject matter information to be materially misstated. An
attitude of professional skepticism means the practitioner makes a critical
assessment, with a questioning mind, of the validity of evidence obtained and
is alert to evidence that contradicts or brings into question the reliability of
documents or representations by the responsible party.
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The practitioner should obtain an understanding of the subject matter
and other engagement circumstances, sufficient to identify and assess the
risks of the subject matter information being materially misstated, and
sufficient to design and perform further evidence-gathering procedures.

Obtaining an understanding of the subject matter and other engagement
circumstances is an essential part of planning and performing an assurance
engagement. That understanding provides the practitioner with a frame of
reference for exercising professional judgment throughout the engagement, for
example when:

. Considering the characteristics of the subject matter;
. Assessing the suitability of criteria;
. Identifying where special consideration may be necessary, for example

factors indicative of fraud, and the need for specialized skills or the
work of an expert;

. Establishing and evaluating the continued appropriateness of quantitative
materiality levels (where appropriate), and considering qualitative
materiality factors;

. Developing expectations for use when performing analytical procedures;

. Designing and performing further evidence-gathering procedures to
reduce assurance engagement risk to an appropriate level; and

. Evaluating evidence, including the reasonableness of the responsible
party’s oral and written representations.

The practitioner uses professional judgment to determine the extent of the
understanding required of the subject matter and other engagement
circumstances. The practitioner considers whether the understanding is
sufficient to assess the risks that the subject matter information may be
materially misstated. The practitioner ordinarily has a lesser depth of
understanding than the responsible party.

g the Appropriateness of the Subject Matter

The practitioner should assess the appropriateness of the subject matter.
An appropriate subject matter has the characteristics listed in paragraph 33 of
the Assurance Framework. The practitioner also identifies those characteristics
of the subject matter that are particularly relevant to the intended users, which
are to be described in the assurance report. As indicated in paragraph 17 of the
Framework, a practitioner does not accept an assurance engagement unless the
practitioner’s preliminary knowledge of the engagement circumstances
indicates that the subject matter is appropriate. After accepting the
engagement, however, if the practitioner concludes that the subject matter is
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not appropriate, the practitioner expresses a qualified or adverse conclusion or
a disclaimer of conclusion. In some cases the practitioner considers
withdrawing from the engagement.

Assessing the Suitability of the Criteria

19.

20.

21.

The practitioner should assess the suitability of the criteria to evaluate or
measure the subject matter. Suitable criteria have the characteristics listed in
paragraph 36 of the Assurance Framework. As indicated in paragraph 17 of the
Framework, a practitioner does not accept an assurance engagement unless the
practitioner’s preliminary knowledge of the engagement circumstances indicates
that the criteria to be used are suitable. After accepting the engagement, however, if
the practitioner concludes that the criteria are not suitable, the practitioner
expresses a qualified or adverse conclusion or a disclaimer of conclusion. In some
cases the practitioner considers withdrawing from the engagement.

Paragraph 37 of the Assurance Framework indicates that criteria can either be
established or specifically developed. Ordinarily, established criteria are suitable
when they are relevant to the needs of the intended users. When established
criteria exist for a subject matter, specific users may agree to other criteria for
their specific purposes. For example, various frameworks can be used as
established criteria for evaluating the effectiveness of internal control. Specific
users may, however, develop a more detailed set of criteria that meet their
specific needs in relation to, for example, prudential supervision. In such cases,
the assurance report:

(a)  Notes, when itis relevant to the circumstances of the engagement, that the
criteria are not embodied in laws or regulations, or issued by authorized or
recognized bodies of experts that follow a transparent due process; and

(b) States that it is only for the use of the specific users and for their purposes.

For some subject matters, it is likely that no established criteria exist. In those
cases, criteria are specifically developed. The practitioner considers whether
specifically developed criteria result in an assurance report that is misleading
to the intended users. The practitioner attempts to have the intended users or
the engaging party acknowledge that specifically developed criteria are
suitable for the intended users’ purposes. The practitioner considers how the
absence of such an acknowledgement affects what is to be done to assess the
suitability of the identified criteria, and the information provided about the
criteria in the assurance report.

Materiality and Assurance Engagement Risk

22.

The practitioner should consider materiality and assurance engagement
risk when planning and performing an assurance engagement.
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The practitioner considers materiality when determining the nature, timing and
extent of evidence-gathering procedures, and when evaluating whether the
subject matter information is free of misstatement. Considering materiality
requires the practitioner to understand and assess what factors might influence
the decisions of the intended users. For example, when the identified criteria
allow for variations in the presentation of the subject matter information, the
practitioner considers how the adopted presentation might influence the
decisions of the intended users. Materiality is considered in the context of
quantitative and qualitative factors, such as relative magnitude, the nature and
extent of the effect of these factors on the evaluation or measurement of the
subject matter, and the interests of the intended users. The assessment of
materiality and the relative importance of quantitative and qualitative factors in
a particular engagement are matters for the practitioner’s judgment.

The practitioner should reduce assurance engagement risk to an acceptably
low level in the circumstances of the engagement. In a reasonable assurance
engagement, the practitioner reduces assurance engagement risk to an acceptably
low level in the circumstances of the engagement to obtain reasonable assurance as
the basis for a positive form of expression of the practitioner’s conclusion. The
level of assurance engagement risk is higher in a limited assurance engagement
than in a reasonable assurance engagement because of the different nature, timing
or extent of evidence-gathering procedures. However, in a limited assurance
engagement, the combination of the nature, timing, and extent of evidence-
gathering procedures is at least sufficient for the practitioner to obtain a meaningful
level of assurance as the basis for a negative form of expression. To be meaningful,
the level of assurance obtained is likely to enhance the intended users’ confidence
about the subject matter information to a degree that is clearly more than
inconsequential.

Paragraph 49 of the Assurance Framework indicates that, in general, assurance
engagement risk comprises inherent risk, control risk and detection risk. The
degree to which the practitioner considers each of these components is affected by
the engagement circumstances, in particular the nature of the subject matter and
whether a reasonable assurance or a limited assurance engagement is being
performed.

Using the Work of an Expert

26.

27.

ISAE 3000

When the work of an expert is used in the collection and evaluation of
evidence, the practitioner and the expert should, on a combined basis,
possess adequate skill and knowledge regarding the subject matter and
the criteria for the practitioner to determine that sufficient appropriate
evidence has been obtained.

The subject matter and related criteria of some assurance engagements may include
aspects requiring specialized knowledge and skills in the collection and evaluation
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of evidence. In these situations, the practitioner may decide to use the work of
persons from other professional disciplines, referred to as experts, who have the
required knowledge and skills. This ISAE does not provide guidance with respect
to using the work of an expert for engagements where there is joint responsibility
and reporting by a practitioner and one or more experts.

Due care is a required professional quality for all individuals, including experts,
involved in an assurance engagement. Persons involved in assurance engagements
will have different responsibilities assigned to them. The extent of proficiency
required in performing those engagements will vary with the nature of their
responsibilities. While experts do not require the same proficiency as the
practitioner in performing all aspects of an assurance engagement, the practitioner
determines that the experts have a sufficient understanding of the ISAEs to enable
them to relate the work assigned to them to the engagement objective.

The practitioner adopts quality control procedures that address the responsibility of
each person performing the assurance engagement, including the work of any
experts who are not professional accountants, to ensure compliance with this ISAE
and other relevant ISAEs in the context of their responsibilities.

The practitioner should be involved in the engagement and understand the
work for which an expert is used, to an extent that is sufficient to enable the
practitioner to accept responsibility for the conclusion on the subject matter
information. The practitioner considers the extent to which it is reasonable to use
the work of an expert in forming the practitioner’s conclusion.

The practitioner is not expected to possess the same specialized knowledge and
skills as the expert. The practitioner has however, sufficient skill and knowledge to:

(a) Define the objectives of the assigned work and how this work relates to the
objective of the engagement;

(b) Consider the reasonableness of the assumptions, methods and source
data used by the expert; and

(c)  Consider the reasonableness of the expert’s findings in relation to the
engagement circumstances and the practitioner’s conclusion.

The practitioner should obtain sufficient appropriate evidence that the
expert’s work is adequate for the purposes of the assurance engagement. In
assessing the sufficiency and appropriateness of the evidence provided by the
expert, the practitioner evaluates:

(a) The professional competence, including experience, and objectivity of
the expert;

(b) The reasonableness of the assumptions, methods and source data used by
the expert; and
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(¢)  Thereasonableness and significance of the expert’s findings in relation to
the circumstances of the engagement and the practitioner’s conclusion.

ing Evidence

The practitioner should obtain sufficient appropriate evidence on which to
base the conclusion. Sufficiency is the measure of the quantity of evidence.
Appropriateness is the measure of the quality of evidence; that is, its relevance
and its reliability. The practitioner considers the relationship between the cost of
obtaining evidence and the usefulness of the information obtained. However, the
matter of difficulty or expense involved is not in itself a valid basis for omitting an
evidence-gathering procedure for which there is no alternative. The practitioner
uses professional judgment and exercises professional skepticism in evaluating the
quantity and quality of evidence, and thus its sufficiency and appropriateness, to
support the assurance report.

An assurance engagement rarely involves the authentication of documentation, nor
is the practitioner trained as or expected to be an expert in such authentication.
However, the practitioner considers the reliability of the information to be used as
evidence, for example photocopies, facsimiles, filmed, digitized or other electronic
documents, including consideration of controls over their preparation and
maintenance where relevant.

Sufficient appropriate evidence in a reasonable assurance engagement is obtained
as part of an iterative, systematic engagement process involving:

(a) Obtaining an understanding of the subject matter and other engagement
circumstances which, depending on the subject matter, includes obtaining
an understanding of internal control;

(b) Based on that understanding, assessing the risks that the subject matter
information may be materially misstated;

©) Responding to assessed risks, including developing overall responses, and
determining the nature, timing and extent of further procedures;

(d) Performing further procedures clearly linked to the identified risks,
using a combination of inspection, observation, confirmation, re-
calculation, re-performance, analytical procedures and inquiry. Such
further procedures involve substantive procedures, including obtaining
corroborating information from sources independent of the entity, and
depending on the nature of the subject matter, tests of the operating
effectiveness of controls; and

(e) Evaluating the sufficiency and appropriateness of evidence.

“Reasonable assurance” is less than absolute assurance. Reducing assurance
engagement risk to zero is very rarely attainable or cost beneficial as a result of
factors such as the following:
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. The use of selective testing.
. The inherent limitations of internal control.
. The fact that much of the evidence available to the practitioner is persuasive

rather than conclusive.

. The use of judgment in gathering and evaluating evidence and forming
conclusions based on that evidence.

. In some cases, the characteristics of the subject matter.

Both reasonable assurance and limited assurance engagements require the
application of assurance skills and techniques and the gathering of sufficient
appropriate evidence as part of an iterative, systematic engagement process that
includes obtaining an understanding of the subject matter and other engagement
circumstances. The nature, timing and extent of procedures for gathering sufficient
appropriate evidence in a limited assurance engagement are, however, deliberately
limited relative to a reasonable assurance engagement. For some subject matters,
there may be specific ISAEs to provide guidance on procedures for gathering
sufficient appropriate evidence for a limited assurance engagement. In the absence
of a specific ISAE, the procedures for gathering sufficient appropriate evidence
will vary with the circumstances of the engagement, in particular: the subject
matter, and the needs of the intended users and the engaging party, including
relevant time and cost constraints. For both reasonable assurance and limited
assurance engagements, if the practitioner becomes aware of a matter that leads the
practitioner to question whether a material modification should be made to the
subject matter information, the practitioner pursues the matter by performing other
procedures sufficient to enable the practitioner to report.

Representations by the Responsible Party

38.

39.

The practitioner should obtain representations from the responsible party, as
appropriate. Written confirmation of oral representations reduces the possibility
of misunderstandings between the practitioner and the responsible party. In
particular, the practitioner requests from the responsible party a written
representation that evaluates or measures the subject matter against the identified
criteria, whether or not it is to be made available as an assertion to the intended
users. Having no written representation may result in a qualified conclusion or a
disclaimer of conclusion on the basis of a limitation on the scope of the
engagement. The practitioner may also include a restriction on the use of the
assurance report.

During an assurance engagement, the responsible party may make representations
to the practitioner, either unsolicited or in response to specific inquiries. When such
representations relate to matters that are material to the subject matter’s evaluation
or measurement, the practitioner:
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(a) Evaluates their reasonableness and consistency with other evidence
obtained, including other representations;

(b)  Considers whether those making the representations can be expected to
be well informed on the particular matters; and

(©) Obtains corroborative evidence in the case of a reasonable assurance
engagement. The practitioner may also seek corroborative evidence in
the case of a limited assurance engagement.

Representations by the responsible party cannot replace other evidence the
practitioner could reasonably expect to be available. An inability to obtain
sufficient appropriate evidence regarding a matter that has, or may have, a material
effect on the evaluation or measurement of the subject matter, when such evidence
would ordinarily be available, constitutes a limitation on the scope of the
engagement, even if a representation from the responsible party has been received
on the matter.

Considering Subsequent Events

41.

The practitioner should consider the effect on the subject matter information
and on the assurance report of events up to the date of the assurance report.
The extent of consideration of subsequent events depends on the potential for such
events to affect the subject matter information and to affect the appropriateness of
the practitioner’s conclusion. Consideration of subsequent events in some
assurance engagements may not be relevant because of the nature of the subject
matter. For example, when the engagement requires a conclusion about the
accuracy of a statistical return at a point in time, events occurring between that
point in time and the date of the assurance report, may not affect the conclusion, or
require disclosure in the return or the assurance report.

Documentation

42.

43.

44,

The practitioner should document matters that are significant in
providing evidence that supports the assurance report and that the
engagement was performed in accordance with ISAEs.

Documentation includes a record of the practitioner’s reasoning on all significant
matters that require the exercise of judgment, and related conclusions. The
existence of difficult questions of principle or judgment, calls for the
documentation to include the relevant facts that were known by the practitioner at
the time the conclusion was reached.

It is neither necessary nor practical to document every matter the practitioner
considers. In applying professional judgment to assessing the extent of
documentation to be prepared and retained, the practitioner may consider what is
necessary to provide an understanding of the work performed and the basis of the
principal decisions taken (but not the detailed aspects of the engagement) to
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another practitioner who has no previous experience with the engagement. That
other practitioner may only be able to obtain an understanding of detailed aspects
of the engagement by discussing them with the practitioner who prepared the
documentation.

Preparing the Assurance Report

45.

46.

47.

48.

The practitioner should conclude whether sufficient appropriate evidence has
been obtained to support the conclusion expressed in the assurance report. In
developing the conclusion, the practitioner considers all relevant evidence
obtained, regardless of whether it appears to corroborate or to contradict the subject
matter information.

The assurance report should be in writing and should contain a clear
expression of the practitioner’s conclusion about the subject matter
information.

Oral and other forms of expressing conclusions can be misunderstood without the
support of a written report. For this reason, the practitioner does not report orally or
by use of symbols without also providing a definitive written assurance report that
is readily available whenever the oral report is provided or the symbol is used. For
example, a symbol could be hyperlinked to a written assurance report on the
Internet.

This ISAE does not require a standardized format for reporting on all
assurance engagements. Instead it identifies in paragraph 49 the basic elements
the assurance report is to include. Assurance reports are tailored to the specific
engagement circumstances. The practitioner chooses a “short form” or “long
form” style of reporting to facilitate effective communication to the intended
users. “Short-form” reports ordinarily include only the basic elements. “Long-
form” reports often describe in detail the terms of the engagement, the criteria
being used, findings relating to particular aspects of the engagement and, in
some cases, recommendations, as well as the basic elements. Any findings and
recommendations are clearly separated from the practitioner’s conclusion on
the subject matter information, and the wording used in presenting them makes
it clear they are not intended to affect the practitioner’s conclusion. The
practitioner may use headings, paragraph numbers, typographical devices, for
example the bolding of text, and other mechanisms to enhance the clarity and
readability of the assurance report.
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Assurance Report Content

49. The assurance report should include the following basic elements:

(@)

(b)

©

(d)

A title that clearly indicates the report is an independent assurance
report:* an appropriate title helps to identify the nature of the assurance
report, and to distinguish it from reports issued by others, such as those
who do not have to comply with the same ethical requirements as the
practitioner.

An addressee: an addressee identifies the party or parties to whom the
assurance report is directed. Whenever practical, the assurance report is
addressed to all the intended users, but in some cases there may be other
intended users.

An identification and description of the subject matter information
and, when appropriate, the subject matter: this includes for example:

J The point in time or period of time to which the evaluation or
measurement of the subject matter relates;

o Where applicable, the name of the entity or component of the
entity to which the subject matter relates; and

J An explanation of those characteristics of the subject matter or the
subject matter information of which the intended users should be
aware, and how such characteristics may influence the precision of
the evaluation or measurement of the subject matter against the
identified criteria, or the persuasiveness of available evidence. For
example:

o The degree to which the subject matter information is
qualitative versus quantitative, objective versus subjective,
or historical versus prospective.

o Changes in the subject matter or other engagement
circumstances that affect the comparability of the subject
matter information from one period to the next.

When the practitioner’s conclusion is worded in terms of the responsible
party’s assertion, that assertion is appended to the assurance report,
reproduced in the assurance report or referenced therein to a source that is
available to the intended users.

Identification of the criteria: the assurance report identifies the
criteria against which the subject matter was evaluated or measured so
the intended users can understand the basis for the practitioner’s

See footnote 2.
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conclusion. The assurance report may include the criteria, or refer to
them if they are contained in an assertion prepared by the responsible
party that is available to the intended users or if they are otherwise
available from a readily accessible source. The practitioner considers
whether it is relevant to the circumstances, to disclose:

. The source of the criteria, and whether or not the criteria are
embodied in laws or regulations, or issued by authorized or
recognized bodies of experts that follow a transparent due
process, that is, whether they are established criteria in the
context of the subject matter (and if they are not, a description
of why they are considered suitable);

° Measurement methods used when the criteria allow for choice
between a number of methods;

. Any significant interpretations made in applying the criteria in
the engagement circumstances; and

. Whether there have been any changes in the measurement methods
used.

(e) Where appropriate, a description of any significant, inherent
limitation associated with the evaluation or measurement of the
subject matter against the criteria: while in some cases, inherent
limitations can be expected to be well understood by readers of an
assurance report, in other cases it may be appropriate to make explicit
reference in the assurance report. For example, in an assurance report
related to the effectiveness of internal control, it may be appropriate to note
that the historic evaluation of effectiveness is not relevant to future periods
due to the risk that internal control may become inadequate because of
changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with policies or
procedures may deteriorate.

® When the criteria used to evaluate or measure the subject matter are
available only to specific intended users, or are relevant only to a
specific purpose, a statement restricting the use of the assurance
report to those intended users or that purpose: in addition, whenever
the assurance report is intended only for specific intended users or a
specific purpose, the practitioner considers stating this fact in the assurance
report.” This provides a caution to readers that the assurance report is
restricted to specific users or for specific purposes.

While an assurance report may be restricted whenever it is intended only for specified intended users or
for a specific purpose, the absence of a restriction regarding a particular reader or purpose does not itself
indicate that a legal responsibility is owed by the practitioner in relation to that reader or for that
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A statement to identify the responsible party and to describe the
responsible party’s and the practitioner’s responsibilities: this informs
the intended users that the responsible party is responsible for the subject
matter in the case of a direct reporting engagement, or the subject matter
information in the case of an assertion-based engagement,® and that the
practitioner’s role is to independently express a conclusion about the
subject matter information.

A statement that the engagement was performed in accordance
with ISAEs: where there is a subject matter specific ISAE, that ISAE
may require that the assurance report refer specifically to it.

A summary of the work performed: the summary will help the intended
users understand the nature of the assurance conveyed by the assurance
report. ISA 700, The Auditor’s Report on Financial Statements,” and ISRE
2400, Engagements to Review Financial Statements, provide a guide to the
appropriate type of summary.

Where no specific ISAE provides guidance on evidence-gathering
procedures for a particular subject matter, the summary might include a
more detailed description of the work performed.

Because in a limited assurance engagement an appreciation of the nature,
timing, and extent of evidence-gathering procedures performed is essential
to understanding the assurance conveyed by a conclusion expressed in the
negative form, the summary of the work performed:

(1) Is ordinarily more detailed than for a reasonable assurance
engagement and identifies the limitations on the nature, timing,
and extent of evidence-gathering procedures. It may be
appropriate to indicate procedures that were not performed that
would ordinarily be performed in a reasonable assurance
engagement; and

(i)  States that the evidence-gathering procedures are more limited than
for a reasonable assurance engagement, and that therefore less
assurance is obtained than in a reasonable assurance engagement.

purpose. Whether a legal responsibility is owed will depend on the legal circumstances of each case and
the relevant jurisdiction.

Refer to paragraph 10 of the Assurance Framework for an explanation of the distinction between a direct
engagement and an assertion-based engagement.

ISA 700, The Auditor s Report on Financial Statements, was withdrawn in December 2006 when ISA
700, The Independent Auditor’s Report on a Complete Set of General Purpose Financial Statements,
became effective.
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The practitioner’s conclusion: where the subject matter information is
made up of a number of aspects, separate conclusions may be provided on
each aspect. While not all such conclusions need to relate to the same level
of evidence-gathering procedures, each conclusion is expressed in the form
that is appropriate to either a reasonable-assurance or a limited assurance
engagement.

Where appropriate, the conclusion should inform the intended users
of the context in which the practitioner’s conclusion is to be read: the
practitioner’s conclusion may, for example, include wording such as:
“This conclusion has been formed on the basis of, and is subject to the
inherent limitations outlined elsewhere in this independent assurance
report.” This would be appropriate, for example, when the report includes
an explanation of particular characteristics of the subject matter of which
the intended users should be aware.

In a reasonable assurance engagement, the conclusion should be
expressed in the positive form: for example: “In our opinion internal
control is effective, in all material respects, based on XYZ criteria” or “In
our opinion the responsible party’s assertion that internal control is
effective, in all material respects, based on XYZ criteria, is fairly stated.”

In a limited assurance engagement, the conclusion should be
expressed in the negative form: for example: “Based on our work
described in this report, nothing has come to our attention that causes
us to believe that internal control is not effective, in all material
respects, based on XYZ criteria” or “Based on our work described in
this report, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe
that the responsible party’s assertion that internal control is effective,
in all material respects, based on XYZ criteria, is not fairly stated.”

Where the practitioner expresses a conclusion that is other than
unqualified, the assurance report should contain a clear
description of all the reasons: (also see paragraphs 51-53).

The assurance report date: this informs the intended users that the
practitioner has considered the effect on the subject matter information
and on the assurance report of events that occurred up to that date.

The name of the firm or the practitioner, and a specific location,
which ordinarily is the city where the practitioner maintains the office
that has responsibility for the engagement: this informs the intended
users of the individual or firm assuming responsibility for the engagement.

The practitioner may expand the assurance report to include other information
and explanations that are not intended to affect the practitioner’s conclusion.
Examples include: details of the qualifications and experience of the
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practitioner and others involved with the engagement, disclosure of materiality
levels, findings relating to particular aspects of the engagement, and
recommendations. Whether to include any such information depends on its
significance to the needs of the intended users. Additional information is
clearly separated from the practitioner’s conclusion and worded in such a
manner so as not to affect that conclusion.

Qualified Conclusions, Adverse Conclusions and Disclaimers of Conclusion

51.

The practitioner should not express an unqualified conclusion when the
following circumstances exist and, in the practitioner’s judgment, the
effect of the matter is or may be material:

(a)

(b)

©

There is a limitation on the scope of the practitioner’s work, that
is, circumstances prevent, or the responsible party or the engaging
party imposes a restriction that prevents, the practitioner from
obtaining evidence required to reduce assurance engagement risk
to the appropriate level. The practitioner should express a
qualified conclusion or a disclaimer of conclusion;

In those cases where:

(i)  The practitioner’s conclusion is worded in terms of the
responsible party’s assertion, and that assertion is not fairly
stated, in all material respects; or

(ii))  The practitioner’s conclusion is worded directly in terms of
the subject matter and the criteria, and the subject matter
information is materially misstated,®

the practitioner should express a qualified or adverse conclusion; or

When it is discovered, after the engagement has been accepted, that
the criteria are unsuitable or the subject matter is not appropriate for
an assurance engagement. The practitioner should express:

(i) A qualified conclusion or adverse conclusion when the
unsuitable criteria or inappropriate subject matter is likely
to mislead the intended users; or

(ii)) A qualified conclusion or a disclaimer of conclusion in other
cases.

In those direct reporting engagements where the subject matter information is presented only in the
practitioner’s conclusion, and the practitioner concludes that the subject matter does not, in all material respects,
conform with the criteria, for example: “In our opinion, except for [...], internal control is effective, in all
material respects, based on XYZ criteria,” such a conclusion would also be considered to be qualified (or
adverse as appropriate).
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The practitioner should express a qualified conclusion when the effect of a
matter is not so material or pervasive as to require an adverse conclusion
or a disclaimer of conclusion. A qualified conclusion is expressed as being
“except for” the effects of the matter to which the qualification relates.

In those cases where the practitioner’s unqualified conclusion would be
worded in terms of the responsible party’s assertion, and that assertion has
identified and properly described that the subject matter information is
materially misstated, the practitioner either:

(a)  Expresses a qualified or adverse conclusion worded directly in terms of
the subject matter and the criteria; or

(b) If specifically required by the terms of the engagement to word the
conclusion in terms of the responsible party’s assertion, expresses an
unqualified conclusion but emphasizes the matter by specifically
referring to it in the assurance report.

Other Reporting Responsibilities

54.

55.

56.

The practitioner should consider other reporting responsibilities,
including the appropriateness of communicating relevant matters of
governance interest arising from the assurance engagement with those
charged with governance.

In this ISAE, “governance” describes the role of persons entrusted with the
supervision, control and direction of a responsible party.’ Those charged with
governance ordinarily are accountable for ensuring that an entity achieves its
objectives and for reporting to interested parties. If the engaging party is
different from the responsible party it may not be appropriate to communicate
directly with the responsible party or those charged with governance over the
responsible party.

In this ISAE, “relevant matters of governance interest” are those that arise
from the assurance engagement and, in the practitioner’s opinion, are both
important and relevant to those charged with governance. Relevant matters of
governance interest include only those matters that have come to the attention
of the practitioner while performing the assurance engagement. If the terms of
the engagement do not specifically require it, the practitioner is not required to
design procedures for the specific purpose of identifying matters of governance
interest.

In many countries, principles of governance have been developed as a point of reference for establishing
good governance behavior. Such principles often focus on publicly traded companies; they may
however, also serve to improve governance in other forms of entities. There is no single model of good
governance. Governance structures and practices vary from country to country.
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Effective Date

57. This ISAE is effective for assurance engagements where the assurance report is
dated on or after January 1, 2005. Earlier application is permissible.

Public Sector Perspective

1. This ISAE is applicable to all professional accountants in the public sector who
are independent of the entity for which they perform assurance engagements.
Where professional accountants in the public sector are not independent of the
entity for which they perform an assurance engagement, this ISAE should be
applied with particular reference to the guidance in footnotes 2 and 4.
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International Standard on Assurance Engagements (ISAE) 3400, The Examination of
Prospective Financial Information, should be read in the context of the Preface to the
International Standards on Quality Control, Auditing, Review, Other Assurance and
Related Services, which sets out the application and authority of ISAEs.

107 ISAE 3400

ASSURANCE



THE EXAMINATION OF PROSPECTIVE FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Introduction

1.

The purpose of this International Standard on Assurance Engagements (ISAE)
is to establish standards and provide guidance on engagements to examine and
report on prospective financial information including examination procedures
for best-estimate and hypothetical assumptions. This ISAE does not apply to
the examination of prospective financial information expressed in general or
narrative terms, such as that found in management’s discussion and analysis in
an entity’s annual report, though many of the procedures outlined herein may
be suitable for such an examination.

In an engagement to examine prospective financial information, the
auditor should obtain sufficient appropriate evidence as to whether:

(a) Management’s best-estimate assumptions on which the prospective
financial information is based are not unreasonable and, in the case
of hypothetical assumptions, such assumptions are consistent with
the purpose of the information;

(b) The prospective financial information is properly prepared on the
basis of the assumptions;

(c) The prospective financial information is properly presented and all
material assumptions are adequately disclosed, including a clear
indication as to whether they are best-estimate assumptions or
hypothetical assumptions; and

(d The prospective financial information is prepared on a consistent
basis with historical financial statements, using appropriate
accounting principles.

“Prospective financial information” means financial information based on
assumptions about events that may occur in the future and possible actions by
an entity. It is highly subjective in nature and its preparation requires the
exercise of considerable judgment. Prospective financial information can be in
the form of a forecast, a projection or a combination of both, for example, a one
year forecast plus a five year projection.

A “forecast” means prospective financial information prepared on the basis of
assumptions as to future events which management expects to take place and
the actions management expects to take as of the date the information is
prepared (best-estimate assumptions).

A “projection” means prospective financial information prepared on the basis of:

(a) Hypothetical assumptions about future events and management actions
which are not necessarily expected to take place, such as when some
entities are in a start-up phase or are considering a major change in the
nature of operations; or
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(b) A mixture of best-estimate and hypothetical assumptions.

Such information illustrates the possible consequences as of the date the
information is prepared if the events and actions were to occur (a “what-if”
scenario).

Prospective financial information can include financial statements or one or more
elements of financial statements and may be prepared:

(a) As an internal management tool, for example, to assist in evaluating a
possible capital investment; or

(b) For distribution to third parties in, for example:

. A prospectus to provide potential investors with information
about future expectations.

. An annual report to provide information to shareholders,
regulatory bodies and other interested parties.

. A document for the information of lenders which may include,
for example, cash flow forecasts.

Management is responsible for the preparation and presentation of the prospective
financial information, including the identification and disclosure of the assumptions
on which it is based. The auditor may be asked to examine and report on the
prospective financial information to enhance its credibility whether it is intended for
use by third parties or for internal purposes.

The Auditor’s Assurance Regarding Prospective Financial
Information

8.

Prospective financial information relates to events and actions that have not yet
occurred and may not occur. While evidence may be available to support the
assumptions on which the prospective financial information is based, such evidence
is itself generally future oriented and, therefore, speculative in nature, as distinct
from the evidence ordinarily available in the audit of historical financial
information. The auditor is, therefore, not in a position to express an opinion as to
whether the results shown in the prospective financial information will be achieved.

Further, given the types of evidence available in assessing the assumptions on
which the prospective financial information is based, it may be difficult for the
auditor to obtain a level of satisfaction sufficient to provide a positive expression of
opinion that the assumptions are free of material misstatement. Consequently, in
this ISAE, when reporting on the reasonableness of management’s assumptions the
auditor provides only a moderate level of assurance. However, when in the
auditor’s judgment an appropriate level of satisfaction has been obtained, the
auditor is not precluded from expressing positive assurance regarding the
assumptions.
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Acceptance of Engagement

10.

11.

12.

Before accepting an engagement to examine prospective financial information, the
auditor would consider, amongst other things:

. The intended use of the information;
. Whether the information will be for general or limited distribution;
. The nature of the assumptions, that is, whether they are best-estimate or

hypothetical assumptions;
. The elements to be included in the information; and
. The period covered by the information.

The auditor should not accept, or should withdraw from, an engagement when
the assumptions are clearly unrealistic or when the auditor believes that the
prospective financial information will be inappropriate for its intended use.

The auditor and the client should agree on the terms of the engagement. It is in
the interests of both entity and auditor that the auditor sends an engagement letter to
help in avoiding misunderstandings regarding the engagement. An engagement
letter would address the matters in paragraph 10 and set out management’s
responsibilities for the assumptions and for providing the auditor with all relevant
information and source data used in developing the assumptions.

Knowledge of the Business

13.

The auditor should obtain a sufficient level of knowledge of the business to
be able to evaluate whether all significant assumptions required for the
preparation of the prospective financial information have been identified.
The auditor would also need to become familiar with the entity’s process for
preparing prospective financial information, for example, by considering the
following:

. The internal controls over the system used to prepare prospective
financial information and the expertise and experience of those persons
preparing the prospective financial information.

. The nature of the documentation prepared by the entity supporting
management’s assumptions.

. The extent to which statistical, mathematical and computer-assisted
techniques are used.

. The methods used to develop and apply assumptions.

. The accuracy of prospective financial information prepared in prior
periods and the reasons for significant variances.
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The auditor should consider the extent to which reliance on the entity’s
historical financial information is justified. The auditor requires a knowledge
ofthe entity’s historical financial information to assess whether the prospective
financial information has been prepared on a basis consistent with the historical
financial information and to provide a historical yardstick for considering
management’s assumptions. The auditor will need to establish, for example,
whether relevant historical information was audited or reviewed and whether
acceptable accounting principles were used in its preparation.

If the audit or review report on prior period historical financial information was
other than unmodified or if the entity is in a start-up phase, the auditor would
consider the surrounding facts and the effect on the examination of the
prospective financial information.

Period Covered

16.

The auditor should consider the period of time covered by the prospective
financial information. Since assumptions become more speculative as the
length of the period covered increases, as that period lengthens, the ability of
management to make best-estimate assumptions decreases. The period would
not extend beyond the time for which management has a reasonable basis for
the assumptions. The following are some of the factors that are relevant to the
auditor’s consideration of the period of time covered by the prospective
financial information:

. Operating cycle, for example, in the case of a major construction project
the time required to complete the project may dictate the period covered.

. The degree of reliability of assumptions, for example, if the entity is
introducing a new product the prospective period covered could be short
and broken into small segments, such as weeks or months.
Alternatively, if the entity’s sole business is owning a property under
long-term lease, a relatively long prospective period might be
reasonable.

. The needs of users, for example, prospective financial information may
be prepared in connection with an application for a loan for the period
of time required to generate sufficient funds for repayment.
Alternatively, the information may be prepared for investors in
connection with the sale of debentures to illustrate the intended use of
the proceeds in the subsequent period.

Examination Procedures

17.

When determining the nature, timing and extent of examination
procedures, the auditor’s considerations should include:

(a) The likelihood of material misstatement;

111 ISAE 3400

ASSURANCE



18.

19.

20.

21.

22.

23.

24.

THE EXAMINATION OF PROSPECTIVE FINANCIAL INFORMATION

(b) The knowledge obtained during any previous engagements;

() Management’s competence regarding the preparation of
prospective financial information;

(d) The extent to which the prospective financial information is
affected by the management’s judgment; and

(e) The adequacy and reliability of the underlying data.

The auditor would assess the source and reliability of the evidence supporting
management’s best-estimate assumptions. Sufficient appropriate evidence
supporting such assumptions would be obtained from internal and external
sources including consideration of the assumptions in the light of historical
information and an evaluation of whether they are based on plans that are
within the entity’s capacity.

The auditor would consider whether, when hypothetical assumptions are used, all
significant implications of such assumptions have been taken into consideration.
For example, if sales are assumed to grow beyond the entity’s current plant
capacity, the prospective financial information will need to include the necessary
investment in the additional plant capacity or the costs of alternative means of
meeting the anticipated sales, such as subcontracting production.

Although evidence supporting hypothetical assumptions need not be obtained,
the auditor would need to be satisfied that they are consistent with the purpose
of the prospective financial information and that there is no reason to believe
they are clearly unrealistic.

The auditor will need to be satisfied that the prospective financial information
is properly prepared from management’s assumptions by, for example, making
clerical checks such as recomputation and reviewing internal consistency, that
is, the actions management intends to take are compatible with each other and
there are no inconsistencies in the determination of the amounts that are based
on common variables such as interest rates.

The auditor would focus on the extent to which those areas that are particularly
sensitive to variation will have a material effect on the results shown in the
prospective financial information. This will influence the extent to which the
auditor will seek appropriate evidence. It will also influence the auditor’s
evaluation of the appropriateness and adequacy of disclosure.

When engaged to examine one or more elements of prospective financial
information, such as an individual financial statement, it is important that the
auditor consider the interrelationship of other components in the financial
statements.

When any elapsed portion of the current period is included in the prospective
financial information, the auditor would consider the extent to which procedures
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need to be applied to the historical information. Procedures will vary depending on
the circumstances, for example, how much of the prospective period has elapsed.

The auditor should obtain written representations from management
regarding the intended use of the prospective financial information, the
completeness of significant management assumptions and management’s
acceptance of its responsibility for the prospective financial information.

Presentation and Disclosure

26.

When assessing the presentation and disclosure of the prospective financial
information, in addition to the specific requirements of any relevant statutes,
regulations or professional standards, the auditor will need to consider whether:

(a) The presentation of prospective financial information is informative and not
misleading;

(b) The accounting policies are clearly disclosed in the notes to the prospective
financial information;

(c) The assumptions are adequately disclosed in the notes to the prospective
financial information. It needs to be clear whether assumptions represent
management’s best-estimates or are hypothetical and, when assumptions
are made in areas that are material and are subject to a high degree of
uncertainty, this uncertainty and the resulting sensitivity of results needs to
be adequately disclosed;

(d) The date as of which the prospective financial information was prepared is
disclosed. Management needs to confirm that the assumptions are
appropriate as of this date, even though the underlying information may
have been accumulated over a period of time;

(e) The basis of establishing points in a range is clearly indicated and the
range is not selected in a biased or misleading manner when results
shown in the prospective financial information are expressed in terms of
arange; and

§i)] Any change in accounting policy since the most recent historical financial
statements is disclosed, along with the reason for the change and its effect
on the prospective financial information.

Report on Examination of Prospective Financial Information

27.

The report by an auditor on an examination of prospective financial
information should contain the following:

(@)  Title;
(b)  Addressee;

(c)  Identification of the prospective financial information;
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A reference to the ISAE or relevant national standards or practices
applicable to the examination of prospective financial information;

A statement that management is responsible for the prospective
financial information including the assumptions on which it is based;

When applicable, a reference to the purpose and/or restricted
distribution of the prospective financial information;

A statement of negative assurance as to whether the assumptions
provide a reasonable basis for the prospective financial information;

An opinion as to whether the prospective financial information is
properly prepared on the basis of the assumptions and is presented in
accordance with the relevant financial reporting framework;

Appropriate caveats concerning the achievability of the results
indicated by the prospective financial information;

Date of the report which should be the date procedures have been
completed;

Auditor’s address; and
Signature.
Such a report would:

. State whether, based on the examination of the evidence supporting
the assumptions, anything has come to the auditor’s attention which
causes the auditor to believe that the assumptions do not provide a
reasonable basis for the prospective financial information.

. Express an opinion as to whether the prospective financial
information is properly prepared on the basis of the assumptions and
is presented in accordance with the relevant financial reporting
framework.

° State that:

o Actual results are likely to be different from the
prospective financial information since anticipated events
frequently do not occur as expected and the variation
could be material. Likewise, when the prospective
financial information is expressed as a range, it would be
stated that there can be no assurance that actual results
will fall within the range; and

o In the case of a projection, the prospective financial
information has been prepared for (state purpose), using a set
of assumptions that include hypothetical assumptions about
future events and management’s actions that are not
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necessarily expected to occur. Consequently, readers are
cautioned that the prospective financial information is not

used for purposes other than that described.

We have examined the forecast' in accordance with the International
Standard on Assurance Engagements applicable to the examination of
prospective financial information. Management is responsible for the
forecast including the assumptions set out in Note X on which it is
based.

Based on our examination of the evidence supporting the assumptions,
nothing has come to our attention which causes us to believe that these
assumptions do not provide a reasonable basis for the forecast. Further,
in our opinion the forecast is properly prepared on the basis of the
assumptions and is presented in accordance with ....>

Actual results are likely to be different from the forecast since
anticipated events frequently do not occur as expected and the variation
may be material.

The following is an example of an extract from an unmodified report
projection:

We have examined the projection’ in accordance with the International
Standard on Assurance Engagements applicable to the examination of
prospective financial information. Management is responsible for the
projection including the assumptions set out in Note X on which it is
based.

This projection has been prepared for (describe purpose). As the entity
is in a start-up phase the projection has been prepared using a set of
assumptions that include hypothetical assumptions about future events
and management’s actions that are not necessarily expected to occur.
Consequently, readers are cautioned that this projection may not be
appropriate for purposes other than that described above.

Based on our examination of the evidence supporting the assumptions,
nothing has come to our attention which causes us to believe that these
assumptions do not provide a reasonable basis for the projection,

Indicate the relevant financial reporting framework.

The following is an example of an extract from an unmodified report on a
forecast:

on a

Include name of the entity, the period covered by the forecast and provide suitable identification, such as
by reference to page numbers or by identifying the individual statements.

Include name of the entity, the period covered by the projection and provide suitable identification, such
as by reference to page numbers or by identifying the individual statements.
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30.

31.

32.

THE EXAMINATION OF PROSPECTIVE FINANCIAL INFORMATION

assuming that (state or refer to the hypothetical assumptions). Further,
in our opinion the projection is properly prepared on the basis of the
assumptions and is presented in accordance with ....*

Even if the events anticipated under the hypothetical assumptions
described above occur, actual results are still likely to be different
from the projection since other anticipated events frequently do not
occur as expected and the variation may be material.

When the auditor believes that the presentation and disclosure of the
prospective financial information is not adequate, the auditor should
express a qualified or adverse opinion in the report on the prospective
financial information, or withdraw from the engagement as appropriate.
An example would be where financial information fails to disclose adequately
the consequences of any assumptions which are highly sensitive.

When the auditor believes that one or more significant assumptions do not
provide a reasonable basis for the prospective financial information
prepared on the basis of best-estimate assumptions or that one or more
significant assumptions do not provide a reasonable basis for the
prospective financial information given the hypothetical assumptions, the
auditor should either express an adverse opinion in the report on the
prospective financial information, or withdraw from the engagement.

When the examination is affected by conditions that preclude application
of one or more procedures considered necessary in the circumstances, the
auditor should either withdraw from the engagement or disclaim the
opinion and describe the scope limitation in the report on the prospective
financial information.

4

See footnote 2.
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Introduction
Scope of this ISAE

L.

This International Standard on Assurance Engagements (ISAE) deals with
assurance engagements undertaken by a professional accountant in public
practice' to provide a report for use by user entities and their auditors on the
controls at a service organization that provides a service to user entities that is
likely to be relevant to user entities’ internal control as it relates to financial
reporting. It complements ISA 402, in that reports prepared in accordance with
this ISAE are capable of providing appropriate evidence under ISA 402. (Ref:
Para. Al)

The International Framework for Assurance Engagements (the Assurance
Framework) states that an assurance engagement may be a “reasonable
assurance” engagement or a “limited assurance” engagement; that an assurance
engagement may be either an “assertion-based” engagement or a “direct
reporting” engagement; and, that the assurance conclusion for an assertion-
based engagement can be worded either in terms of the responsible party’s
assertion or directly in terms of the subject matter and the criteria.’ This ISAE
only deals with assertion-based engagements that convey reasonable assurance,
with the assurance conclusion worded directly in terms of the subject matter and
the criteria.*

This ISAE applies only when the service organization is responsible for, or
otherwise able to make an assertion about, the suitable design of controls.
This ISAE does not deal with assurance engagements:

(@  To report only on whether controls at a service organization operated as
described, or

(b)  To report on controls at a service organization other than those related to
a service that is likely to be relevant to user entities’ internal control as it
relates to financial reporting (for example, controls that affect user
entities’ production or quality control).

The Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code), issued by the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants, defines a professional accountant as “an individual who is a
member of an IFAC member body,” and a professional accountant in public practice as “a
professional accountant, irrespective of functional classification (for example, audit, tax or
consulting) in a firm that provides professional services. This term is also used to refer to a firm of

professional accountants in public practice.”

ISA 402, Audit Considerations Relating to an Entity Using a Service Organization
Assurance Framework, paragraphs 10, 11 and 57

Paragraphs 13 and 52(k) of this ISAE
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This ISAE, however, provides some guidance for such engagements carried
out under ISAE 3000.” (Ref: Para. A2)

In addition to issuing an assurance report on controls, a service auditor may
also be engaged to provide reports such as the following, which are not dealt
with in this ISAE:

(@ A report on a user entity’s transactions or balances maintained by a
service organization; or

(b)  An agreed-upon procedures report on controls at a service organization.

Relationship with Other Professional Pronouncements

5.

The performance of assurance engagements other than audits or reviews of
historical financial information requires the service auditor to comply with
ISAE 3000. ISAE 3000 includes requirements in relation to such topics as
engagement acceptance, planning, evidence, and documentation that apply
to all assurance engagements, including engagements in accordance with
this ISAE. This ISAE expands on how ISAE 3000 is to be applied in a
reasonable assurance engagement to report on controls at a service
organization. The Assurance Framework, which defines and describes the
elements and objectives of an assurance engagement, provides the context
for understanding this ISAE and ISAE 3000.

Compliance with ISAE 3000 requires, among other things, that the service
auditor comply with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code), and implement
quality control procedures that are applicable to the individual engagement.6

Effective Date

7.

This ISAE is effective for service auditors’ assurance reports covering
periods ending on or after June 15, 2011.

Objectives

8.

The objectives of the service auditor are:

(a)  To obtain reasonable assurance about whether, in all material respects,
based on suitable criteria:

1) The service organization’s description of its system fairly
presents the system as designed and implemented throughout

ISAE 3000, Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information

ISAE 3000, paragraphs 4 and 6
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(b)

Definitions

the specified period (or in the case of a type 1 report, as at a
specified date);

(i)  The controls related to the control objectives stated in the
service organization’s description of its system were suitably
designed throughout the specified period (or in the case of a
type 1 report, as at a specified date);

(iii)  Where included in the scope of the engagement, the controls
operated effectively to provide reasonable assurance that the
control objectives stated in the service organization’s description
of its system were achieved throughout the specified period.

To report on the matters in (a) above in accordance with the service
auditor’s findings.

9. For purposes of this ISAE, the following terms have the meanings attributed

below:

(@)

(b)

(©

(d)

Carve-out method — Method of dealing with the services provided by a
subservice organization, whereby the service organization’s description
of its system includes the nature of the services provided by a
subservice organization, but that subservice organization’s relevant
control objectives and related controls are excluded from the service
organization’s description of its system and from the scope of the
service auditor’s engagement. The service organization’s description of
its system and the scope of the service auditor’s engagement include
controls at the service organization to monitor the effectiveness of
controls at the subservice organization, which may include the service
organization’s review of an assurance report on controls at the
subservice organization.

Complementary user entity controls — Controls that the service
organization assumes, in the design of its service, will be implemented
by user entities, and which, if necessary to achieve control objectives
stated in the service organization’s description of its system, are
identified in that description.

Control objective — The aim or purpose of a particular aspect of controls.
Control objectives relate to risks that controls seek to mitigate.

Controls at the service organization — Controls over the achievement of a
control objective that is covered by the service auditor’s assurance
report. (Ref: Para. A3)
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(©

®

(@

(h)

)

(k)

Controls at a subservice organization — Controls at a subservice
organization to provide reasonable assurance about the achievement
of a control objective.

Criteria — Benchmarks used to evaluate or measure a subject matter
including, where relevant, benchmarks for presentation and disclosure.

Inclusive method — Method of dealing with the services provided by a
subservice organization, whereby the service organization’s description
of its system includes the nature of the services provided by a
subservice organization, and that subservice organization’s relevant
control objectives and related controls are included in the service
organization’s description of its system and in the scope of the service
auditor’s engagement. (Ref: Para. A4)

Internal audit function — An appraisal activity established or provided
as a service to the service organization. Its functions include,
amongst other things, examining, evaluating and monitoring the
adequacy and effectiveness of internal control.

Internal auditors — Those individuals who perform the activities of
the internal audit function. Internal auditors may belong to an
internal audit department or equivalent function.

Report on the description and design of controls at a service organization
(referred to in this ISAE as a “type 1 report”) — A report that comprises:

(1) The service organization’s description of its system;

(i) A written assertion by the service organization that, in all material
respects, and based on suitable criteria:

a. The description fairly presents the service organization’s
system as designed and implemented as at the specified
date;

b. The controls related to the control objectives stated in

the service organization’s description of its system were
suitably designed as at the specified date; and

(ili) A service auditor’s assurance report that conveys reasonable
assurance about the matters in (ii)a.—b. above.

Report on the description, design and operating effectiveness of
controls at a service organization (referred to in this ISAE as a “type 2
report”) — A report that comprises:

(1) The service organization’s description of its system;
(i) A written assertion by the service organization that, in all material

respects, and based on suitable criteria:
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M

(m)

(n)

(0)

(p)

(@

a. The description fairly presents the service organization’s
system as designed and implemented throughout the
specified period;

b. The controls related to the control objectives stated in the

service organization’s description of its system were
suitably designed throughout the specified period; and

C. The controls related to the control objectives stated in the
service organization’s description of its system operated
effectively throughout the specified period; and

(iii) A service auditor’s assurance report that:

a. Conveys reasonable assurance about the matters in
(ii)a.—c. above; and

b. Includes a description of the tests of controls and the
results thereof.

Service auditor — A professional accountant in public practice who, at
the request of the service organization, provides an assurance report
on controls at a service organization.

Service organization — A third-party organization (or segment of a
third-party organization) that provides services to user entities that
are likely to be relevant to user entities’ internal control as it relates
to financial reporting.

Service organization’s system (or the system) — The policies and
procedures designed and implemented by the service organization to
provide user entities with the services covered by the service auditor’s
assurance report. The service organization’s description of its system
includes identification of: the services covered; the period, or in the
case of a type 1 report, the date, to which the description relates;
control objectives; and related controls.

Service organization’s assertion — The written assertion about the
matters referred to in paragraph 9(k)(ii) (or paragraph 9(j)(ii) in the
case of a type 1 report).

Subservice organization — A service organization used by another
service organization to perform some of the services provided to user
entities that are likely to be relevant to user entities’ internal control
as it relates to financial reporting.

Test of controls — A procedure designed to evaluate the operating
effectiveness of controls in achieving the control objectives stated in
the service organization’s description of its system.
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(9] User auditor — An auditor who audits and reports on the financial
statements of a user entity.7

(s)  User entity — An entity that uses a service organization.

Requirements
ISAE 3000

10.  The service auditor shall not represent compliance with this ISAE unless the
service auditor has complied with the requirements of this ISAE and ISAE
3000.

Ethical Requirements

11.  The service auditor shall comply with relevant ethical requirements, including
those pertaining to independence, relating to assurance engagements. (Ref: Para.
AS)

Management and Those Charged with Governance

12.  Where this ISAE requires the service auditor to inquire of, request
representations from, communicate with, or otherwise interact with the service
organization, the service auditor shall determine the appropriate person(s) within
the service organization’s management or governance structure with whom to
interact. This shall include consideration of which person(s) have the
appropriate responsibilities for and knowledge of the matters concerned. (Ref:
Para. A6)

Acceptance and Continuance

13.  Before agreeing to accept, or continue, an engagement the service auditor
shall:

(a)  Determine whether:

(1) The service auditor has the capabilities and competence to
perform the engagement; (Ref: Para. A7)

(i)  The criteria to be applied by the service organization to prepare
the description of its system will be suitable and available to user
entities and their auditors; and

(iii) The scope of the engagement and the service organization’s
description of its system will not be so limited that they are
unlikely to be useful to user entities and their auditors.

In the case of a subservice organization, the service auditor of a service organization that uses the
services of the subservice organization is also a user auditor.
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(b)  Obtain the agreement of the service organization that it acknowledges
and understands its responsibility:

(1) For the preparation of the description of its system, and
accompanying service organization’s assertion, including the
completeness, accuracy and method of presentation of that
description and assertion; (Ref: Para. AS)

(i)  To have a reasonable basis for the service organization’s assertion
accompanying the description of its system; (Ref: Para. A9)

(i)  For stating in the service organization’s assertion the criteria it
used to prepare the description of its system;

(iti)  For stating in the description of its system:
a. The control objectives; and

b. Where they are specified by law or regulation, or another
party (for example, a user group or a professional body),
the party who specified them;

(iv)  For identifying the risks that threaten achievement of the control
objectives stated in the description of its system, and designing
and implementing controls to provide reasonable assurance that
those risks will not prevent achievement of the control objectives
stated in the description of its system, and therefore that the stated
control objectives will be achieved; and (Ref: Para. A10)

(v)  To provide the service auditor with:

a. Access to all information, such as records, documentation
and other matters, including service level agreements, of
which the service organization is aware that is relevant to
the description of the service organization’s system and the
accompanying service organization’s assertion;

b. Additional information that the service auditor may request
from the service organization for the purpose of the
assurance engagement; and

c. Unrestricted access to persons within the service
organization from whom the service auditor determines it
necessary to obtain evidence.

Acceptance of a Change in the Terms of the Engagement

14.

If the service organization requests a change in the scope of the engagement
before the completion of the engagement, the service auditor shall be
satisfied that there is a reasonable justification for the change. (Ref: Para.
Al11-A12)
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Assessing the Suitability of the Criteria

15.  As required by ISAE 3000, the service auditor shall assess whether the service
organization has used suitable criteria in preparing the description of its system,
in evaluating whether controls are suitably designed, and, in the case of a type 2
report, in evaluating whether controls are operating effectively.®

16.  In assessing the suitability of the criteria to evaluate the service organization’s
description of its system, the service auditor shall determine if the criteria
encompass, at a minimum:

(a)

Whether the description presents how the service organization’s system
was designed and implemented, including, as appropriate:

(M

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

V)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The types of services provided, including, as appropriate, classes
of transactions processed;

The procedures, within both information technology and manual
systems, by which services are provided, including, as
appropriate, procedures by which transactions are initiated,
recorded, processed, corrected as necessary, and transferred to the
reports and other information prepared for user entities;

The related records and supporting information, including, as
appropriate, accounting records, supporting information and
specific accounts that are used to initiate, record, process and
report transactions; this includes the correction of incorrect
information and how information is transferred to the reports and
other information prepared for user entities;

How the service organization’s system deals with significant
events and conditions, other than transactions;

The process used to prepare reports and other information for
user entities;

The specified control objectives and controls designed to achieve
those objectives;

Complementary user entity controls contemplated in the design
of the controls; and

Other aspects of the service organization’s control environment,
risk assessment process, information system (including the
related business processes) and communication, control activities
and monitoring controls that are relevant to the services provided.

ISAE 3000, paragraph 19
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(b)  In the case of a type 2 report, whether the description includes relevant
details of changes to the service organization’s system during the period
covered by the description.

(c)  Whether the description omits or distorts information relevant to the
scope of the service organization’s system being described, while
acknowledging that the description is prepared to meet the common
needs of a broad range of user entities and their auditors and may not,
therefore, include every aspect of the service organization’s system that
each individual user entity and its auditor may consider important in its
particular environment.

In assessing the suitability of the criteria to evaluate the design of controls, the
service auditor shall determine if the criteria encompass, at a minimum,
whether:

(@ The service organization has identified the risks that threaten
achievement of the control objectives stated in the description of its
system; and

(b)  The controls identified in that description would, if operated as
described, provide reasonable assurance that those risks do not prevent
the stated control objectives from being achieved.

In assessing the suitability of the criteria to evaluate the operating effectiveness
of controls in providing reasonable assurance that the stated control objectives
identified in the description will be achieved, the service auditor shall determine
if the criteria encompass, at a minimum, whether the controls were consistently
applied as designed throughout the specified period. This includes whether
manual controls were applied by individuals who have the appropriate
competence and authority. (Ref: Para. A13—A15)

Materiality

19.

When planning and performing the engagement, the service auditor shall
consider materiality with respect to the fair presentation of the description,
the suitability of the design of controls and, in the case of a type 2 report, the
operating effectiveness of controls. (Ref: Para. A16—A18)

Obtaining an Understanding of the Service Organization’s System

20.

The service auditor shall obtain an understanding of the service organization’s
system, including controls that are included in the scope of the engagement.
(Ref: Para. A19—A20)

Obtaining Evidence Regarding the Description

21.

The service auditor shall obtain and read the service organization’s description
of its system, and shall evaluate whether those aspects of the description
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included in the scope of the engagement are fairly presented, including whether:
(Ref: Para. A21—A22)

(a)  Control objectives stated in the service organization’s description of its
system are reasonable in the circumstances; (Ref: Para. A23)

(b)  Controls identified in that description were implemented;

(c)  Complementary user entity controls, if any, are adequately described;
and

(d)  Services performed by a subservice organization, if any, are adequately
described, including whether the inclusive method or the carve-out
method has been used in relation to them.

The service auditor shall determine, through other procedures in combination
with inquiries, whether the service organization’s system has been implemented.
Those other procedures shall include observation, and inspection of records and
other documentation, of the manner in which the service organization’s system
operates and controls are applied. (Ref: Para. A24)

Obtaining Evidence Regarding Design of Controls

23.

The service auditor shall determine which of the controls at the service
organization are necessary to achieve the control objectives stated in the service
organization’s description of its system, and shall assess whether those controls
were suitably designed. This determination shall include: (Ref: Para. A25—A27)

(a)  Identifying the risks that threaten the achievement of the control
objectives stated in the service organization’s description of its system;
and

(b)  Evaluating the linkage of controls identified in the service organization’s
description of its system with those risks.

Obtaining Evidence Regarding Operating Effectiveness of Controls

24.

25.

When providing a type 2 report, the service auditor shall test those controls that
the service auditor has determined are necessary to achieve the control
objectives stated in the service organization’s description of its system, and
assess their operating effectiveness throughout the period. Evidence obtained in
prior engagements about the satisfactory operation of controls in prior periods
does not provide a basis for a reduction in testing, even if it is supplemented
with evidence obtained during the current period. (Ref: Para. A28—A32)

When designing and performing tests of controls, the service auditor shall:

(a)  Perform other procedures in combination with inquiry to obtain evidence
about:

(1) How the control was applied;
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(i)  The consistency with which the control was applied; and
(i) By whom or by what means the control was applied;

(b)  Determine whether controls to be tested depend upon other controls
(indirect controls) and, if so, whether it is necessary to obtain evidence
supporting the operating effectiveness of those indirect controls; and
(Ref: Para. A33—A34)

(¢)  Determine means of selecting items for testing that are effective in
meeting the objectives of the procedure. (Ref: Para. A35—A36)

When determining the extent of tests of controls, the service auditor shall
consider matters including the characteristics of the population to be tested,
which includes the nature of controls, the frequency of their application (for
example, monthly, daily, a number of times per day), and the expected rate of
deviation.

Sampling

27.

When the service auditor uses sampling, the service auditor shall: (Ref: Para.
A35—A36)

(a)  Consider the purpose of the procedure and the characteristics of the
population from which the sample will be drawn when designing the
sample;

(b)  Determine a sample size sufficient to reduce sampling risk to an
appropriately low level;

(c)  Select items for the sample in such a way that each sampling unit in
the population has a chance of selection;

(d)  If a designed procedure is not applicable to a selected item, perform
the procedure on a replacement item; and

(e)  If unable to apply the designed procedures, or suitable alternative
procedures, to a selected item, treat that item as a deviation.

Nature and Cause of Deviations

28.

The service auditor shall investigate the nature and cause of any deviations
identified and shall determine whether:

(@)  Identified deviations are within the expected rate of deviation and are
acceptable; therefore, the testing that has been performed provides an
appropriate basis for concluding that the control is operating effectively
throughout the specified period,;

(b)  Additional testing of the control or of other controls is necessary to reach
a conclusion on whether the controls relative to a particular control
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objective are operating effectively throughout the specified period; or
(Ref: Para. A25)

(c)  The testing that has been performed provides an appropriate basis for
concluding that the control did not operate effectively throughout the
specified period.

In the extremely rare circumstances when the service auditor considers a
deviation discovered in a sample to be an anomaly and no other controls have
been identified that allow the service auditor to conclude that the relevant
control objective is operating effectively throughout the specified period, the
service auditor shall obtain a high degree of certainty that such deviation is not
representative of the population. The service auditor shall obtain this degree of
certainty by performing additional procedures to obtain sufficient appropriate
evidence that the deviation does not affect the remainder of the population.

The Work of an Internal Audit Function’

Obtaining an Understanding of the Internal Audit Function

30.

If the service organization has an internal audit function, the service auditor
shall obtain an understanding of the nature of the responsibilities of the
internal audit function and of the activities performed in order to determine
whether the internal audit function is likely to be relevant to the engagement.
(Ref: Para. A37)

Determining Whether and to What Extent to Use the Work of the Internal Auditors

31.

32.

The service auditor shall determine:

(@)  Whether the work of the internal auditors is likely to be adequate for
purposes of the engagement; and

(b)  If so, the planned effect of the work of the internal auditors on the
nature, timing or extent of the service auditor’s procedures.

In determining whether the work of the internal auditors is likely to be
adequate for purposes of the engagement, the service auditor shall evaluate:

(a)  The objectivity of the internal audit function;
(b)  The technical competence of the internal auditors;

(c)  Whether the work of the internal auditors is likely to be carried out
with due professional care; and

This ISAE does not deal with instances when individual internal auditors provide direct assistance to
the service auditor in carrying out audit procedures.
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(d)  Whether there is likely to be effective communication between the
internal auditors and the service auditor.

In determining the planned effect of the work of the internal auditors on the
nature, timing or extent of the service auditor’s procedures, the service auditor
shall consider: (Ref: Para. A38)

(a)  The nature and scope of specific work performed, or to be performed,
by the internal auditors;

(b)  The significance of that work to the service auditor’s conclusions; and

(¢)  The degree of subjectivity involved in the evaluation of the evidence
gathered in support of those conclusions.

Using the Work of the Internal Audit Function

34.

35.

In order for the service auditor to use specific work of the internal auditors, the
service auditor shall evaluate and perform procedures on that work to determine
its adequacy for the service auditor’s purposes. (Ref: Para. A39)

To determine the adequacy of specific work performed by the internal auditors
for the service auditor’s purposes, the service auditor shall evaluate whether:

(a)  The work was performed by internal auditors having adequate technical
training and proficiency;

(b)  The work was properly supervised, reviewed and documented,

(c)  Adequate evidence has been obtained to enable the internal auditors to
draw reasonable conclusions;

(d)  Conclusions reached are appropriate in the circumstances and any reports
prepared by the internal auditors are consistent with the results of the
work performed; and

(e)  Exceptions relevant to the engagement or unusual matters disclosed by
the internal auditors are properly resolved.

Effect on the Service Auditor s Assurance Report

36.

37.

If the work of the internal audit function has been used, the service auditor
shall make no reference to that work in the section of the service auditor’s
assurance report that contains the service auditor’s opinion. (Ref: Para. A40)

In the case of a type 2 report, if the work of the internal audit function has been
used in performing tests of controls, that part of the service auditor’s assurance
report that describes the service auditor’s tests of controls and the results thereof
shall include a description of the internal auditor’s work and of the service
auditor’s procedures with respect to that work. (Ref: Para. A41)
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Written Representations

38.  The service auditor shall request the service organization to provide written
representations: (Ref: Para. A42)

(@)  That reaffirm the assertion accompanying the description of the system;

(b)  That it has provided the service auditor with all relevant information and
access agreed to;'’ and

(c)  That it has disclosed to the service auditor any of the following of which
it is aware:

(i)  Non-compliance with laws and regulations, fraud, or uncorrected
deviations attributable to the service organization that may affect
one or more user entities;

(i)  Design deficiencies in controls;
(iii)  Instances where controls have not operated as described; and

(iv)  Any events subsequent to the period covered by the service
organization’s description of its system up to the date of the
service auditor’s assurance report that could have a significant
effect on the service auditor’s assurance report.

39.  The written representations shall be in the form of a representation letter
addressed to the service auditor. The date of the written representations shall be
as near as practicable to, but not after, the date of the service auditor’s assurance
report.

40.  If, having discussed the matter with the service auditor, the service organization
does not provide one or more of the written representations requested in
accordance with paragraph 38(a) and (b) of this ISAE, the service auditor shall
disclaim an opinion. (Ref: Para. A43)

Other Information

41.  The service auditor shall read the other information, if any, included in a
document containing the service organization’s description of its system and the
service auditor’s assurance report, to identify material inconsistencies, if any,
with that description. While reading the other information for the purpose of
identifying material inconsistencies, the service auditor may become aware of
an apparent misstatement of fact in that other information.

42. If the service auditor becomes aware of a material inconsistency or an
apparent misstatement of fact in the other information, the service auditor

Paragraph 13(b)(v) of this ISAE
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shall discuss the matter with the service organization. If the service auditor
concludes that there is a material inconsistency or a misstatement of fact in
the other information that the service organization refuses to correct, the
service auditor shall take further appropriate action. (Ref: Para. A44—A45)

Subsequent Events

43.

44,

The service auditor shall inquire whether the service organization is aware
of any events subsequent to the period covered by the service organization’s
description of its system up to the date of the service auditor’s assurance
report that could have a significant effect on the service auditor’s assurance
report. If the service auditor is aware of such an event, and information
about that event is not disclosed by the service organization, the service
auditor shall disclose it in the service auditor’s assurance report.

The service auditor has no obligation to perform any procedures regarding
the description of the service organization’s system, or the suitability of design
or operating effectiveness of controls, after the date of the service auditor’s
assurance report.

Documentation

45.

46.

47.

The service auditor shall prepare documentation that is sufficient to enable an
experienced service auditor, having no previous connection with the
engagement, to understand:

(@)  The nature, timing, and extent of the procedures performed to comply
with this ISAE and applicable legal and regulatory requirements;

(b)  The results of the procedures performed, and the evidence obtained; and

(c)  Significant matters arising during the engagement, and the conclusions
reached thereon and significant professional judgments made in reaching
those conclusions.

In documenting the nature, timing and extent of procedures performed, the
service auditor shall record:

(@  The identifying characteristics of the specific items or matters being
tested;

(b)  Who performed the work and the date such work was completed; and

(c)  Who reviewed the work performed and the date and extent of such
review.

If the service auditor uses specific work of the internal auditors, the service
auditor shall document the conclusions reached regarding the evaluation of the
adequacy of the work of the internal auditors, and the procedures performed by
the service auditor on that work.
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The service auditor shall document discussions of significant matters with the
service organization and others including the nature of the significant matters
discussed and when and with whom the discussions took place.

If the service auditor has identified information that is inconsistent with the
service auditor’s final conclusion regarding a significant matter, the service
auditor shall document how the service auditor addressed the inconsistency.

The service auditor shall assemble the documentation in an engagement file and
complete the administrative process of assembling the final engagement file on
a timely basis after the date of the service auditor’s assurance report.''

After the assembly of the final engagement file has been completed, the service
auditor shall not delete or discard documentation before the end of its retention
period. (Ref: Para. A46)

If the service auditor finds it necessary to modify existing engagement
documentation or add new documentation after the assembly of the final
engagement file has been completed and that documentation does not affect the
service auditor’s report, the service auditor shall, regardless of the nature of the
modifications or additions, document:

(@)  The specific reasons for making them; and

(b)  When and by whom they were made and reviewed.

Preparing the Service Auditor’s Assurance Report

Content of the Service Auditor s Assurance Report

53.

The service auditor’s assurance report shall include the following basic
elements: (Ref: Para. A47)

(a)  Atitle that clearly indicates the report is an independent service auditor’s
assurance report.

(b)  Anaddressee.
(¢)  Identification of:

1) The service organization’s description of its system, and the
service organization’s assertion, which includes the matters
described in paragraph 9(k)(ii) for a type 2 report, or paragraph
9(j)(ii) for a type 1 report.

ISAE

International Standard on Quality Control (ISQC) 1, Quality Control for Firms that Perform Audits
and Reviews of Financial Statements, and Other Assurance and Related Services Engagements,
paragraphs A54—A55, provide further guidance.
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(i)  Those parts of the service organization’s description of its system,
if any, that are not covered by the service auditor’s opinion.

(iii)  If the description refers to the need for complementary user entity
controls, a statement that the service auditor has not evaluated the
suitability of design or operating effectiveness of complementary
user entity controls, and that the control objectives stated in the
service organization’s description of its system can be achieved
only if complementary user entity controls are suitably designed
or operating effectively, along with the controls at the service
organization.

(iv)  If services are performed by a subservice organization, the nature
of activities performed by the subservice organization as
described in the service organization’s description of its system
and whether the inclusive method or the carve-out method has
been used in relation to them. Where the carve-out method has
been used, a statement that the service organization’s description
of its system excludes the control objectives and related controls
at relevant subservice organizations, and that the service auditor’s
procedures do not extend to controls at the subservice
organization. Where the inclusive method has been used, a
statement that the service organization’s description of its system
includes control objectives and related controls at the subservice
organization, and that the service auditor’s procedures extended to
controls at the subservice organization.

(d)  Identification of the criteria, and the party specifying the control
objectives.

(e) A statement that the report and, in the case of a type 2 report, the
description of tests of controls are intended only for user entities and
their auditors, who have a sufficient understanding to consider it, along
with other information including information about controls operated by
user entities themselves, when assessing the risks of material
misstatements of user entities’ financial statements. (Ref: Para. A48)

(f) A statement that the service organization is responsible for:

(1) Preparing the description of its system, and the accompanying
assertion, including the completeness, accuracy and method of
presentation of that description and that assertion;

(i)  Providing the services covered by the service organization’s
description of its system;

135 ISAE 3402

ASSURANCE



ISAE 3402

ASSURANCE REPORTS ON CONTROLS AT A SERVICE ORGANIZATION

)]

(h)

(M

©)

(k)

(iti)  Stating the control objectives (where not identified by law or
regulation, or another party, for example, a user group or a
professional body); and

(iv)  Designing and implementing controls to achieve the control
objectives stated in the service organization’s description of its
system.

A statement that the service auditor’s responsibility is to express an
opinion on the service organization’s description, on the design of
controls related to the control objectives stated in that description and, in
the case of a type 2 report, on the operating effectiveness of those
controls, based on the service auditor’s procedures.

A statement that the engagement was performed in accordance with
ISAE 3402, Assurance Reports on Controls at a Service Organization,
which requires that the service auditor comply with ethical requirements
and plan and perform procedures to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether, in all material respects, the service organization’s description of
its system is fairly presented and the controls are suitably designed and,
in the case of a type 2 report, are operating effectively.

A summary of the service auditor’s procedures to obtain reasonable
assurance and a statement of the service auditor’s belief that the evidence
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for the service
auditor’s opinion, and, in the case of a type 1 report, a statement that the
service auditor has not performed any procedures regarding the
operating effectiveness of controls and therefore no opinion is expressed
thereon.

A statement of the limitations of controls and, in the case of a type 2
report, of the risk of projecting to future periods any evaluation of the
operating effectiveness of controls.

The service auditor’s opinion, expressed in the positive form, on
whether, in all material respects, based on suitable criteria:

(1) In the case of a type 2 report:

a. The description fairly presents the service organization’s
system that had been designed and implemented
throughout the specified period,;

b. The controls related to the control objectives stated in the
service organization’s description of its system were
suitably designed throughout the specified period; and

c. The controls tested, which were those necessary to provide
reasonable assurance that the control objectives stated in
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the description were achieved, operated -effectively
throughout the specified period.

(i1)  Inthe case of a type 1 report:

a. The description fairly presents the service organization’s
system that had been designed and implemented as at the
specified date; and

b. The controls related to the control objectives stated in the
service organization’s description of its system were suitably
designed as at the specified date.

D The date of the service auditor’s assurance report, which shall be no
earlier than the date on which the service auditor has obtained sufficient
appropriate evidence on which to base the opinion.

(m) The name of the service auditor, and the location in the jurisdiction
where the service auditor practices.

54.  Inthe case of a type 2 report, the service auditor’s assurance report shall include
a separate section after the opinion, or an attachment, that describes the tests of
controls that were performed and the results of those tests. In describing the
tests of controls, the service auditor shall clearly state which controls were
tested, identify whether the items tested represent all or a selection of the items
in the population, and indicate the nature of the tests in sufficient detail to
enable user auditors to determine the effect of such tests on their risk
assessments. If deviations have been identified, the service auditor shall include
the extent of testing performed that led to identification of the deviations
(including the sample size where sampling has been used), and the number and
nature of the deviations noted. The service auditor shall report deviations even
if, on the basis of tests performed, the service auditor has concluded that the
related control objective was achieved. (Ref: Para. A18 and A49)

Modified Opinions
55.  Ifthe service auditor concludes that: (Ref: Para. AS0—AS52)

(a)  The service organization’s description does not fairly present, in all
material respects, the system as designed and implemented,

(b)  The controls related to the control objectives stated in the description
were not suitably designed, in all material respects;

(¢) In the case of a type 2 report, the controls tested, which were those
necessary to provide reasonable assurance that the control objectives
stated in the service organization’s description of its system were
achieved, did not operate effectively, in all material respects; or
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(d)  The service auditor is unable to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence,

the service auditor’s opinion shall be modified, and the service auditor’s
assurance report shall contain a clear description of all the reasons for the
modification.

Other Communication Responsibilities

56.

If the service auditor becomes aware of non-compliance with laws and
regulations, fraud, or uncorrected errors attributable to the service
organization that are not clearly trivial and may affect one or more user
entities, the service auditor shall determine whether the matter has been
communicated appropriately to affected user entities. If the matter has not
been so communicated and the service organization is unwilling to do so,
the service auditor shall take appropriate action. (Ref: Para. A53)

%*skk

Application and Other Explanatory Material
Scope of this ISAE (Ref: Para. 1, 3)

Al.

A2.

Internal control is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the achievement of objectives related to the reliability of financial
reporting, effectiveness and efficiency of operations and compliance with
applicable laws and regulations. Controls related to a service organization’s
operations and compliance objectives may be relevant to a user entity’s
internal control as it relates to financial reporting. Such controls may pertain
to assertions about presentation and disclosure relating to account balances,
classes of transactions or disclosures, or may pertain to evidence that the
user auditor evaluates or uses in applying auditing procedures. For example,
a payroll processing service organization’s controls related to the timely
remittance of payroll deductions to government authorities may be relevant
to a user entity as late remittances could incur interest and penalties that
would result in a liability for the user entity. Similarly, a service
organization’s controls over the acceptability of investment transactions
from a regulatory perspective may be considered relevant to a user entity’s
presentation and disclosure of transactions and account balances in its
financial statements. The determination of whether controls at a service
organization related to operations and compliance are likely to be relevant to
user entities’ internal control as it relates to financial reporting is a matter of
professional judgment, having regard to the control objectives set by the
service organization and the suitability of the criteria.

The service organization may not be able to assert that the system is suitably
designed when, for example, the service organization is operating a system
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that has been designed by a user entity or is stipulated in a contract between
a user entity and the service organization. Because of the inextricable link
between the suitable design of controls and their operating effectiveness, the
absence of an assertion with respect to the suitability of design will likely
preclude the service auditor from concluding that the controls provide
reasonable assurance that the control objectives have been met and thus
from opining on the operating effectiveness of controls. As an alternative,
the practitioner may choose to accept an agreed-upon procedures
engagement to perform tests of controls, or an assurance engagement under
ISAE 3000 to conclude on whether, based on tests of controls, the controls
have operated as described.

Definitions (Ref: Para. 9(d), 9(g))

A3.

A4.

The definition of “controls at the service organization” includes aspects of user
entities’ information systems maintained by the service organization, and may
also include aspects of one or more of the other components of internal control
at a service organization. For example, it may include aspects of a service
organization’s control environment, monitoring, and control activities when they
relate to the services provided. It does not, however, include controls at a service
organization that are not related to the achievement of the control objectives
stated in the service organization’s description of its system, for example,
controls related to the preparation of the service organization’s own financial
statements.

When the inclusive method is used, the requirements in this ISAE also apply to
the services provided by the subservice organization, including obtaining
agreement regarding the matters in paragraph 13(b)(i)—(v) as applied to the
subservice organization rather than the service organization. Performing
procedures at the subservice organization entails coordination and
communication between the service organization, the subservice organization,
and the service auditor. The inclusive method generally is feasible only if the
service organization and the subservice organization are related, or if the
contract between the service organization and the subservice organization
provides for its use.

Ethical Requirements (Ref: Para. 11)

AS.

The service auditor is subject to relevant independence requirements, which
ordinarily comprise Parts A and B of the IESBA Code together with national
requirements that are more restrictive. In performing an engagement in
accordance with this ISAE, the IESBA Code does not require the service auditor
to be independent from each user entity.
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Management and Those Charged with Governance (Ref: Para. 12)

Ab6.

Management and governance structures vary by jurisdiction and by entity,
reflecting influences such as different cultural and legal backgrounds, and size
and ownership characteristics. Such diversity means that it is not possible for
this ISAE to specify for all engagements the person(s) with whom the service
auditor is to interact regarding particular matters. For example, the service
organization may be a segment of a third-party organization and not a separate
legal entity. In such cases, identifying the appropriate management personnel or
those charged with governance from whom to request written representations
may require the exercise of professional judgment.

Acceptance and Continuance

Capabilities and Competence to Perform the Engagement (Ref: Para. 13(a)(i))

AT.

Relevant capabilities and competence to perform the engagement include
matters such as the following:

. Knowledge of the relevant industry;
. An understanding of information technology and systems;
. Experience in evaluating risks as they relate to the suitable design of

controls; and

. Experience in the design and execution of tests of controls and the
evaluation of the results.

Service Organization's Assertion (Ref: Para. 13(b)(i))

A8.

Refusal, by a service organization, to provide a written assertion, subsequent to
an agreement by the service auditor to accept, or continue, an engagement,
represents a scope limitation that causes the service auditor to withdraw from the
engagement. If law or regulation does not allow the service auditor to withdraw
from the engagement, the service auditor disclaims an opinion.

Reasonable Basis for Service Organizations Assertion (Ref: Para. 13(b)(ii))

A9.

In the case of a type 2 report, the service organization’s assertion includes a
statement that the controls related to the control objectives stated in the service
organization’s description of its system operated effectively throughout the
specified period. This assertion may be based on the service organization’s
monitoring activities. Monitoring of controls is a process to assess the
effectiveness of controls over time. It involves assessing the effectiveness of
controls on a timely basis, identifying and reporting deficiencies to appropriate
individuals within the service organization, and taking necessary corrective
actions. The service organization accomplishes monitoring of controls through
ongoing activities, separate evaluations, or a combination of both. The greater
the degree and effectiveness of ongoing monitoring activities, the less need for
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separate evaluations. Ongoing monitoring activities are often built into the
normal recurring activities of a service organization and include regular
management and supervisory activities. Internal auditors or personnel
performing similar functions may contribute to the monitoring of a service
organization’s activities. Monitoring activities may also include using
information communicated by external parties, such as customer complaints and
regulator comments, which may indicate problems or highlight areas in need of
improvement. The fact that the service auditor will report on the operating
effectiveness of controls is not a substitute for the service organization’s own
processes to provide a reasonable basis for its assertion.

Identification of Risks (Ref: Para. 13(b)(iv))

A10.

As noted in paragraph 9(c), control objectives relate to risks that controls seek to
mitigate. For example, the risk that a transaction is recorded at the wrong
amount or in the wrong period can be expressed as a control objective that
transactions are recorded at the correct amount and in the correct period. The
service organization is responsible for identifying the risks that threaten
achievement of the control objectives stated in the description of its system. The
service organization may have a formal or informal process for identifying
relevant risks. A formal process may include estimating the significance of
identified risks, assessing the likelihood of their occurrence, and deciding about
actions to address them. However, since control objectives relate to risks that
controls seek to mitigate, thoughtful identification of control objectives when
designing and implementing the service organization’s system may itself
comprise an informal process for identifying relevant risks.

Acceptance of a Change in the Terms of the Engagement (Ref: Para. 14)

All.

Al2.

A request to change the scope of the engagement may not have a reasonable
justification when, for example, the request is made to exclude certain control
objectives from the scope of the engagement because of the likelihood that the
service auditor’s opinion would be modified; or the service organization will not
provide the service auditor with a written assertion and the request is made to
perform the engagement under ISAE 3000.

A request to change the scope of the engagement may have a reasonable
justification when, for example, the request is made to exclude from the
engagement a subservice organization when the service organization cannot
arrange for access by the service auditor, and the method used for dealing with
the services provided by that subservice organization is changed from the
inclusive method to the carve-out method.

Assessing the Suitability of the Criteria (Ref: Para. 15—18)

Al3.

Criteria need to be available to the intended users to allow them to understand
the basis for the service organization’s assertion about the fair presentation of its
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description of the system, the suitability of the design of controls and, in the case
of a type 2 report, the operating effectiveness of the controls related to the
control objectives.

Al4.

ISAE 3000 requires the service auditor, among other things, to assess the

suitability of criteria, and the appropriateness of the subject matter.'* The subject
matter is the underlying condition of interest to intended users of an assurance
report. The following table identifies the subject matter and minimum criteria
for each of the opinions in type 2 and type 1 reports.

Subject matter

Criteria

Comment

Opinion about the
fair presentation
of the description
of the service
organization’s
system (type 1 and
type 2 reports)

The service
organization’s
system that is likely
to be relevant to user
entities’ internal
control as it relates to
financial reporting
and is covered by the
service auditor’s
assurance report.

The description is fairly
presented if it:

(2)

(b)

(©)

presents how the
service organization’s
system was designed
and implemented
including, as
appropriate, the
matters identified in
paragraph 16(a)(i)—
(viii);

in the case of a type 2
report, includes
relevant details of
changes to the service
organization’s system
during the period
covered by the
description; and

does not omit or
distort information
relevant to the scope
of the service
organization’s system
being described, while
acknowledging that
the description is
prepared to meet the
common needs of a
broad range of user
entities and may not,
therefore, include
every aspect of the
service organization’s
system that each
individual user entity
may consider

The specific wording of the criteria for this
opinion may need to be tailored to be
consistent with criteria established by, for
example, law or regulation, user groups, or a
professional body. Examples of criteria for
this opinion are provided in the illustrative
service organization’s assertion in Appendix
1. Paragraphs A21-A24 offer further
guidance on determining whether these
criteria are met. (In terms of the
requirements of ISAE 3000, the subject
matter information'? for this opinion is the
service organization’s description of its
system and the service organization’s
assertion that the description is fairly
presented.)

12

ISAE 3000, paragraphs 18-19

13

The “subject matter information” is the outcome of the evaluation or measurement of the subject

matter that results from applying the criteria to the subject matter.
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Subject matter

Criteria

Comment

important in its own
particular
environment.

Opinion about
suitability of
design, and
operating
effectiveness (type
2 reports)

The suitability of the
design and operating
effectiveness of
those controls that
are necessary to
achieve the control
objectives stated in
the service
organization’s
description of its
system.

The controls are suitably
designed and operating
effectively if:

(a) the service
organization has
identified the risks
that threaten
achievement of the
control objectives
stated in the
description of its
system,;

(b) the controls identified
in that description
would, if operated as
described, provide
reasonable assurance
that those risks do not
prevent the stated
control objectives
from being achieved;
and

(c) the controls were
consistently applied as
designed throughout
the specified period.
This includes whether
manual controls were
applied by individuals
who have the
appropriate
competence and
authority.

When the criteria
for this opinion are
met, controls will
have provided
reasonable
assurance that the
related control
objectives were
achieved
throughout the
specified period. (In
terms of the
requirements of
ISAE 3000, the
subject matter
information for this
opinion is the
service
organization’s
assertion that
controls are suitably
designed and that
they are operating
effectively.)

The control
objectives, which
are stated in the
service
organization’s
description of its
system, are part of
the criteria for these
opinions. The stated
control objectives
will differ from
engagement to
engagement. If, as
part of forming the
opinion on the
description, the
service auditor
concludes the stated
control objectives
are not fairly
presented then
those control
objectives would
not be suitable as
part of the criteria
for forming an
opinion on either
the design or
operating
effectiveness of
controls.

Opinion about
suitability of
design (type 1
reports)

The suitability of the
design of those
controls that are
necessary to achieve
the control objectives
stated in the service
organization’s
description of its
system.

The controls are suitably
designed if:

(a) the service
organization has
identified the risks
that threaten
achievement of the
control objectives
stated in the
description of its
system; and

(b) the controls identified
in that description
would, if operated as
described, provide
reasonable assurance

Meeting these
criteria does not, of
itself, provide any
assurance that the
related control
objectives were
achieved because
no assurance has
been obtained about
the operation of
controls. (In terms
of the requirements
of ISAE 3000, the
subject matter
information for this
opinion is the
service
organization’s
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Subject matter Criteria Comment
that those risks do not assertion that
prevent the stated controls are suitably
control objectives designed.)
from being achieved.

AlS.

Paragraph 16(a) identifies a number of elements that are included in the
service organization’s description of its system as appropriate. These
elements may not be appropriate if the system being described is not a
system that processes transactions, for example, if the system relates to
general controls over the hosting of an IT application but not the controls
embedded in the application itself.

Materiality (Ref: Para. 19, 54)

Al6.

Al7.

Al8.

In an engagement to report on controls at a service organization, the concept
of materiality relates to the system being reported on, not the financial
statements of user entities. The service auditor plans and performs
procedures to determine whether the service organization’s description of its
system is fairly presented in all material respects, whether controls at the
service organization are suitably designed in all material respects and, in the
case of a type 2 report, whether controls at the service organization are
operating effectively in all material respects. The concept of materiality
takes into account that the service auditor’s assurance report provides
information about the service organization’s system to meet the common
information needs of a broad range of user entities and their auditors who
have an understanding of the manner in which that system has been used.

Materiality with respect to the fair presentation of the service organization’s
description of its system, and with respect to the design of controls, includes
primarily the consideration of qualitative factors, for example: whether the
description includes the significant aspects of processing significant
transactions; whether the description omits or distorts relevant information;
and the ability of controls, as designed, to provide reasonable assurance that
control objectives would be achieved. Materiality with respect to the service
auditor’s opinion on the operating effectiveness of controls includes the
consideration of both quantitative and qualitative factors, for example, the
tolerable rate and observed rate of deviation (a quantitative matter), and the
nature and cause of any observed deviation (a qualitative matter).

The concept of materiality is not applied when disclosing, in the description
of the tests of controls, the results of those tests where deviations have been
identified. This is because, in the particular circumstances of a specific user
entity or user auditor, a deviation may have significance beyond whether or
not, in the opinion of the service auditor, it prevents a control from operating
effectively. For example, the control to which the deviation relates may be
particularly significant in preventing a certain type of error that may be
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material in the particular circumstances of a user entity’s financial
statements.

Obtaining an Understanding of the Service Organization’s System (Ref: Para. 20)

A19. Obtaining an understanding of the service organization’s system, including
controls, included in the scope of the engagement, assists the service auditor in:

Identifying the boundaries of that system, and how it interfaces with
other systems.

Assessing whether the service organization’s description fairly
presents the system that has been designed and implemented.

Determining which controls are necessary to achieve the control
objectives stated in the service organization’s description of its system.

Assessing whether controls were suitably designed.

Assessing, in the case of a type 2 report, whether controls were
operating effectively.

A20. The service auditor’s procedures to obtain this understanding may include:

Inquiring of those within the service organization who, in the service
auditor’s judgment, may have relevant information.

Observing operations and inspecting documents, reports, printed and
electronic records of transaction processing.

Inspecting a selection of agreements between the service organization
and user entities to identify their common terms.

Reperforming control procedures.

Obtaining Evidence Regarding the Description (Ref: Para. 21-22)

A21. Considering the following questions may assist the service auditor in
determining whether those aspects of the description included in the scope of the
engagement are fairly presented in all material respects:

Does the description address the major aspects of the service provided
(within the scope of the engagement) that could reasonably be expected
to be relevant to the common needs of a broad range of user auditors in
planning their audits of user entities’ financial statements?

Is the description prepared at a level of detail that could reasonably be
expected to provide a broad range of user auditors with sufficient
information to obtain an understanding of internal control in accordance
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with ISA 315?" The description need not address every aspect of the
service organization’s processing or the services provided to user entities,
and need not be so detailed as to potentially allow a reader to
compromise security or other controls at the service organization.

. Is the description prepared in a manner that does not omit or distort
information that may affect the common needs of a broad range of user
auditors’ decisions, for example, does the description contain any
significant omissions or inaccuracies in processing of which the service
auditor is aware?

. Where some of the control objectives stated in the service organization’s
description of its system have been excluded from the scope of the
engagement, does the description clearly identify the excluded

objectives?
. Have the controls identified in the description been implemented?
. Are complementary user entity controls, if any, described adequately? In

most cases, the description of control objectives is worded such that the
control objectives are capable of being achieved through effective
operation of controls implemented by the service organization alone. In
some cases, however, the control objectives stated in the service
organization’s description of its system cannot be achieved by the service
organization alone because their achievement requires particular controls
to be implemented by user entities. This may be the case where, for
example, the control objectives are specified by a regulatory authority.
When the description does include complementary user entity controls,
the description separately identifies those controls along with the specific
control objectives that cannot be achieved by the service organization
alone.

. If the inclusive method has been used, does the description separately
identify controls at the service organization and controls at the subservice
organization? If the carve-out method is used, does the description
identify the functions that are performed by the subservice organization?
When the carve-out method is used, the description need not describe the
detailed processing or controls at the subservice organization.

A22. The service auditor’s procedures to evaluate the fair presentation of the
description may include:

. Considering the nature of user entities and how the services provided by
the service organization are likely to affect them, for example, whether

14 ISA 315, Identifying and Assessing Risks of Material Misstatement through Understanding the Entity

and Its Environment
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user entities are from a particular industry and whether they are regulated
by government agencies.

. Reading standard contracts, or standard terms of contracts, (if applicable)
with user entities to gain an understanding of the service organization’s
contractual obligations.

. Observing procedures performed by service organization personnel.

. Reviewing the service organization’s policy and procedure manuals and

other systems documentation, for example, flowcharts and narratives.

Paragraph 21(a) requires the service auditor to evaluate whether the control
objectives stated in the service organization’s description of its system are
reasonable in the circumstances. Considering the following questions may assist
the service auditor in this evaluation:

. Have the stated control objectives been designated by the service
organization or by outside parties such as a regulatory authority, a user
group, or a professional body that follows a transparent due process?

. Where the stated control objectives have been specified by the service
organization, do they relate to the types of assertions commonly
embodied in the broad range of user entities’ financial statements to
which controls at the service organization could reasonably be
expected to relate? Although the service auditor ordinarily will not be
able to determine how controls at a service organization specifically
relate to the assertions embodied in individual user entities’ financial
statements, the service auditor’s understanding of the nature of the
service organization’s system, including controls, and services being
provided is used to identify the types of assertions to which those
controls are likely to relate.

. Where the stated control objectives have been specified by the service
organization, are they complete? A complete set of control objectives
can provide a broad range of user auditors with a framework to assess
the effect of controls at the service organization on the assertions
commonly embodied in user entities’ financial statements.

The service auditor’s procedures to determine whether the service organization’s
system has been implemented may be similar to, and performed in conjunction
with, procedures to obtain an understanding of that system. They may also
include tracing items through the service organization’s system and, in the case
of a type 2 report, specific inquiries about changes in controls that were
implemented during the period. Changes that are significant to user entities or
their auditors are included in the description of the service organization’s
system.
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Obtaining Evidence Regarding Design of Controls (Ref: Para. 23, 28(b))

A2S.

A26.

A27.

From the viewpoint of a user entity or a user auditor, a control is suitably
designed if, individually or in combination with other controls, it would, when
complied with satisfactorily, provide reasonable assurance that material
misstatements are prevented, or detected and corrected. A service organization
or a service auditor, however, is not aware of the circumstances at individual
user entities that would determine whether or not a misstatement resulting from
a control deviation is material to those user entities. Therefore, from the
viewpoint of a service auditor, a control is suitably designed if, individually or in
combination with other controls, it would, when complied with satisfactorily,
provide reasonable assurance that control objectives stated in the service
organization’s description of its system are achieved.

A service auditor may consider using flowcharts, questionnaires, or decision
tables to facilitate understanding the design of the controls.

Controls may consist of a number of activities directed at the achievement of a
control objective. Consequently, if the service auditor evaluates certain activities
as being ineffective in achieving a particular control objective, the existence of
other activities may allow the service auditor to conclude that controls related to
the control objective are suitably designed.

Obtaining Evidence Regarding Operating Effectiveness of Controls

Assessing Operating Effectiveness (Ref: Para. 24)

A28.

A29.

From the viewpoint of a user entity or a user auditor, a control is operating
effectively if, individually or in combination with other controls, it provides
reasonable assurance that material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error,
are prevented, or detected and corrected. A service organization or a service
auditor, however, is not aware of the circumstances at individual user entities
that would determine whether a misstatement resulting from a control deviation
had occurred and, if so, whether it is material. Therefore, from the viewpoint of
a service auditor, a control is operating effectively if, individually or in
combination with other controls, it provides reasonable assurance that control
objectives stated in the service organization’s description of its system are
achieved. Similarly, a service organization or a service auditor is not in a
position to determine whether any observed control deviation would result in a
material misstatement from the viewpoint of an individual user entity.

Obtaining an understanding of controls sufficient to opine on the suitability of
their design is not sufficient evidence regarding their operating effectiveness,
unless there is some automation that provides for the consistent operation of the
controls as they were designed and implemented. For example, obtaining
information about the implementation of a manual control at a point in time
does not provide evidence about operation of the control at other times.
However, because of the inherent consistency of IT processing, performing
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procedures to determine the design of an automated control, and whether it has
been implemented, may serve as evidence of that control’s operating
effectiveness, depending on the service auditor’s assessment and testing of other
controls, such as those over program changes.

To be useful to user auditors, a type 2 report ordinarily covers a minimum period
of six months. If the period is less than six months, the service auditor may
consider it appropriate to describe the reasons for the shorter period in the
service auditor’s assurance report. Circumstances that may result in a report
covering a period of less than six months include when (a) the service auditor is
engaged close to the date by which the report on controls is to be issued; (b) the
service organization (or a particular system or application) has been in operation
for less than six months; or (c) significant changes have been made to the
controls and it is not practicable either to wait six months before issuing a report
or to issue a report covering the system both before and after the changes.

Certain control procedures may not leave evidence of their operation that can be
tested at a later date and, accordingly, the service auditor may find it necessary
to test the operating effectiveness of such control procedures at various times
throughout the reporting period.

The service auditor provides an opinion on the operating effectiveness of
controls throughout each period, therefore, sufficient appropriate evidence about
the operation of controls during the current period is required for the service
auditor to express that opinion. Knowledge of deviations observed in prior
engagements may, however, lead the service auditor to increase the extent of
testing during the current period.

Testing of Indirect Controls (Ref: Para. 25(b))

A33.

A34.

In some circumstances, it may be necessary to obtain evidence supporting the
effective operation of indirect controls. For example, when the service auditor
decides to test the effectiveness of a review of exception reports detailing sales
in excess of authorized credit limits, the review and related follow up is the
control that is directly of relevance to the service auditor. Controls over the
accuracy of the information in the reports (for example, the general IT controls)
are described as “indirect” controls.

Because of the inherent consistency of IT processing, evidence about the
implementation of an automated application control, when considered in
combination with evidence about the operating effectiveness of the service
organization’s general controls (in particular, change controls), may also provide
substantial evidence about its operating effectiveness.
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Means of Selecting Items for Testing (Ref: Para. 25(c), 27)
A35. The means of selecting items for testing available to the service auditor are:

(a)  Selecting all items (100% examination). This may be appropriate for
testing controls that are applied infrequently, for example, quarterly, or
when evidence regarding application of the control makes 100%
examination efficient;

(b)  Selecting specific items. This may be appropriate where 100%
examination would not be efficient and sampling would not be effective,
such as testing controls that are not applied sufficiently frequently to
render a large population for sampling, for example, controls that are
applied monthly or weekly; and

(¢)  Sampling. This may be appropriate for testing controls that are applied
frequently in a uniform manner and which leave documentary evidence
of their application.

A36. While selective examination of specific items will often be an efficient means of
obtaining evidence, it does not constitute sampling. The results of procedures
applied to items selected in this way cannot be projected to the entire
population; accordingly, selective examination of specific items does not
provide evidence concerning the remainder of the population. Sampling, on the
other hand, is designed to enable conclusions to be drawn about an entire
population on the basis of testing a sample drawn from it.

The Work of an Internal Audit Function
Obtaining an Understanding of the Internal Audit Function (Ref: Para. 30)

A37. An internal audit function may be responsible for providing analyses,
evaluations, assurances, recommendations, and other information to
management and those charged with governance. An internal audit function at a
service organization may perform activities related to the service organization’s
own system of internal control, or activities related to the services and systems,
including controls, that the service organization is providing to user entities.

Determining Whether and to What Extent to Use the Work of the Internal Auditors
(Ref: Para. 33)

A38. In determining the planned effect of the work of the internal auditors on the
nature, timing or extent of the service auditor’s procedures, the following factors
may suggest the need for different or less extensive procedures than would
otherwise be the case:

. The nature and scope of specific work performed, or to be performed, by
the internal auditors is quite limited.
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° The work of the internal auditors relates to controls that are less
significant to the service auditor’s conclusions.

. The work performed, or to be performed, by the internal auditors does
not require subjective or complex judgments.

Using the Work of the Internal Audit Function (Ref: Para. 34)

A39.

The nature, timing and extent of the service auditor’s procedures on specific
work of the internal auditors will depend on the service auditor’s assessment of
the significance of that work to the service auditor’s conclusions (for example,
the significance of the risks that the controls tested seek to mitigate), the
evaluation of the internal audit function and the evaluation of the specific
work of the internal auditors Such procedures may include:

. Examination of items already examined by the internal auditors;
. Examination of other similar items; and
. Observation of procedures performed by the internal auditors.

Effect on the Service Auditor s Assurance Report (Ref: Para. 36—37)

A40.

A41.

Irrespective of the degree of autonomy and objectivity of the internal audit
function, such function is not independent of the service organization as is
required of the service auditor when performing the engagement. The
service auditor has sole responsibility for the opinion expressed in the
service auditor’s assurance report, and that responsibility is not reduced by
the service auditor’s use of the work of the internal auditors.

The service auditor’s description of work performed by the internal audit
function may be presented in a number of ways, for example:

. By including introductory material to the description of tests of
controls indicating that certain work of the internal audit function
was used in performing tests of controls.

° Attribution of individual tests to internal audit.

Written Representations (Ref: Para. 38, 40)

A42.

A43.

The written representations required by paragraph 38 are separate from, and
in addition to, the service organization’s assertion, as defined at paragraph
9(0).

If the service organization does not provide the written representations
requested in accordance with paragraph 38(c) of this ISAE, it may be
appropriate for the service auditor’s opinion to be modified in accordance
with paragraph 55(d) of this ISAE.
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Other Information (Ref: Para. 42)

A44.

A45.

The IESBA Code requires that a service auditor not be associated with
information where the service auditor believes that the information:

(a)  Contains a materially false or misleading statement;
(b)  Contains statements or information furnished recklessly; or

(c)  Omits or obscures information required to be included where such
omission or obscurity would be misleading. "’

If other information included in a document containing the service
organization’s description of its system and the service auditor’s assurance
report contains future-oriented information such as recovery or contingency
plans, or plans for modifications to the system that will address deviations
identified in the service auditor’s assurance report, or claims of a
promotional nature that cannot be reasonably substantiated, the service
auditor may request that information be removed or restated.

If the service organization refuses to remove or restate the other
information, further actions that may be appropriate include, for example:

. Requesting the service organization to consult with its legal counsel
as to the appropriate course of action.

. Describing the material inconsistency or material misstatement of
fact in the assurance report.

. Withholding the assurance report until the matter is resolved.

. Withdrawing from the engagement.

Documentation (Ref: Para. 51)

A46.

ISQC 1 (or national requirements that are at least as demanding) requires
firms to establish policies and procedures for the timely completion of the
assembly of engagement files.'® An appropriate time limit within which to
complete the assembly of the final engagement file is ordinarily not more
than 60 days after the date of the service auditor’s report.'’

IESBA Code, paragraph 110.2
ISQC 1, paragraph 45
ISQC 1, paragraph A54
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Preparing the Service Auditor’s Assurance Report

Content of the Service Auditor s Assurance Report (Ref: Para. 53)

A47.

[lustrative examples of service auditors’ assurance reports and related
service organizations’ assertions are contained in Appendices 1 and 2.

Intended Users and Purposes of the Service Auditor s Assurance Report (Ref: Para.

53(e))

A48.

The criteria used for engagements to report on controls at a service
organization are relevant only for the purposes of providing information
about the service organization’s system, including controls, to those who
have an understanding of how the system has been used for financial
reporting by user entities. Accordingly this is stated in the service auditor’s
assurance report. In addition, the service auditor may consider it appropriate
to include wording that specifically restricts distribution of the assurance
report other than to intended users, its use by others, or its use for other
purposes.

Description of the Tests of Controls (Ref: Para. 54)

A49.

In describing the nature of the tests of controls for a type 2 report, it assists
readers of the service auditor’s assurance report if the service auditor
includes:

. The results of all tests where deviations have been identified, even if
other controls have been identified that allow the service auditor to
conclude that the relevant control objective has been achieved or the
control tested has subsequently been removed from the service
organization’s description of its system.

. Information about causative factors for identified deviations, to the
extent the service auditor has identified such factors.

Modified Opinions (Ref: Para. 55)

A50.

ASI.

A52.

Illustrative examples of elements of modified service auditor’s assurance
reports are contained in Appendix 3.

Even if the service auditor has expressed an adverse opinion or disclaimed an
opinion, it may be appropriate to describe in the basis for modification
paragraph the reasons for any other matters of which the service auditor is aware
that would have required a modification to the opinion, and the effects thereof.

When expressing a disclaimer of opinion because of a scope limitation, it is
not ordinarily appropriate to identify the procedures that were performed nor
include statements describing the characteristics of a service auditor’s
engagement; to do so might overshadow the disclaimer of opinion.
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Other Communication Responsibilities (Ref: Para. 56)

AS53.

ISAE 3402

Appropriate actions to respond to the circumstances identified in paragraph
56 may include:

. Obtaining legal advice about the consequences of different courses of
action.

. Communicating with those charged with governance of the service
organization.

. Communicating with third parties (for example, a regulator) when
required to do so.

. Modifying the service auditor’s opinion, or adding an Other Matter
paragraph.

. Withdrawing from the engagement.
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Appendix 1
(Ref. Para. A47)

Example Service Organization’s Assertions

The following examples of service organization’s assertions are for guidance only
and are not intended to be exhaustive or applicable to all situations.

Example 1: Type 2 Service Organization’s Assertion

Assertion by the Service Organization

The accompanying description has been prepared for customers who have used [the
type or name of] system and their auditors who have a sufficient understanding to
consider the description, along with other information including information about
controls operated by customers themselves, when assessing the risks of material
misstatements of customers’ financial statements. [Entity s name] confirms that:

(a)  The accompanying description at pages /bb—cc] fairly presents [the type or name
of] system for processing customers’ transactions throughout the period /date] to
[date]. The criteria used in making this assertion were that the accompanying

description:

1) Presents how the system was designed and implemented, including:

The types of services provided, including, as appropriate, classes of
transactions processed.

The procedures, within both information technology and manual
systems, by which those transactions were initiated, recorded,
processed, corrected as necessary, and transferred to the reports
prepared for customers.

The related accounting records, supporting information and specific
accounts that were used to initiate, record, process and report
transactions; this includes the correction of incorrect information
and how information was transferred to the reports prepared for
customers.

How the system dealt with significant events and conditions, other
than transactions.

The process used to prepare reports for customers.

Relevant control objectives and controls designed to achieve those
objectives.

Controls that we assumed, in the design of the system, would be
implemented by user entities, and which, if necessary to achieve
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control objectives stated in the accompanying description, are
identified in the description along with the specific control
objectives that cannot be achieved by ourselves alone.

° Other aspects of our control environment, risk assessment process,
information system (including the related business processes) and
communication, control activities and monitoring controls that were
relevant to processing and reporting customers’ transactions.

Includes relevant details of changes to the service organization’s system
during the period /date] to [date].

Does not omit or distort information relevant to the scope of the system
being described, while acknowledging that the description is prepared to
meet the common needs of a broad range of customers and their auditors
and may not, therefore, include every aspect of the system that each
individual customer may consider important in its own particular
environment.

The controls related to the control objectives stated in the accompanying
description were suitably designed and operated effectively throughout the period
[date] to [date]. The criteria used in making this assertion were that:

)

(i)

(ii)

The risks that threatened achievement of the control objectives stated in the
description were identified,;

The identified controls would, if operated as described, provide reasonable
assurance that those risks did not prevent the stated control objectives from
being achieved; and

The controls were consistently applied as designed, including that manual
controls were applied by individuals who have the appropriate competence
and authority, throughout the period /date/ to [date].

Example 2: Type 1 Service Organization’s Assertion

The accompanying description has been prepared for customers who have used [the fype
or name of] system and their auditors who have a sufficient understanding to consider the
description, along with other information including information about controls operated
by customers themselves, when obtaining an understanding of customers’ information
systems relevant to financial reporting. /Entity 5§ name] confirms that:

(a)

The accompanying description at pages /bb—cc] fairly presents [the type or name
of] system for processing customers’ transactions as at /date]. The criteria used in
making this assertion were that the accompanying description:

(M)

Presents how the system was designed and implemented, including:

. The types of services provided, including, as appropriate, classes of
transactions processed.
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. The procedures, within both information technology and manual
systems, by which those transactions were initiated, recorded,
processed, corrected as necessary, and transferred to the reports
prepared for customers.

. The related accounting records, supporting information and specific
accounts that were used to initiate, record, process and report
transactions; this includes the correction of incorrect information
and how information is transferred to the reports prepared

customers.

. How the system dealt with significant events and conditions, other
than transactions.

. The process used to prepare reports for customers.

. Relevant control objectives and controls designed to achieve those
objectives.

. Controls that we assumed, in the design of the system, would be

implemented by user entities, and which, if necessary to achieve
control objectives stated in the accompanying description, are
identified in the description along with the specific control
objectives that cannot be achieved by ourselves alone.

. Other aspects of our control environment, risk assessment process,
information system (including the related business processes) and
communication, control activities and monitoring controls that were
relevant to processing and reporting customers’ transactions.

Does not omit or distort information relevant to the scope of the system
being described, while acknowledging that the description is prepared to
meet the common needs of a broad range of customers and their auditors
and may not, therefore, include every aspect of the system that each
individual customer may consider important in its own particular
environment.

The controls related to the control objectives stated in the accompanying
description were suitably designed as at /date]. The criteria used in making this
assertion were that:

(M

(i)

The risks that threatened achievement of the control objectives stated in the
description were identified; and

The identified controls would, if operated as described, provide reasonable
assurance that those risks did not prevent the stated control objectives from
being achieved.
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Appendix 2
(Ref. Para. A47)

Illustrations of Service Auditor’s Assurance Reports

The following illustrations of reports are for guidance only and are not intended to be
exhaustive or applicable to all situations.

Ilustration 1: Type 2 Service Auditor’s Assurance Report

Independent Service Auditor’s Assurance Report on
the Description of Controls, their Design and Operating Effectiveness

To: XYZ Service Organization
Scope

We have been engaged to report on XYZ Service Organization’s description at pages
[bb—cc] of its [type or name of] system for processing customers’ transactions throughout
the period /date] to [date] (the description), and on the design and operation of controls
related to the control objectives stated in the description.'

XYZ Service Organization s Responsibilities

XYZ Service Organization is responsible for: preparing the description and
accompanying assertion at page /aa/, including the completeness, accuracy and method
of presentation of the description and assertion; providing the services covered by the
description; stating the control objectives; and designing, implementing and effectively
operating controls to achieve the stated control objectives.

Service Auditor s Responsibilities

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on XYZ Service Organization’s description
and on the design and operation of controls related to the control objectives stated in that
description, based on our procedures. We conducted our engagement in accordance with
International Standard on Assurance Engagements 3402, Assurance Reports on Controls
at a Service Organization, issued by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards
Board. That standard requires that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform our procedures to obtain reasonable assurance about whether, in all material
respects, the description is fairly presented and the controls are suitably designed and
operating effectively.

An assurance engagement to report on the description, design and operating effectiveness
of controls at a service organization involves performing procedures to obtain evidence

If some elements of the description are not included in the scope of the engagement, this is made
clear in the assurance report.
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about the disclosures in the service organization’s description of its system, and the
design and operating effectiveness of controls. The procedures selected depend on the
service auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks that the description is
not fairly presented, and that controls are not suitably designed or operating effectively.
Our procedures included testing the operating effectiveness of those controls that we
consider necessary to provide reasonable assurance that the control objectives stated in
the description were achieved. An assurance engagement of this type also includes
evaluating the overall presentation of the description, the suitability of the objectives
stated therein, and the suitability of the criteria specified by the service organization and
described at page /aa].

We believe that the evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

Limitations of Controls at a Service Organization

XYZ Service Organization’s description is prepared to meet the common needs of a
broad range of customers and their auditors and may not, therefore, include every aspect
of the system that each individual customer may consider important in its own particular
environment. Also, because of their nature, controls at a service organization may not
prevent or detect all errors or omissions in processing or reporting transactions. Also, the
projection of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods is subject to the risk that
controls at a service organization may become inadequate or fail.

Opinion

Our opinion has been formed on the basis of the matters outlined in this report. The
criteria we used in forming our opinion are those described at page /aa/. In our opinion,
in all material respects:

(a)  The description fairly presents the /the type or name of] system as designed and
implemented throughout the period from /date] to [date];

(b)  The controls related to the control objectives stated in the description were
suitably designed throughout the period from /date/ to [date]; and

(c)  The controls tested, which were those necessary to provide reasonable assurance
that the control objectives stated in the description were achieved, operated
effectively throughout the period from /date] to [date].

Description of Tests of Controls

The specific controls tested and the nature, timing and results of those tests are listed on
pages [yy—zz].
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Intended Users and Purpose

This report and the description of tests of controls on pages /yy—zz/ are intended only for
customers who have used XYZ Service Organization’s [fype or name of] system, and
their auditors, who have a sufficient understanding to consider it, along with other
information including information about controls operated by customers themselves,
when assessing the risks of material misstatements of customers’ financial statements.

[Service auditor s signature]
[Date of the service auditor s assurance report]

[Service auditor s address]

Ilustration 2: Type 1 Service Auditor’s Assurance Report

Independent Service Auditor’s Assurance Report on
the Description of Controls and their Design

To: XYZ Service Organization
Scope

We have been engaged to report on XYZ Service Organization’s description at pages
[bb—cc] of its [type or name of] system for processing customers’ transactions as at
[date] (the description), and on the design of controls related to the control objectives
stated in the description.”

We did not perform any procedures regarding the operating effectiveness of controls
included in the description and, accordingly, do not express an opinion thereon.

XYZ Service Organization s Responsibilities

XYZ Service Organization is responsible for: preparing the description and
accompanying assertion at page [aa/, including the completeness, accuracy and method
of presentation of the description and the assertion; providing the services covered by the
description; stating the control objectives; and designing, implementing and effectively
operating controls to achieve the stated control objectives.

Service Auditor’s Responsibilities

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on XYZ Service Organization’s description
and on the design of controls related to the control objectives stated in that description,
based on our procedures. We conducted our engagement in accordance with International
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3402, Assurance Reports on Controls at a Service
Organization, issued by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. That

If some elements of the description are not included in the scope of the engagement, this is made
clear in the assurance report.

ISAE 3402 APPENDIX 2 160



ASSURANCE REPORTS ON CONTROLS AT A SERVICE ORGANIZATION

standard requires that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform our
procedures to obtain reasonable assurance about whether, in all material respects, the
description is fairly presented and the controls are suitably designed in all material
respects.

An assurance engagement to report on the description and design of controls at a service
organization involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about the disclosures in
the service organization’s description of its system, and the design of controls. The
procedures selected depend on the service auditor’s judgment, including the assessment
that the description is not fairly presented, and that controls are not suitably designed. An
assurance engagement of this type also includes evaluating the overall presentation of the
description, the suitability of the control objectives stated therein, and the suitability of
the criteria specified by the service organization and described at page /aa/.

As noted above, we did not perform any procedures regarding the operating
effectiveness of controls included in the description and, accordingly, do not express
an opinion thereon.

We believe that the evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Limitations of Controls at a Service Organization

XYZ Service Organization’s description is prepared to meet the common needs of a
broad range of customers and their auditors and may not, therefore, include every aspect
of the system that each individual customer may consider important in its own particular
environment. Also, because of their nature, controls at a service organization may not
prevent or detect all errors or omissions in processing or reporting transactions.

Opinion

Our opinion has been formed on the basis of the matters outlined in this report. The
criteria we used in forming our opinion are those described at page /aa/. In our
opinion, in all material respects:

(a)  The description fairly presents the [the type or name of] system as designed
and implemented as at /date]; and

(b)  The controls related to the control objectives stated in the description were
suitably designed as at /date].

Intended Users and Purpose

This report is intended only for customers who have used XYZ Service Organization’s
[type or name of] system, and their auditors, who have a sufficient understanding to
consider it, along with other information including information about controls operated
by customers themselves, when obtaining an understanding of customers’ information
systems relevant to financial reporting.
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[Service auditor s signature]

[Date of the service auditor s assurance report]

[Service auditor s address]
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Appendix 3
(Ref. Para. A50)

Illustrations of Modified Service Auditor’s Assurance Reports

The following illustrations of modified reports are for guidance only and are not
intended to be exhaustive or applicable to all situations. They are based on the
illustrations of reports in Appendix 2.

Ilustration 1: Qualified opinion — the service organization’s description of the
system is not fairly presented in all material respects

Service Auditor s Responsibilities

We believe that the evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our qualified opinion.

Basis for Qualified Opinion

The accompanying description states at page /mn/ that XYZ Service Organization uses
operator identification numbers and passwords to prevent unauthorized access to the
system. Based on our procedures, which included inquiries of staff personnel and
observation of activities, we have determined that operator identification numbers and
passwords are employed in Applications A and B but not in Applications C and D.

Qualified Opinion

Our opinion has been formed on the basis of the matters outlined in this report. The
criteria we used in forming our opinion were those described in XYZ Service
Organization’s assertion at page [aa/. In our opinion, except for the matter described in
the Basis for Qualified Opinion paragraph:

(a)

Ilustration 2: Qualified opinion — the controls are not suitably designed to
provide reasonable assurance that the control objectives stated in the service
organization’s description of its system will be achieved if the controls operate
effectively

Service Auditor s Responsibilities
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We believe that the evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our qualified opinion.

Basis for Qualified Opinion

As discussed at page /mn] of the accompanying description, from time to time XYZ
Service Organization makes changes in application programs to correct deficiencies
or to enhance capabilities. The procedures followed in determining whether to make
changes, in designing the changes and in implementing them, do not include review
and approval by authorized individuals who are independent from those involved in
making the changes. There are also no specified requirements to test such changes
or provide test results to an authorized reviewer prior to implementing the changes.

Qualified Opinion

Our opinion has been formed on the basis of the matters outlined in this report. The
criteria we used in forming our opinion were those described in XYZ Service
Organization’s assertion at page /[aa/. In our opinion, except for the matter
described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion paragraph:

(a)

Ilustration 3: Qualified opinion — the controls did not operate effectively
throughout the specified period (type 2 report only)

Service Auditor s Responsibilities

We believe that the evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our qualified opinion.

Basis for Qualified Opinion

XYZ Service Organization states in its description that it has automated controls in
pl